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COMPANY PROFILE

OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focusing on
developing potential first-in-class/best-in-class drugs for unmet clinical
needs and extending to functional cosmetics area. The development
of cosmetics business play a crucial complementary role by not only
providing the necessary funding for drugs R&D initiatives but also
offering valuable market data that informs and shapes the future sales
strategies for the Company's pharmaceutical products. We have
five innovative potential first-in-class/best-in-class drug candidates at
phase I-lll clinical stage, and we are committed to becoming a leader
in the research, development and commercialisation of innovative
therapies. Our products aim at tackling the unmet clinical needs and
our pipelines cover indications of dermatology such as AGA and acne
vulgaris, and indications of tumors.

e KX-826

KX-826 is an AR antagonist. We are currently developing KX-
826 as a potential first-in-class topical drug for the treatment of
androgenic alopecia (AGA) and acne vulgaris.

e AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

GT20029 is a topical AR-PROTAC compound developed by
the Group’s in-house PROTAC platform. We are currently
developing GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne
vulgaris.

e GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor)

GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor) is an inhibitor of the
hedgehog signal transduction pathway. We are currently
developing GTI708F primarily for the treatment of idiopathic
pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and blood cancer.

e GTO0486

GT0486 is an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signalling pathway
and a second generation mTOR inhibitor. We are currently
developing GT0486 primarily for the treatment of metastatic
solid tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and
hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

e ALK-I Antibody (GT90001)

ALK-1 antibody is a new anti-angiogenesis inhibitor and targets
a new biological target ALK-1 globally, which we obtained an
exclusive global licence from Pfizer in 2018. We are currently
developing ALK-1 antibody for the treatment of metastatic HCC
and a variety of solid tumours.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

Dear Shareholders,

Thank you for your long-term attention and support to Kintor; which
is an important motivation for us to move forward in innovative drug
R&D.

Amidst the tides of commerce, corporate transformation embodies
the metamorphosis of courageous innovators. For Kintor, 2024 marks
the inception of its strategic pivot, with the launch of the twin-track
strategy of “functional cosmetics and innovative topical drugs” and
the launch of the new high-end cosmetics brand KOSHINE, Kintor
embarks on its first commercial transformation, representing the

Company’s transition from R&D stage to commercialisation stage.

Throughout 2024, we have been continuously focusing on core
dermatology pipelines, actively exploring the two Core Products KX-
826 and GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne. Leveraging the
unique advantages of our two core compounds KX-826 and KT-939,
we have established a product matrix covering three major fields: anti-

hair loss, acne treatment and skin whitening.

In terms of innovative drugs, for KX-826, we have completed phase |l
clinical trial for long-term safety of AGA in China, and initiated phase
Ib/IIl clinical trial of KX-826 in combination with minoxidil for AGA
in China and the pivotal clinical trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0% for the
treatment of male adult AGA in China. As at the date of this report,
the pivotal clinical trial has completed all subjects enrollment in phase
Il and the first subject enrollment in phase Ill. For GT20029, we have
completed phase lla clinical trial for AGA in China and initiated phase
Il clinical trial for acne in China, which has completed all subjects

enrollment as at the date of this report.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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In terms of cosmetics, we have officially launched the sales of the
new high-end cosmetics brand KOSHINE in the second half of 2024.
As at the date of this report, we have developed and launched six
products comprising anti-hair loss solution series (standard, pro and
plant extract editions), acne cream, and whitening series (essence
and lotion). The products are currently sold on various domestic and
overseas e-commerce platforms including Tmall, Douyin, Amazon
USA and self-operated online sales platform to address the demands

of global cosmetics consumers.

Looking ahead to 2025, we will continue to advance the clinical
trials of KX-826 and GT20029, our two Core Products in the
field of dermatology, constantly explore their value in the field of
dermatology and pursue different approaches to further promote the
commercialisation of the Company’s cosmetic products worldwide,
5o as to amplify KOSHINE brand’s global influence. For KX-826, we
expect to complete the phase Ill stage clinical trial of KX-826 tincture
1.0% for the treatment of male adult AGA in China by the end of
2025. For GT20029, we expect to complete the phase Il clinical
trial in China of GT20029 for the treatment of acne in the second
half of 2025. In addition, we plan to seek cooperation opportunities
in the drug development process, including pre-clinical technology
development, clinical combination therapy, and drug licensing
cooperation, to use superior resources to realize the potential of
drugs and achieve commercialisation as soon as possible. For our
cosmetics business, we will accelerate the launch of new cosmetic
products, enrich our product portfolio, deepen our collaborations
with leading domestic and overseas e-commerce platforms,
strengthen our marketing efforts, increase the penetration rate of our

products and satisfy the diversified needs of customers.

Yours sincerely,

Dr. Youzhi Tong

Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
29 April 2025
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
M REE

The Group’s revenue increased from RMBO million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to RMB5.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, which was mainly attributable to the global sales
of new high-end cosmetics brand KOSHINE's cosmetic product.
The Group will continue to explore different approaches to further
promote the commercialisation of the Company’s cosmetic products

worldwide.

The Group's net loss decreased by RMB905.5 million or 85.4%
from RMBI,060.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMBI55.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was
mainly attributable to the decrease in the Group’s R&D costs.

The Group's R&D costs decreased by RMB860.8 million or 91.7%
from RMB938.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB78.1 million for the year ended 3| December 2024. Such
decreased costs were mainly attributable to the drastically decline in
the provision for R&D related inventories, the reduction in employee
benefit and share-based compensation expenses and the decrease
in impairment losses of intangible assets during the Reporting Period,
and the Group's increasing focus on investments in core dermatology
pipelines KX-826 and GT20029, which have much lower costs
compared to oncology pipelines. The Group internally summarises the
results and experience of previous clinical trials, and further improves
the requirements and measures before conducting subsequent clinical
trials. There was a full provision for R&D related inventories during
the year ended 31 December 2023; therefore, there is no provision
for the R&D related inventories during the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by RMB27.2 million
or 30.6% from RMB89.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to RMB6I.8 million for the year ended 3|1 December 2024.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to the reduction in employee
benefit expenses (including share-based compensation expenses), and
traveling and office expenses during the Reporting Period.

The Group's marketing costs increased by RMBI9.6 million or 280.3%
from RMB7.0 million for the year ended 3| December 2023 to
RMB26.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was
mainly attributable to the increase in the marketing and promotion
expenses for the Group's cosmetics business.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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The Group had cash and cash equivalents of RMBI47.4 million as at
31 December 2024. In addition, the Group had unutilised bank credit
quota of RMB35.6 million as at 31 December 2024. The Group is
implementing certain plans and measures to ensure continued support

for the advancement of its clinical trials and R&D.

The Board resolved not to pay any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MERE

AEBHE20M4FNANENESRELEE
M AREI14748 ETT © SN - BLE2024F12
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Year ended 31 December

BZNAIBLEE

2023
20234
RMB'000
ARETFT
Revenue from contracts with customers BFAEHW = 5,000 —
Cost of sales &R AR (9,730) (42229)
Gross loss E#E (4,730) (42,229)
Other income and expenses Hibh g A K& 21,948 20,867
Marketing costs R IO (26,558) (6,984)
Administrative expenses THHAX (61,825) (89,045)
Research and development costs Tt 8% B < (78,143) (938,907)
Other gains/(losses) — net Hihlkz,/(B18)F5E 5,946 (2925)
Net impairment losses on financial and contract & @I R &K E EREBEE K FHE
assets (1,206) —
Operating loss REEE (144,568) (1,059,223)
Finance costs B 7 B AR (9,277) (9,690)
Share of (losses)/gains of an associate and a joint D {HHi & RN A K& & %
venture (B518) W= (1,429) 52
Loss before income tax BRETB R ATE 18 (155,274) (1,068,861)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fissi(BA) BB (18) 8,04
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the AATEZFBEAEGER
year attributable to the equity holders EERZABELRE
of the Company (155,292) (1,060,820)

PRMEERRAF
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRHE

As of 31 December

BZ12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®ET T
Non-current assets ERBEE 343,396 396,675
Current assets mEEE 171,730 472557
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits RERRSEEBYARERER 147,419 456,334
Non-current liabilities FRBEIE 54,367 186,390
Current liabilities mEBBE 166,679 224,730
Total equity EREE 294,080 458,112

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
ERRE

As at the date of this Report, we have five innovative potential first-

in-class/best-in-class drug candidates at phase I-lll clinical stage and

a new raw material KT-939 in the field of skin whitening. Based on

the Company’s clear strategic layout in the field of dermatology and

relying on its strong execution, the Company has rapidly advanced
various clinical trials of two Core Products KX-826 and GT20029

in China and several progress of KT-939, among which the following

milestones and achievements have been achieved since 2024:

KX-826
AGA Indication

On | February 2024, the Company announced that the phase
Ib/lIl clinical trial of KX-826 in combination with minoxidil for
the treatment of male adults with AGA had been cleared by the
NMPA. The trial is aimed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of
KX-826 in combination with minoxidil for the treatment of male
adults with AGA in China. The Group believes that through the
development of combination therapy, the efficacy of KX-826 for
AGA will be further discovered.

On 24 May 2024, the Company announced that the clinical
trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0% for the treatment of male adult
AGA in China had received clearance by NMPA. The trial aims
to evaluate the efficacy and safety of KX-826 tincture 1.0%
for the topical treatment of male adults with AGA in China.
Preclinical studies have shown that the KX-826 tincture 1.0% has
significantly increased the retention concentration of the tincture
on human scalp cells compared to the KX-826 tincture 0.5%
used in the previous phase lll clinical trial, and is expected to

enhance the clinical efficacy.

On 4 June 2024, the Company announced that KX-826
received the INCI review approval from the International
Cosmetic Ingredient Nomenclature Committee. The assigned
INCI name is Methylpyridinyl Fluoromethoxybenzonitrile
Dimethyloxothiooxoimidazolidine. INCI names are systemic
names recognised worldwide for the identification of cosmetic
ingredients and are cited by product labeling regulations in many
countries. It was expected that the assignation would facilitate
the global launch of the Company's functional cosmetics with
KX-826 as the main ingredient.

MRS BB - FAPI % B SR 7 I-1I1 B & IR B
BRBEREEERERENEFEEY NI
EHEEEAOFRFIKT939 « ERAREE KT
EEHPAEANEEGRMNEEF NIRRT &K
N AR R HE A PR AL B G KX-826 F1 GT20029
EAREKSIERRRBRMKTONZIEER -
HABE204F AREMRATERER K :

KX-826
fbi 2 78 M IE

202452 R 1B - KRR EMKX-826 B K 74
b BB Bk & VR B AR 5B 1 i B2 O b/ R R AR
ABRCESEREERILE - ZARE
TEFT B KX-826 B OK 35 b R Bt & 00 B A B X
FEMMENERMERL 2N - NEEE
B BEBMAEZINRR SE—FERE
KX-826 10 it 52 %8 15 B0 VR B WUR -

M20245H24H - R R B B i KX-826H]
0% A EPBRKFREHENBRARD
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KX-826B]1.0% 51 A /A /&5 AR B0 ok 4F 55 1% B &2
MERMERLZEMH - RIKATHFRETR 8
¥ 2 BUNER R PR &4 B PT A A9 KX-826R]0.5%
B A - KX-826H]1.0% %) FY 72 A BE 58 £7 40 i
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% °

R2024%F6R48 - &K » 7] B i KX-826
EEGSERLARKR O REES
BINCHEEHE ETASLEZR
Methylpyridinyl Fluoromethoxybenzonitrile
Dimethyloxothiooxoimidazolidine © INCI £ ##
A T 570 B P 1 AR AT R Ak Bl AL Ak e K
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EREIA - BB RANRARFMEIA
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£
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBRE

On 10 July 2024, the Company announced the official launch of
its topical anti-hair loss solution for AGA, which is the new high-
end cosmetics brand KOSHINE's first cosmetic product with
KX-826 as the main ingredient. The Company is of the view that
the launch of this new high-end cosmetics brand KOSHINE will
provide a solid stream of revenue and cash flow to the Group,

benefiting the Group as a whole in the long term.

On 16 October 2024, the Company announced that the phase
Il stage pivotal clinical trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0% for the
treatment of male adult AGA in China had completed the first
subject enrollment. The pivotal clinical trial is a multi-center,
randomized, double-blind, vehicle controlled phase II/lll study
with adaptive designs to evaluate the efficacy and safety of KX-
826 tincture 1.0% for the topical treatment of male adults with
AGA in China.

On 30 December 2024, the Company announced that the phase
Il stage pivotal clinical trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0% for the
treatment of male adult AGA in China had completed the first
subject enrollment. The enrolled patients will receive treatment
with the stipulated dosages over a period of 24 weeks, followed
by a I-month safety observation. This trial is expected to be
completed by the end of 2025.

On 20 March 2025, the Company announced that the topline
results of the long-term safety phase Il clinical trial of KX-826
tincture for the treatment of AGA in China had been obtained.
The results indicated that the long-term safety clinical trial has
reached its primary endpoint with statistically significant and
clinically meaningful outcomes, demonstrating excellent safety

and efficacy.

AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

On 21 April 2024, the Company announced that the China phase
lla clinical trial of AR-PROTAC compound GT20029 tincture for
the treatment of AGA has reached the primary endpoint, with
statistically significant and clinically meaningful results, as well as

good safety and tolerability.
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On 17 June 2024, the Company announced the completion of
the first subject enrollment in the phase Il clinical trial in China
of AR-PROTAC compound GT20029 for the treatment of acne.
The phase Il clinical trial was designed to evaluate the efficacy,
safety and PK of GT20029 for the treatment of acne through the
adoption of GT20029 0.5% QD and 1% QD as the drug-related

dosage.

New Raw Material (KT-939)

On 29 October 2024, the Company announced that KT-
939 received the INCI review approval from the International
Cosmetic Ingredient Nomenclature Committee with assigned
Mono ID of 39815, KT-939 is a tyrosinase inhibitor under
development by the Company. It effectively inhibits melanin
production and possesses antioxidant and anti-inflammatory
properties. The Company is actively preparing for the

registration of KT-939 as a new cosmetic ingredient in China.

For details of any of the foregoing, please refer to the rest of this

report (if applicable), and the Company’s prior announcements

published on the Stock Exchange's and the Company’s websites.
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OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focusing on
developing potential first-in-class/best-in-class drugs for unmet clinical
needs and extending to functional cosmetics area. The development
of cosmetics business play a crucial complementary role by not only
providing the necessary funding for drugs R&D initiatives but also
offering valuable market data that informs and shapes the future sales
strategies for the Company's pharmaceutical products. We have five
innovative potential first-in-class/best-in-class drug candidates at phase
11l clinical stage, and we are committed to becoming a leader in the
research, development and commercialisation of innovative therapies
and high-end cosmetics. Our products aim at tackling the unmet
clinical needs and meeting the needs of global cosmetics consumers.
Our pipelines cover indications of dermatology such as AGA and acne
vulgaris, and indications of tumors and the cosmetic product types
cover anti-hair loss, acne treatment and skin whitening. The two Core
Products, namely KX-826 and GT20029, have entered phase Il/lll and

phase Il clinical stage, respectively.

We officially launched the sales of the new high-end cosmetics brand
KOSHINE in the second half of 2024, namely the topical anti-hair loss
solution with KX-826 as the main ingredient, and KOSHINE brand
achieved sales revenue of RMB5.0 million during the Reporting Period.
As at the date of this report, a total of six products comprising anti-
hair loss solution series (standard, pro and plant extract editions), acne
cream, and whitening series (essence and lotion) have been launched
into the market, among which, acne cream with KX-826 as the main
ingredient and whitening series (essence and lotion) with KT-939 as

the main ingredient were marketed at the beginning of 2025.

Our cosmetics production are currently outsourced and online
sales channels have been a prioritized area for investment and
development since the launch of KOSHINE. The Group has
established a multi-channel digital marketing strategy for its cosmetics
business, adopting differentiated platform operation strategies. While
expanding in traditional e-commerce platforms such as Tmall and
JD, we have proactively deployed resources in emerging content-
driven e-commerce platforms including Douyin and Xiaohongshu,
continuously intensifying resource investments to cultivate socialized
shopping scene. To address the evolving demands of overseas

cosmetics consumers and execute globalization strategy, the Group
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expanded its overseas sales channels, with focused development of
global platforms including Amazon USA and self-operated online sales
platform, ensuring precise alignment with the diversified needs of
global cosmetics customers and amplifying KOSHINE brand's global

influence.

During the year under review, by leveraging data analysis to
identify user profiles and purchase needs for refining advertising
precision, the Group significantly improved conversion rates on
key platforms such as Tmall Global, Douyin Flagship Store, and |D
International. Capitalizing on the rise of livestream commerce, the
Group strategically deployed live streaming matrix on Douyin and
Taobao, establishing professional brand promotion strategies. This
included multi-dimensional promotion approaches such as influencers
collaborations, short video content marketing, Xiaohongshu
community seeding, e-commerce festival campaigns, and regular
live streaming. The Group will continue to focus on the field of
dermatology, strengthen its marketing efforts, expand the usage
scenarios of its products, accelerate global market expansion, and
expedite the launch of new cosmetics products to further enhance

the popularity of the Group’s cosmetic brand.

As at the date of this report, in respect of KX-826, the Group has
completed the long-term safety phase Il clinical trial for AGA in China,
the phase Il clinical trial for female AGA in China, the phase Il clinical
trial for male AGA in the U.S. and the phase |l clinical trial for acne in
China. The long-term safety clinical trial exhibited satisfactory safety
and tolerability, with a low incidence of overall adverse events and no
death case, providing safety and efficacy data to support the long-term
use of KX-826. Meanwhile, we also initiated the phase Ib/lll clinical trial
of KX-826 in combination with minoxidil for the treatment of AGA in
China, and clinical trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0% for the treatment of
male adult AGA in China. The development of combination therapy
of KX-826 and minoxidil will further explore the value of KX-826 in
the field of AGA. The clinical trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0% is expected
to maintain excellent safety profile and present superior efficacy
compared to the KX-826 tincture 0.5%. For acne vulgaris indication,
the results of the phase Il clinical trial will lay the foundation for the

Company's future studies.
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Our second Core Product GT20029, developed in-house by the
Company based on its own PROTAC platform, is the first topical
PROTAC compound in the world which has entered phase Il clinical
stage. As at the date of this report, the Group has completed the
phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for AGA and acne in the U.S,
which demonstrated that GT20029 had good safety, tolerability,
and PK characteristics. The China phase lIla clinical trial of AR-
PROTAC compound GT20029 tincture for the treatment of AGA
has reached the primary endpoint, with statistically significant and
clinically meaningful results, as well as good safety and tolerability. The
Company expects to actively deploy subsequent clinical strategies
for GT20029, such as initiating a phase lIb/lll clinical trial in China and
a phase Il clinical trial in the U.S. for male AGA. In addition, during
the Reporting Period, the Company completed the first subject
enrollment in the phase Il clinical trial in China of AR-PROTAC
compound GT20029 for the treatment of acne. The phase Il clinical
trial was designed to evaluate the efficacy, safety and pharmacokinetics
of GT20029 for the treatment of acne through the adoption of
GT20029 0.5% QD and 1% QD as the drug-related dosage.

For other pipelines, we are exploring their commercial value in
different disease areas and actively trying to improve the efficacy
of drug through combination therapies. For example, our GTI708F
completed the phase | clinical trial for hematologic malignancies in
China and we were granted conditional approval to conduct the
phase Il clinical trial of IPF in China. We are actively seeking potential
opportunities to accelerate the commercialisation of various pipelines

in China and globally.

In consideration of the Company's current operating performance and
available sources of financing, the Company has implemented several
plans and measures to alleviate liquidity pressure and improve financial
conditions, including but not limited to renewal of existing bank credit
quotas upon maturity, equity financing, cooperation with potential
commercial partners in regard of licensing transactions and expansion

of cosmetics products sales channels.
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Product Pipeline

Our pipeline includes a risk-balanced and diversified portfolio of drug

candidates, which are committed to meeting the huge unmet medical

needs and have significant market potential. Hundreds of millions of
male and female patients around the world and in China suffered from
AGA and acne. Based on AR targets, we have made groundbreaking
developments with KX-826 and GT20029 for dermatology fields.
We are rapidly advancing clinical trials and actively exploring
commercialisation paths for these products to meet patients' needs
including but not limited to the launch of the high-end cosmetics
brand KOSHINE with innovative raw materials as main ingredients. In
other disease areas, including mCRPC, liver cancer, IPF, hematologic
malignancies and multiple solid tumors, we also have several products
in/fcompleting the clinical stage, accumulating a large amount of R&D
and clinical data, with high value for cooperation in commercialisation.
The following chart sets forth a summary of our drug candidates

as well as their respective mechanism, indications and development
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(Accepted)
Androgenetic alopecia (Male) China Completed Ph Ill FPI On 30 Dec 2024
Androgenetic alopecia (Female) China Data readout on 1 Dec 2022
KX-826 AR antagonist Androgenetic alopecia (Male) us Data readout on 11 May 2023
o (for external use) Androgenetic alopecia (Long-term safety) China Ph Il reached primary endpoint on 20 Mar 2025
o
g Combined with minoxidil for androgenetic alopecia (Male) ~ China IND approved on 1 Feb 2024
-
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BUSINESS REVIEW

As at the date of this report, we had developed five clinical-stage
drugs and one new raw material, for which we had obtained approvals
to commence clinical trials in the PRC (including Taiwan), the U.S.
and other countries and regions. These clinical-stage drug candidates
comprise KX-826, AR-PROTAC compound GT20029, Hedgehog/
SMO inhibitor GTI708F, mTOR kinase inhibitor GT0486 and ALK-|

antibody GT9000I, and the new raw material is tyrosinase inhibitor

KT-939, the details of which are set out as follows:

Main Products

e KX-826

KX-826 is a drug for topical use, which can block the signaling
pathway of AR. [t acts on the local area of peripheral skin
tissue, and can reduce the sensitivity of AR to androgen in the

pilosebaceous gland, and the low AR inhibitory activity of its

metabolites can reduce systemic side effects.
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We own the patents of KX-826 in many countries around the
world, including China. Its core patent is valid until 8 September
2030. We are currently developing KX-826 in tincture and gel as
a potential first-in-class topical drug for the treatment of AGA

and acne vulgaris.

AGA Indication
Where AGA occurs, the androgen binds to the AR in the

hair follicle cells, and the AR undergoes a complex enzymatic
reaction and forms an AR complex. The AR complex enters
the nucleus, binds to a specific hormone-responsive element
of the gene locus, induces or inhibits the transcription of the
target gene, and synthesises specific messenger RNA (mRNA)
and corresponding proteins, such as different kinds of cytokines.
This regulates cell proliferation and differentiation, which
causes the hair to prematurely enter into a resting period and
shrinks hair follicles. The hair in the growing period gradually
becomes thinner and hair follicles shrink and disappear, resulting
in AGA. Abnormal changes in systemic and local androgen
metabolism are important factors in the pathogenesis of AGA,
and dihydrotestosterone ("DHT") catalysed by androgen
by Sa-reductase is a contributing molecule of AGA. AR is
recognised as an attributing factor for AGA. KX-826 is for topical
application to locally block the androgen mediated signaling by

competing androgen to bind to AR in the targeted tissues.

As at the date of this report, we have completed the long-term
safety phase Il clinical trial for AGA in China, the phase Il clinical
trial for female AGA in China, and the phase Il clinical trial for
male AGA in the U.S.. In respect of the long-term safety phase
Il clinical trial for AGA in China, the topline results showed
that the long-term safety clinical trial has reached its primary
endpoint with statistically significant and clinically meaningful
outcomes, demonstrating excellent safety and efficacy. In
respect of the phase Il clinical trial for female AGA in China, the
results have demonstrated clinically meaningful and statistically
significant improvement in hair growth as measured by TAHC,
and favorable safety profile. In respect of the phase Il clinical trial
for male AGA in the U.S., the results after 24 weeks compared
to baseline were statistically and clinically meaningful, and

demonstrated a favorable safety profile.
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Meanwhile, we have also initiated in China the phase Ib/Ill clinical
trial of KX-826 in combination with minoxidil for the treatment
of AGA, and clinical trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0% for the
treatment of male adult AGA.

e On | February 2024, the Company announced that the
phase Ib/lll clinical trial of KX-826 in combination with
minoxidil for the treatment of male adults with AGA had
been cleared by the NMPA. The trial aims to evaluate
the efficacy and safety of KX-826 in combination with
minoxidil for the treatment of male adults with AGA in
China. The Group believes that through the development
of combination therapy, the efficacy of KX-826 for AGA will

be further discovered.

*  On 24 May 2024, the Company announced that the clinical
trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0% for the treatment of male
adult AGA in China had received clearance by NMPA.
The trial aims to evaluate the efficacy and safety of KX-
826 tincture 1.0% for the topical treatment of male adults
with  AGA in China. Preclinical studies have shown that
the KX-826 tincture 1.0% has significantly increased the
retention concentration of the tincture on human scalp cells
compared to the KX-826 tincture 0.5% used in the previous
phase Il clinical trial, and is expected to enhance the clinical

efficacy.

*  On 4 June 2024, the Company announced that
KX-826 received the INCI review approval
from the International Cosmetic Ingredient
Nomenclature Committee. The assigned INCI
name is Methylpyridinyl Fluoromethoxybenzonitrile
Dimethyloxothiooxoimidazolidine. INCl names are systemic
names recognised worldwide for the identification of
cosmetic ingredients and are cited by product labeling
regulations in many countries. It was expected that
the assignation would facilitate the global launch of the
Company’s functional cosmetics with KX-826 as the main

ingredient.
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On 10 July 2024, the Company announced the official
launch of its topical anti-hair loss solution for AGA, which
is the new high-end cosmetics brand KOSHINE's first
cosmetic product with KX-826 as the main ingredient. The
Company is of the view that the launch of this new high-end
cosmetics brand KOSHINE will provide a solid stream of
revenue and cash flow to the Group, benefiting the Group

as a whole in the long term.

On 16 October 2024, the Company announced that
the phase Il stage pivotal clinical trial of KX-826 tincture
[.0% for the treatment of male adult AGA in China had
completed the first subject enrollment. The pivotal clinical
trial is a multi-center; randomized, double-blind, vehicle
controlled phase Il/lll study with adaptive designs to
evaluate the efficacy and safety of KX-826 tincture 1.0% for
the topical treatment of male adults with AGA in China.

On 30 December 2024, the Company announced that
the phase Ill stage pivotal clinical trial of KX 826 tincture
1.0% for the treatment of male adult AGA in China had
completed the first subject enrollment. The enrolled
patients will receive treatment with the stipulated dosages
over a period of 24 weeks, followed by a [-month safety
observation. This trial is expected to be completed by the
end of 2025.

On 20 March 2025, the topline results of the long-term
safety phase Ill clinical trial of KX-826 tincture for the
treatment of AGA in China had been obtained. The results
indicated that the long-term safety clinical trial has reached
its primary endpoint with statistically significant and clinically
meaningful outcomes, demonstrating excellent safety and

efficacy.
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The long-term safety clinical trial is a multi-center; open-label
study designed to evaluate the long-term safety of the topical
use of KX-826 for the treatment of AGA patients in China
(treatment period of 52 weeks). The long-term safety clinical
trial involves a total of 16 clinical research centers in China, with
Professor Jianzhong Zhang (3% £ F) from Peking University
People’s Hospital as the lead principal investigator. The primary
endpoint of the trial is the incidence of TEAE occurred during the
study. Secondary endpoints include efficacy as measured by the
change in the TAHC from baseline and other safety indicators.
This trial adopted KX-826 tincture 0.5% BID as the drug-related

dosage. Results of the clinical trial showed that:

— Regarding safety, KX-826 tincture exhibited satisfactory
safety and tolerability in clinical trial, with a low incidence
of overall adverse events and no death case. No drug-
related sexual dysfunction adverse reactions were observed
during the entire study period, which indicated an excellent

favorable safety profile without observing any safety signals.

— In terms of efficacy, after 52 weeks' treatment, patients
showed positive signals in both TAHC and TAHW with an
increase from baseline, demonstrating effective treatment,
and the results are statistically significant (P<0.0001).
Among the target populations, at 52 weeks, the patients
with =10 hairs/cm? change in TAHC from baseline
accounted for 46%, the patients with >20 hairs/cm? change

accounted for 20%.

The hair growth assessment ("HGA") indicators from
investigators and patients both experienced various degrees
of improvement from baseline, with a significant therapeutic
effect. The results showed that after the treatment of
52 weeks, the efficacy rates (HGA score =I) as assessed
by HGA investigators in male patients was 53%, and the
efficacy rates as assessed by HGA investigators in female
patients was 48.4%. In the self-assessments at different
time points, patients also demonstrated a positive trend of

change in therapeutic efficacy.
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Acne vulgaris indication

Acne vulgaris is the eighth most prevalent disease in the world
which affects more than 94% of the global population. Acne
vulgaris is particularly common among adolescents and young
adults as a facial disease. The pathogenesis of acne vulgaris is
complicated. The influence of androgen and its receptor signaling
pathway on sebaceous glands and sebum secretion is one of the
important factors causing acne vulgaris. The U.S. FDA approved
the first AR antagonist over the past 40 years for treatment of
acne in August 2020, which had paved the way for our ongoing
clinical trials in China. To date, there has been significant unmet
clinical needs as no effective topical AR antagonist was approved

for acne vulgaris treatment in China.

KX-826 is a well-targeted topical AR antagonist, which
competitively inhibits the combination of androgen with AR in
the skin tissue and is able to topically control the activation of
the AR signal pathway caused by the excessive level of androgen
without affecting the activity of AR signal pathway in human
body. Through topical application, KX-826 is able to inhibit the
combination of AR with androgen in hair follicle sebaceous glands

for treatment of acne vulgaris.

Previously, we announced the completion of the phase Il clinical
trial of KX-826 for treatment of acne in China. The phase ||
clinical trial is a multicenter, randomised, double-blind and
placebo-controlled clinical study designed to evaluate the safety,
efficacy, tolerance and PK of topical application of KX-826 for the
treatment of patients with acne vulgaris. This study included a
total of 160 acne patients who met the Pillsbury grading system’s
grade I-Ill or IGA grading system'’s grade 2-3 who were assigned
to the 0.25% QD and BID, the 0.5% QD and BID, and placebo
QD and BID groups, respectively. The results show:

At week |2, all patients who achieved treatment success
(according to the 5-point IGA scale, IGA score decreasing
to O-1 and a decrease of > 2 levels is defined as success)

appeared in the experimental groups.
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*  Compared with placebo group, post hoc analysis of
subgroups with baseline non-inflammatory lesion count
>30 showed that counts of both non-inflammatory and
inflammatory lesion in the KX-826 group were significantly
improved, and the improvements had persisted until
the twelfth week. The improvement effect was initially

observed at the second week.

e The safety profile of KX-826 is good. During the research,
most adverse events were mild local skin irritation, and the
incidence rate in the KX-826 group was similar to that of
the placebo group. There were no adverse events that led

to withdrawal from the trial or death.

AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

GT20029 has the potential to become a new generation of
treatment for AGA and acne vulgaris. GT20029 is a topical
AR-PROTAC compound developed by the Group’s in-house
PROTAC platform. It is also the first topical PROTAC compound
in the world which has entered phase Il clinical stage. GT20029
has a topical curative effect and can avoid systemic exposure by
limiting skin penetration, and thus achieving good safety profile.
The repeated PD studies in DHT-induced mouse model showed
that GT20029 significantly promoted hair growth with statistical
difference. The PD study of testosterone propionate-induced
skin hamster flank organ acne model showed that GT20029
significantly inhibited the enlargement of the flank organ, with

statistical difference.

Previously, we announced the top-line results of the phase |
clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne
vulgaris in both China and the U.S..
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The phase | clinical trial in China is a randomised, double-
blind, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the safety and PK
of topical use of GT20029 (gel/tincture). The study enrolled
92 healthy subjects receiving single and multiple ascending
dose administration (topical) of GT20029. The results showed
that GT20029 demonstrated good safety, tolerability and PK
in healthy subjects with limited system exposure. Following a
single dose administration, all subjects had no detectable drug
concentrations (below LLOQ, 0.00Ing/mL) at all time points.
Following 14-day multiple-doses topical administration, the mean
maximum drug concentrations of all cohorts were lower than
0.05ng/mL. All TRAE were grade |, and no TRAE above grade |

was reported.

The phase | clinical trial in the US. is a randomized, double-
blind, placebo-controlled, parallel group, dose escalation study
to evaluate the safety, tolerability and PK of GT20029 following
topical single ascending dose administration (“SAD") in healthy
subjects and multiple ascending dose administration (“MAD”)
in subjects with AGA or acne. The study enrolled 123 subjects,
and its results showed that GT20029 demonstrated good
safety, tolerability and PK following topical SAD administration in
healthy subjects and MAD administration in subjects with AGA
or acne vulgaris. In the SAD stage, subjects had no systemic
exposure at all dose levels, and all sample concentrations were
below the LLOQ (0.003 ng/mL). In the MAD stage, after 14
days of continuous administration in subjects with AGA or
acne vulgaris, the systemic exposure was limited and the mean
maximum observed concentration (Cmax) of all dose levels
fluctuated near the LLOQ, with the highest not exceeding 0.015
ng/mL. No TEAE relating to GT20029 was reported in the SAD
stage. The most common TEAEs in the MAD stage were mild,
including dryness, itching, burning and pain at application sites.
No SAE, severe (Grade =3) TEAE, and subject withdrawal or
death caused by TEAE were reported.
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As at the date of this report, the China phase lla clinical trial of
AR-PROTAC compound GT20029 tincture for the treatment
of AGA has reached the primary endpoint, and the first subject
enroliment in the China phase Il clinical trial of AR-PROTAC
compound GT20029 for the treatment of acne has been

completed.

e On 2| April 2024, the Company announced the China
phase lla clinical trial of AR-PROTAC compound GT20029
tincture for the treatment of AGA has reached the
primary endpoint, with statistically significant and clinically
meaningful results, as well as good safety and tolerability.
The phase lla clinical trial is a multi-center, randomised,
double-blind, placebo-controlled study designed to evaluate
the efficacy and safety of GT20029 for treating male AGA,
and to determine the recommended dosage for phase Il
clinical trial. This trial involves a total of 12 clinical research
centers in China, and Professor Yang Qinping (15 £)5%)
from Fudan University Huashan Hospital (18 B X2 K¢
B Z | B Pt ) is the leading principal investigator. The
primary endpoint of this trial is the average change from
baseline in non-vellus TAHC after 12 weeks of treatment
in comparison to placebo. Safety assessments included
adverse events, laboratory tests, subjective evaluations of
the topical medication and dermatological assessments.
The trial enrolled 180 male AGA patients, divided into QD
and BIW dosing cohorts, each with control groups (dosing
placebo) and experiment groups (dosing GT20029 tincture),

receiving either 0.5% or 1% doses. The results showed:
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— In terms of efficacy, GT20029 tincture demonstrated
statistically significant therapeutic efficacy and clinical
significance compared to placebo in both the QD and
BIW dosing cohorts. After 12 weeks of treatment,
the TAHC of 0.5% QD GT20029 group showed an
increase of 16.80 hairs/cm? from baseline, which was
6.69 hairs/cm? more than the placebo group, with
statistically significant results (P<0.05). The TAHC
of GT20029 1.0% BIW group showed an increase of
[1.94 hairs/cm? from baseline, which was 7.36 hairs/
cm? more than the placebo, also yielding statistically
significant results (P<0.05). For the BIW cohort, the
study indicated a dose-response relationship among
different doses of GT20029.

— Regarding safety, GT20029 tincture demonstrated
good safety and tolerability, with the incidence of
adverse events during treatment comparable to that
of placebo. In addition, no adverse sexual events were

observed during the trial.

— The 1% BIW dosage of GT20029 was identified as the
optimal dosing level in the phase Il clinical trial and has
been recommended for the phase Il clinical trial for
male AGA in China.

On 17 June 2024, we announced the completion of the
first subject enrollment in the China phase Il clinical trial
of AR-PROTAC compound GT20029 for the treatment of
acne. The phase Il clinical trial was designed to evaluate the
efficacy, safety and PK of GT20029 for the treatment of
acne through the adoption of GT20029 0.5% QD and 1%
QD as the drug-related dosage.
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e GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor)

GTI708F is an inhibitor of the hedgehog signal transduction
pathway. We are currently developing GTI708F primarily for

treatment of IPF and blood cancer.

i. IPF Indication

IPF is a chronic, progressive fibrosing interstitial pneumonia
and one of the most fatal interstitial pneumonias.
The incidence of IPF is high, but due to the relatively
unnoticeable onset and progression, most patients are
diagnosed in the moderate and advanced stages, and
the median survival time of patients from the time of
diagnosis is only 3-5 years. The global incidence rate of
IPF reaches 14 to 43 per 100,000 people. The incidence
rate in China reaches 2 to 29 per 100,000 people. It has
large market potential as a rare disease. GTI1708F affects
the activity of Hh pathway and expression of the relevant
downstream proteins by inhibiting the activity of SMO
protein. Reactivation of the Hh signaling pathway is a feature
of fibrotic lung tissue in IPF which affects in fibroblast
migration and proliferation. Many nonclinical studies have
shown that the Hh signaling pathway played a crucial role
in IPF. According to reports, in IPF tissue, the expression of
genes or proteins such as SMO and Gilil is higher than that
in normal lung tissue, and after stimulating Hh in pulmonary
fibrosis cells isolated from lung tissue of patients suffering
from IPF, the expression of SMO and Glil proteins and
genes is increased. In-vitro study showed that GTI708F
could significantly decrease the expression of Glil, Gli2 and

pulmonary fibrosis related a-SMA protein.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO #1 %/ 2)

GTI708F 2 — & hedgehog = 5 #2538 i/ 5 #) 4
Bl o BAIRIEFABEEZANAZEIPFL M
WRER -

i. IPFEEILE
IPFE—REIEM  #E1TM  SigtEE
M RRE  eFEEMERRPRAN
SHERZ— c IPFERERS - 8
HRER EERARW ZHIBE
BZRRABEERETHRE  BE®
PP AT HE BIESTF - BLIPF
T ERBIOEAFB4EBAER
EFRETIOEABEOAER  H
tER—RBFERR ABEERMMS -
GTI708F 3@ 3@ #) % SMO & B 8 & 14 7
ZHNBEMEERAETHEBERD
HIRIE - HhE B BRUE) 2 IPF
R ERAZSN —ERE 28
R MEARBBAIEIE - FZIERRK
MREKE HH{ERBEREIPFEER
BEZMEA - BWE - TIPFAST -
SMO - GIIEERSEBRESRNIE
W44 - ™ B BIPFRE A AL T H
Bt A b 48 4 b 4B BB R B HR 18 - SMO -~
GilEERMERKEBFES ° B
W ITEER © GTI708FA] Z8 & T #GIil »
Gli2 LA Bo A0 fib & 4 b 4B 8 o -SMAE B
H)FREE o



The results of the bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis
model on Sprague-Dawley rats showed that after GT1708F
treatment, the damage of the terminal bronchial wall and
pulmonary arteriole wall and inflammatory cell infiltration
(in the lesion and on the edge of the lesion) were
effectively improved. Compared with the active comparator
nintedanib, different doses of GTI708F have similar
improvement effects on lung damage and inflammatory cell
infiltration. In addition, GTI708F can significantly improve
the degree of pulmonary fibrosis (P<0.001).

On Il October 2023, we announced GTI708F had
obtained conditional approval to conduct phase Il clinical

trial in China by NMPA for treatment of new indication of
IPF.

Blood Cancer Indication

On 8 May 2023, we announced the successful completion
of phase | clinical trial of GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO
Inhibitor) for treatment of hematologic malignancies in
China.

The phase | clinical trial is a study to evaluate the safety,
tolerability, PK and preliminary efficacy of GTI708F for
treatment of patients with hematological malignancies. A
total of I8 patients were enrolled in the trial, including
|5 patients with acute myeloid leukemia (“AML") and 3
patients with myelodysplastic syndrome (*“MDS”). The
doses and enrollment were 20mg QD (I case), 40mg
QD (I case), 80mg QD (4 cases), 120mg QD (3 cases),
180mg QD (3 cases), 240mg QD (3 cases), 320mg QD
(3 cases), respectively. The results showed that all patients
experienced no dose-limiting or drug-related SAE. The
overall safety of each dose group was good, most TEAE
were mild, and no TEAE resulted in death. Preliminary
efficacy was observed starting from 180mg dose level in
dose escalation stage for patients with the AML who failed
multi-line therapies, and the myeloid blasts decreased by up

to 62% compared to the baseline in AML patients.
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The results of the trial were disclosed at the 65th Annual
Meeting of the American Society of Hematology (“ASH
2023"), the largest and most comprehensive international
event covering malignant and non-malignant tumor
hematology in the field of hematology, demonstrating that
GTI708F has a good safety and tolerability in patients
with myeloid malignancies, and paves the way for further

exploration of combination therapy.

ALK-1 Antibody (GT90001)

ALK-1 antibody is a fully human 1gG2 neutralising monoclonal
antibody that inhibits ALK-1/TGF-f3 signal transduction and tumor
angiogenesis and a potential first-in-class antibody for which the
Company obtained an exclusive global license of ALK-1 for all the
oncological areas from Pfizer in February 2018. ALK-| antibody
has the potential to become the first fully human monoclonal
antibody therapeutic drug for ALK-1 target, which can potentially
be used in combination with PD-1 inhibitors or VEGF inhibitors

for treatment of a variety of solid tumours.

In Taiwan, China, our phase Il clinical trial of ALK-I antibody and
Nivolumab combination therapy for treatment of advanced HCC
has completed last patient last visit on 7 July 2022. Previously, the
preliminary data showed that among the 20 evaluable patients,
partial remission was observed in 8 patients (40.0%). In the U.S,,
we obtained IND approval for the combination therapy of ALK-
| antibody and Nivolumab for a global multi-center phase I
clinical trial for the second-line treatment of advanced HCC and
completed the first patient dosing. In China, we also obtained
approval for the clinical trial of combination therapy of ALK-I

antibody and Nivolumab for treatment of advanced HCC.
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On 28 October 2023, we announced that the results of the
phase Ib/ll clinical trial of ALK-1 antibody combined with PD-|
antibody Nivolumab in the treatment of HCC were published
online by the well-known journal BMC Medicine (Impact
factor: 11.806). This study confirmed that the combination of
GT9000!I (7.0 mg/kg, every 2 weeks) and Nivolumab had a
good safety profile and promising anti-tumor activity in patients
with advanced HCC, and demonstrated durable remissions and
objective responses in this population, which might be a potential

treatment option for advanced HCC.

GT0486
GT0486 is an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signaling pathway

and a second generation mTOR inhibitor. We are currently
developing GT0486 primarily for the treatment of metastatic
solid tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and HCC.
We have received the IND approval from NMPA for GT0486

and completed phase | clinical trial.

C-Myc Molecular Glue

Developing drugs that directly target the Myc protein is
extremely difficult, so there are currently no Myctarget drugs
globally, and only few drugs have entered the clinical stage.
Our Myc molecular glue has significant R&D potential and
related research results have been published in many core
journals/conferences. On 13 March 2024, we announced that
the research has been published in a subsidiary journal of
Nature—Nature Communications (impact factor: 16.6). This
article analyzes the mechanism of MYC that induces CDK4/6
inhibitors resistance and introduces A80.2HCI, a promising c-Myc
molecular glue compound in-house developed by the Company,
to enhance the therapeutic efficacy of CDK4/6 inhibitors. In ASH
2023 and the 64th Annual Meeting of the American Society of
Hematology, studies of c-Myc molecular glue were published
twice, demonstrating its excellent potential in the treatment of

tumors.
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e KT-939

KT-939 is a tyrosinase inhibitor under development by the
Company. It effectively inhibits melanin production and possesses
antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties. The Company
is actively preparing for the registration of KT-939 as a new

cosmetic ingredient in China.

On 29 October 2024, the Company announced that KT-
939 received the INCI review approval from the International
Cosmetic Ingredient Nomenclature Committee with assigned
Mono ID of 398I5.

In addition to the drug candidates and new raw material described
above, we are also at the discovery stage for the development of
other potential drug candidates, including compound of other targets
out of PROTAC platform and ALK-1/VEGF bispecific antibody for
the treatment of multiple indications such as blood cancer and solid

tumors, respectively.

WARNING UNDER RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING
RULES: SAVE FOR THE KX-826 TOPICAL ANTI-HAIR
LOSS SOLUTION FOR AGA, WE MAY NOT BE ABLE
TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP AND MARKET OUR DRUG
CANDIDATES (INCLUDING OUR CORE PRODUCTS)
SUCCESSFULLY.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We have established an integrated R&D platform to support our
drug development programmes from discovery to clinical stage. We
conduct proprietary laboratory research to identify and select new
compounds as our potential drug candidates, and we manage our drug
development process primarily using our internal R&D resources to

ensure that the quality standards we have set internally will be met.
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Through the development of AR inhibitors, we have accumulated
significant expertise in AR-related know-how and have developed
a leading AR technology platform. We believe that we have
accumulated industry-leading expertise in the field of AR signaling
pathway, molecule design and PK/PD modelling. Leveraging our AR
technology platform, we have developed KX-826 in China and the
U.S. for the topical treatment of AGA and acne, and results of clinical
trials have proved that the drug has a good safety profile. For AGA
patients, continuously use of KX-826 for 6 months can increase the
mean non-vellus TAHC by up to 22.7 per cm? from baseline with a
remarkable therapeutic effect. For acne patients, previous clinical trials

of KX-826 have also demonstrated its preliminary efficacy.

PROTAC is a novel drug discovery technology for targeting and/
or degrading target protein. The molecular weight of PROTAC
compound is relatively large, resulting in low oral bioavailability, which
limits their oral druggability, so we are currently giving priority to the
development of topical compounds. Based on PROTAC platform,
we are currently developing GT20029 for AGA and acne vulgaris.
GT20029 is the first topical PROTAC compound globally that has
completed phase lla clinical stage for the treatment of AGA in China.
We are also conducting phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of acne
in China and has completed its first subject enrollment. We possess
molecule glue technology for targeting and/or degrading undruggable
and oncogene mutant drivers that drive the resistance to the targeted

therapies.

In addition to the two Core Products for dermatology above, we also
have another three products in the clinical stage through years of R&D
accumulation. Previous clinical trials have verified that such products
have good safety profile and demonstrate efficacy, and a number
of research results have been published in large conferences and/or
important journals, showing their excellent value and providing further
guidance for drug development in related fields (such as liver cancen,
multiple solid tumors, etc.). Our products can be enhanced through
combination, so we are further exploring their value through co-

development or licensing-out to provide patients with more options.
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Our R&D work is led by Dr. TONG and several experienced
scientists who have accumulated decades of pharmaceutical R&D
and entrepreneurship experience in reputable pharma and biotech
companies in the world and together provide us with integrated

expertise covering small molecule, biologics, and compound design.

MANUFACTURING AND
COMMERCIALISATION

The Group currently outsource its cosmetics production, which
does not involve facility construction or equipment installation. After
receiving the INCI designation for its in-house developed KX-826
during the Reporting Period, the Group has recently introduced to the
international market a topical anti-hair loss solution for AGA, which
contains KX-826 as the main ingredient, as the first product of the
Group’s high-end cosmetics brand KOSHINE. The launch of this new
cosmetic product is the first commercialisation sale of KX-826 in the
field of dermatology, representing the Group's transition from R&D
stage to commercialisation stage. The launch of the new high-end
cosmetics brand KOSHINE will provide a solid stream of revenue and
cash flow to the Group, benefiting the Group as a whole in the long

term.

As at the date of this report, a total of six products comprising anti-
hair loss solution series (standard, pro and plant extract editions), acne
cream, and whitening essence and lotion have been brought into the
market. Going forward, the Group will continue to focus on the field
of dermatology, strengthen the marketing efforts, expand the usage
scenarios of its products, accelerate global market expansion, and
expedite the launch of new cosmetics products. The Group also plans
to allocate more resources to enhance the Group's commercialisation
capabilities to boost brand awareness, capture market dynamics and

increase the penetration rate of its products.
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Currently, the Company is rapidly advancing the clinical trials of its
two Core Products (KX-826 and GT20029) in China. As at the date
of this report, the Company is advancing a phase Il/lll clinical trial
of KX-826 for the treatment of AGA in adult Chinese males and a
phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 for acne in China, with the expected
completion of KX-826 phase |lI trial by the end of 2025 and GT20029
phase Il clinical trial by August 2025. In regard to commercialisation,
for KX-826, the Company expects to submit a NDA to the NMPA in
2026. If the application is successful, the Company expects that KX-
826 will reach commercialisation of drug by 2027. Furthermore, the
Company has been in contact with multiple potential customers for
business development and commercialisation negotiations regarding
KX-826 and GT20029.

As the Company is still in the clinical trial phase and has yet to
enter the production phase, its investment in fixed assets for drugs
is relatively low, and the Company relies more heavily on external
collaborations, such as with CRO or CMO. Therefore, the current
capital expenditure is not high and the main stream of the Company's
expenses is operating expenses. R&D for medical/biological
application accounts for the bulk of the Company’s expenses in 2024
and 2025 budget. The total cost for the KX-826 male AGA phase II/
lIl'and other trials is expected to be over RMB60 million, and the
total cost for GT20029 acne phase Il study is expected to be over
RMBI5 million. Whereas the Company’s net investment in cosmetics
business is less than RMB20 million in 2024, and it currently expects
to generate net cashflow on its investment in cosmetics products in
2025.
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In consideration of the Company’s current operating performance
and available sources of financing, the Company has implemented
the following plans and measures to alleviate liquidity pressure and

improve financial conditions:

a. To ensure a steady stream of financing from bank loans, the
Company continues to seek renewal of its existing bank credit
quotas upon maturity. In March 2025, the Group renewed a
bank credit quota of RMB70 million, using part of the land use
rights, buildings and construction projects as collateral, and has

drawn a bank loan of RMB35 million.

b. The Company is actively seeking equity financing and is in
discussions with a number of potential investors regarding their

subscription for the Company’s new Shares.

c¢.  The Company is proactively pursuing cooperation opportunities
with potential commercial partners in the biotech industry in

regard of licensing transactions of drugs under development.

d.  The Group is actively expanding its sales channels for cosmetics
products to improve the Company’s operating performance and

cash flow.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

Benefiting from the launch of the new high-end cosmetics brand
KOSHINE, we generated a revenue of RMB5.0 million from
cosmetics products sales for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Our loss and total comprehensive loss were RMBI1,060.8 million and
RMBI55.3 million for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2024,
respectively. Our operating losses mainly resulted from R&D costs and

administrative expenses.

Revenue

We generated a revenue of RMB5.0 million from cosmetics products
sales for the year ended 31 December 2024 and had not generated

any revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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We recorded a cost of sales of RMB9.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, mainly from the products sales of the new high-end
cosmetics brand KOSHINE, provisions for inventories, impairment
losses of property, plant and equipment related to production
in Suzhou Kintor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
impairment losses on other non-current assets and impairment
reversals of right-of-use assets. We recorded a cost of sales of
RMB42.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Our other income during the Reporting Period primarily consisted of
government grants and interest income from bank balances and time
deposits. Our other income increased by RMBI.| million or 5.2% from
RMB20.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB21.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was mainly
attributable to a RMB9.0 million increase in government grants which
we have received to compensate for the expenses of our Group's
research and development and a RMBI.O million decrease in net
loss from the sales of raw materials, partially offset by: (i) a RMB7.I
million decrease in interest income from demand deposits and seven-
day notice deposit due to the decrease in cash and cash equivalents
balances; and (i) a RMBI.8 million decrease in interest income from
fixed deposits as a result of the redemption of fixed-term deposit at

maturity during the Reporting Period.

Our marketing costs during the Reporting Period primarily consisted
of (i) salaries and other benefits of our sales and marketing team; (ii)
marketing and promotion expenses; and (iii) administrative expenses
including business trip expenses and other business development
expenses. Our marketing costs increased by RMBI9.6 million or
280.3% from RMB7.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB26.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was
mainly attributable to an increase of RMB21.5 million in the marketing
and promotion expenses in the commercialisation for our cosmetics
products of KOSHINE, partially offset by a decrease of RMB3.4 million

in utilities and office expenses for marketing purposes.
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Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses during the Reporting Period primarily
consisted of (i) employee benefit expenses, which primarily comprised
compensation for management and executives (including share-based
compensation expenses relating to the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme); (i) utilities and office expenses; (iii) depreciation and
amortization, which primarily comprised depreciation of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment in relation to properties
for administrative use; and (iv) other miscellaneous administrative
expenses such as repair and maintenance expenses, professional

advisory expenses.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our administrative
expenses, by amount and as a percentage of our total administrative

expenses, for the periods indicated:

TERX

RmEHE BMNTBERAIEERE: ()E
BREAAY  FZoEETEEREEABNS
B (B2 35 E220204F & B i Bh st 81 B BRI LARR (D &
EROFHMNE ) ()KEE LA i)
TEREHE FEREERMETERAERNY
EFENEAREEARDE  BEREET
ERWEMBETERAZ(EEREER
X BEBRARAZ -

TREHNARARIR S B RETHA X ERR
BB T AR

For the year ended 31 December

BZNA3IALEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMPB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR¥T T % ARWBTIT %
Employee benefit expenses  {& B 48 | X 33,323 53.9 38933 437
Add: share-based AR A ERS
compensation expenses R X2 2,020 3.3 10,655 2.0
Employee benefit expenses  1&E B 1& | F 52
(including share-based (BHREUAROBERD
compensation expenses) HEAEZ) 35,343 57.2 49,588 55.7
Utilities and office KEBRPER
expensesiNoe) A Sz i) 8,972 14.5 16,151 18.1
Depreciation and P& K i
amortization 8,459 13.7 9,173 10.3
Impairment losses of ME - WREKRE
property, plant and VERIERIEEN
equipment 388 0.6 2,646 3.0
Others H A 8,663 14.0 11,487 129
Total “st 61,825 100.0 89,045 100.0

Note: The line item “utilities and office expenses” included short-term and low-value
lease rental expenses incurred by the Group.
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Our administrative expenses decreased by RMB27.2 million or 30.6%
from RMB89.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB61.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was
mainly attributable to (i) a decrease of RMBI4.2 million in employee
benefit expenses (including share-based compensation expenses)
primarily resulting from the decrease in the number of our staff; (ii)
a decrease of RMB7.2 million in utilities and office expenses; (i) a
decrease of RMB2.3 million in impairment losses of property, plant
and equipment for administrative use; and (iv) a decrease of RMB2.8
million in other administrative expenses primarily relating to the
decrease in our professional advisory expenses such as compliance
consulting fees, legal consulting fees and construction and environment

consulting fees.

Our R&D costs during the Reporting Period primarily consisted of (i)
clinical research expenses, which primarily consisted of fees paid to
CROs for clinical trials and the hospitals in which we conducted our
clinical trials; (ii) materials and consumables used in connection with
our R&D; (iii) employee benefit expenses, which primarily consisted
of compensation to R&D personnel (including the share-based
compensation expenses for the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme);
(iv) outsourced research and development costs, which primarily
consisted of fees paid to CROs and CMOs for purposes of preclinical
trials; (v) impairment losses on other non-current assets related to
R&D activities; and (vi) other R&D costs, which primarily consisted
of depreciation of property, plant and equipment with respect to our
R&D, utilities and office expenses in relation to R&D use, depreciation

of right-of-use assets in relation to our leased properties for R&D use.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our R&D costs, by
amount and as a percentage of our total R&D costs, for the periods

indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

BZNA3IALEE

2023
20234
RMB'000 %
ARBTIT %
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAX 44,077 56.4 94,719 10.1
Add: share based compensation  fill : LA B 17 /& 25 7 09 %7 M
expenses X (11,280) (14.4) 19,767 2.1
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAX
(including share-based (BHREARNHER
compensation expense) B & B 5 S2) 32,797 42.0 114,486 2.2
Clinical research expenses b PR B 55 7 X 16,748 21.4 89,783 9.6
Depreciation of property, plant ~ ¥12% ~ i B &
and equipment BB E 7,235 9.3 7,856 0.8
Impairment losses on other non-  E b 3 B) & &
current assets VERER=ES 6,637 8.5 — 0.0
Utilities and office expenses KEE R PR 4,953 6.3 6,532 0.7
Outsourced research and EINDE IR W
development costs 3,170 4.0 1,622 1.2
Materials and consumables MR M R
expenses 2,389 3.1 12,198 [.3
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE
assets 1,853 2.4 1,876 0.2
Impairment losses of property,  ¥1% » R /E R &
plant and equipment VERIER TS 13 0.0 2,608 0.3
Provision for inventories FTEGEER —_ 0.0 603,879 64.3
Impairment losses of intangible &2 & &= Rl B 18 K
assets — 0.0 86,589 9.2
Others HAt 2,348 3.0 1,478 0.2
Total et 78,143 100.0 938,907 100.0

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED



Our R&D costs decreased by RMB860.8 million or 91.7% from
RMB938.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB78.|
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was mainly
attributable to (i) a decrease of RMB603.9 million in provision for
inventories due to no provision for inventories related to R&D
recognized in the Reporting Period; (ii) a decrease of RMB86.6 million
in impairment losses of intangible assets; (iii) a decrease of RMB73.0
million in clinical research expenses as a result of suspension or hold
of one or more of clinical trials related to other drug candidates; and
(iv) a decrease of RMB8I.7 million in R&D employee benefit expenses
(including share-based compensation expenses) mainly due to the
reduction of our R&D staff.

Our integrated R&D structure consist of clinical R&D and cosmetics
R&D. The R&D costs of our two core products KX-826 and GT20029
accounted for RMB61.0 million in the Reporting Period, representing
nearly 80% of total R&D expenditures, whereas the R&D costs
related cosmetics was RMB3.9 million, representing only 5% of total

R&D expenditures.

We had other gains of RMB5.9 million for the year ended 3l
December 2024, primarily as a result of net foreign exchange gains
due to exchange rates movement and a gain on asset disposal arising
from the disposal of land use right in respect of certain land parcel in
Pinghu, Zhejiang, PRC. We had other losses of RMB2.9 million for the
year ended 3| December 2023.

Our finance costs during the Reporting Period consisted of interest
expense from bank borrowings. Our finance costs primarily decreased
by RMBO0.4 million or 4.3% from RMB9.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to RMB9.3 million for the year ended 31 December

2024, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in loan amount.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWED T

Income Tax (Expense)/Credit

We had under-provision of income tax of RMB0.018 million for the
year ended 3| December 2024, primarily due to the service fee
received by Kintor Pharmaceutical Inc,, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, from the Company for the purpose of general R&D
activities in the US which was recognised as revenue. We had income
tax credit of RMB8.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which was attributable to the deferred income tax liabilities and over-

provision of income tax in prior year.

Net Loss for the Reporting Period

Our net loss decreased by RMB905.5 million or 85.4% from
RMBI,060.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMBI55.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was
mainly attributable to the decrease in the Group’s R&D costs.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with the IFRS, the Company also uses
adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period
and other adjusted figures as additional financial measures, which
are not required by, or presented in accordance with, the IFRS.
The Company believes that these adjusted measures provide useful
information to Shareholders and potential investors in understanding
and evaluating the Group’s consolidated results of operations in the

same manner as they help the Company’'s management.
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Adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period
represents the loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting
Period excluding the effect of certain non-cash items, namely the
share-based compensation expenses. The term adjusted loss and total
comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period is not defined under the
IFRS. The use of this non-IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical
tool, and it should not be considered in isolation from, or as substitute
for analysis of, the Group's results of operations or financial condition
as reported under IFRS. The Company’s presentation of such adjusted
figure may not be comparable to a similarly titled measure presented
by other companies. However, the Company believes that this and
other non-IFRS measures reflect the Group’s normal operating results
by eliminating impacts of items that the management do not consider
to be indicative of the Group's operating performance, and thus
facilitate comparison of operating performance from period to period

and company to company to the extent applicable.

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the loss and total
comprehensive loss for the period to adjusted loss and total

comprehensive loss for the period during the periods indicated:
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BEHRKHBRBER2ABEAREREH
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TREJINFARHEHANBEELEAEBEAR
ERAKHEERLREEBERABRNEK:

For the year ended

31 December

BENRANBLFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTT
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FAEE &K 2 HEH BB (155,292) (1,060,820)
Added: ik
Share-based compensation expenses KR 7 75 2 8 B 37 B [ sz 9,112) 22,989
Adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss FAKLPAEEBEBEBRE2EEE
for the year FEREE (164,404) (1,037,831)

Note: This expense represents the grant of restricted share units to selected executives
and employees, which is a non-cash item and is not directly related to the
underlying performance of the Company'’s business operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Employees and Remuneration Policies

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our employees by

B & K % BUR
TREHRMZBES DN EEFA:

function:
As at 31 December 2024
# £2024512A831H
As a
Number of percentage
employees of total
HR AR
EEA™ BO
Core management ZOE B 6 3.6%
Clinical B IR 27 16.1%
R&D it 2% 48 28.6%
Manufacturing EE 24 14.3%
Commercial E X 23 13.7%
Project management HEER 1 6.5%
Others H At 29 17.2%
Total et 168 100.0%

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 168 full time
employees, among whom, the total staff with clinical and R&D roles
accounted for nearly 45%. We generally formulate our employees’
remuneration package to include basic salary, position-specific
salary, performance-based bonus, project-based bonus and various
allowances. We conduct periodic performance reviews for our
employees. We have also adopted the 2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme to retain and incentivise our key management and staff.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 3l
December 2023 and 2024.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents and time deposits consisted of deposits
with banks and cash on hand. As at 31 December 2024, cash and
cash equivalents and time deposits decreased by RMB308.9 million or
67.7% from RMB456.3 million as at 31 December 2023 to RMBI147.4
million. The change in our cash and cash equivalents for the Reporting
Period was mainly attributable to (i) R&D and administrative

expenditures; and (i) repayment of borrowings.

The current ratio (total current assets as a percentage of total current
liabilities) of the Group decreased from 210.3% as at 3| December
2023 to 103.0% as at 31 December 2024, mainly due to the decrease

in cash and cash equivalents during the Reporting Period.

As at 31 December 2024, we had utilised bank facilities of RMBI4.4

million and unutilised bank facilities of RMB35.6 million.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions or
Disposals

As at 31 December 2024, there was no significant investments held by
the Company nor any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cash Flow

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated

statements of cash flows for the periods indicated:

RERE
TERFIIRFARHRARMANGESRERERS

= -

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIALEE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREF T
Cash used in operations KEFTAR® (195,242) (385,354)
Income tax paid EfAED (18) (294)
Net interest paid B HEFER (3,820) (1933)
Net cash used in operating activities KRETBAREFR (199,080) (387,581)
Net cash generated from investing activities KEETBMER e F5 20,034 3,274
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBFAREFHE (119,671) (33,463)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekBaEEBWRIDFE (298,717) (417,770)
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of FOREEREFEY
the year 444,027 864,470
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and RekReEEVMHNER
cash equivalents W, (E518) 2,109 (2,673)
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year FRIR & RREEFEY 147,419 444,027

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

During the Reporting Period, we derived our cash inflows from
operating activities primarily from government grants and bank
interest income. Our net cash used in operating activities mainly

consisted of R&D costs and administrative expenses.

During the year ended 3| December 2024, our net cash used
in operating activities was RMBI99.I million, mainly consisting of
RMBI95.2 million of cash used in operations, interest paid on
borrowings of RMB9.3 million, and interest received on bank balances
of RMB5.5 million and income tax paid of RMB0.02 million.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, our net cash used
in operating activities was RMB387.6 million, mainly consisting
of RMB385.4 million of cash used in operations, interest paid on
borrowings of RMBI2.] million, interest received on bank balances of
RMB10.2 million and income tax paid of RMBO.3 million.

Net Cash Generated from Investing Activities

During the Reporting Period, our cash flows relating to investing
activities primarily reflected proceeds from disposal of land use rights

and time deposits.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, our net cash generated
from investing activities was RMB20.0 million, which primarily
consisted of (i) proceeds from disposal of land use rights of RMB10.4

million; and (ii) proceeds from time deposits of RMBI0.0 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our net cash generated
from investing activities was RMB3.3 million, which primarily consisted
of (i) proceeds received upon maturity of certain time deposits
with maturities of over three months and disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of RMBI37.7 million; and (ii) the
withdrawal of deposits for purchasing financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of RMB5.2 million, partially offset by: (i) the
purchase of time deposits with a maturity date of more than three
months and financial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss of RMBI37.1 million; and (i) the purchase of R&D equipment of
RMB2.7 million.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

During the Reporting Period, our cash flows relating to financing

activities primarily reflected repayments of borrowings.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, our net cash used in
financing activities was RMBI19.7 million, primarily consisted of (i)
repayments of borrowings of RMBI49.6 million; and (ii) payment of
lease liabilities of RMB4.7 million, partially offset by (i) proceeds from
borrowings of RMB34.3 million; and (ii) proceeds from shares vested
under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme and transferred to the

grantees of RMBO0.4 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, our net cash used in
financing activities was RMB33.5 million, primarily consisted of (i) the
repayment of bank borrowings of RMB99.4 million; and (i) payment of
lease liabilities of RMB4.8 million, partially offset by (i) proceeds from
borrowings of RMB70.0 million; and (ii) proceeds from shares vested
under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme and transferred to the

grantees of RMB0.8 million.

Financial Position

Our net current assets decreased from RMB247.8 million as at 3|
December 2023 to RMB5.1 million as at 31 December 2024, primarily
due to the decrease of current asset, which was mainly attributable to

the decrease of cash and cash equivalents.

Current assets decreased from RMB472.6 million as at 31 December
2023 to RMBI71.7 million as at 31 December 2024, primarily due to

the decrease of cash and cash equivalents.

Significant Change in Accounting Policy

There was no significant change in accounting policy during the

Reporting Period.

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of our bank borrowings
consisted of long-term bank borrowings of RMB70.0 million which
were secured by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress, unsecured long-term bank borrowings of RMB47.4 million,
and short-term unsecured bank borrowings of RMBI4.4 million. In
the balance of our bank borrowings (including long-term and short-
term borrowings), RMBI11.8 million is repayable within one year or on

demand.

As at 3|1 December 2023, the balance of our bank borrowings
consisted of long-term bank borrowings of RMB83.0 million which
were secured by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress, unsecured long-term bank borrowings of RMBI44.] million
and short-term bank borrowings of RMB20.0 million. In the balance of
our bank borrowings, RMBI13.7 million is repayable within one year or

on demand.
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As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents are more than
total borrowings of the Group, therefore, the gearing ratio is not

applicable.

Financial Risks

The Group is exposed to various types of financial risks: market risks
(including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk as there are no
significant financial assets or liabilities of the Group denominated in
the currencies other than the functional currency, except for cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash and time deposits at bank in USD
and HKD which were primarily received from the investors as capital

contributions.

Cash Flow and Fair Value Interest Rate Risk

Our income and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates. We have no significant interest-
bearing assets and liabilities, except for lease liabilities, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and borrowings. Those carried at floating rates
expose us to cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carried at

fixed rates expose us to fair value interest rate risk.

Our interest rate risk mainly arises from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose us to fair value interest rate risk. As at
31 December 2024, our borrowings were carried at fixed rates, which

exposed the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
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Our management does not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulting from the changes in interest rates, because
the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to change

significantly.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products. The carrying amounts of receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products represent our maximum exposure to credit

risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated
with cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits, and
wealth management products since they are substantially deposited
at or purchased from state-owned banks and other medium or
large-sized foreign banks. The management does not expect that
there will be any significant losses from non-performance by these
counterparties and the loss allowance provision is considered

immaterial.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other receivables mainly comprise
receivables from disposal of land use right, deposits to lessors in
respect of the Group's leased properties and other receivables from
a collaborator in R&D. Considering that the other receivables from
the collaborator in R&D amounting to RMBI,206,000 have an ageing
of over one year and the possibility of recovery is very low, a full

provision for bad debts has been made.

Management has assessed that during the year ended 31 December
2024, apart from the other receivables from the collaborator in R&D,
other receivables have not had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Thus, a 12-month expected credit loss approach
that results from possible default event within 12 months of each
reporting date is adopted by management. The Group expects that
there is no significant credit risk associated with the remaining other

receivables since the counterparties have no history of default.
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Liquidity Risk

The Group finances its working capital requirements through the issue
of new shares, borrowings and government grants. The management
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve on the basis

of expected cash flow.

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and the ability to apply for credit facilities
if necessary. We had net current assets of RMB5.1 million as at 3|
December 2024. We are able to meet our financial obligations and
fund our operation through our cash on hand and consecutive capital

raising activities.

CHARGE ON GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, certain land use right, buildings and
construction in progress were pledged for the Group’s borrowings
amounting to RMB70,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB83,000,000).

FUTURE AND OUTLOOK

In the highly challenging year of 2024, facing an environment where
opportunities and challenges coexist, the company consolidated
its strength to reshape the pipeline focused on dermatology and
concurrently promoted in the oncology field. The Company's unique
and leading advantages in the dermatology field have been used to
steadily advance the clinical development process around the world
and the R&D of cosmetic products, achieving several milestones.
These include the introduction of the Group’s new high-end cosmetics
brand KOSHINE as the first commercialisation sale in the field of
dermatology, representing the Group’s transition from R&D stage to
commercialisation stage. While the Company has not yet successfully
commercialized an innovative drug candidate, we remain steadfast
in our strong commitment to medical and biological application and
development. Our cosmetics division operates as a supplementary
business, generating revenue to fund R&D, including pre-clinical

studies and clinical trials for drug candidates.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWED T

Based on over 10 years of experience in the AR field, we continued to
explore the treatment of AGA and acne with KX-826 and GT20029,
our two Core Products in the field of dermatology, in 2024. We are
also in the process of advancing a number of clinical trials of KX-
826 and GT20029 in China and/or the United States, continuing to

explore their value in the field of dermatology.

For KX-826, we have validated the safety and efficacy of KX-826 in
over |,500 subjects, who benefited from our drug and the mean non-
vellus TAHC increased by up to 22.7 per cm? from baseline. On the
one hand, we initiated the pivotal clinical trial of KX-826 tincture 1.0%
for the treatment of male adult AGA in China, which has completed
the first subject enrollment of phase Ill stage and is expected to be
completed by the end of 2025. On the other hand, we have launched
several products under our high-end cosmetics brand KOSHINE,
including three editions of topical anti-hair loss solution with KX-
826 as the main ingredient, acne cream with KX-826 as the main
ingredient, and whitening essence and lotion with KT-939 as the main
ingredient, and will continue to accelerate the global market expansion

and enrich product portfolio.

For GT20029, the first PROTAC drug by the Company, it has
remained in a leading position since its development and is the
world’s first topical PROTAC compound that has entered phase I
clinical trial. We have completed phase lla clinical stage of GT20029
for the treatment of AGA in China and are formulating future clinical
strategies for GT20029 for the treatment of AGA, such as initiating
a phase IIb/lll clinical trial in China and a phase Il clinical trial in the
U.S. for male AGA. In addition, we will actively advance the China
phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of acne, which
has completed the first subject enrollment on |7 June, 2024. We will
continue to push forward the development of GT20029 and further
expand our first-mover advantage in topical PROTAC.
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In the non-dermatology field, we also have developed small molecule
drugs such as GT1708F and developed biological drugs such as ALK-
| for the treatment of various tumors and multiple indications. We
have a new institute of R&D to cooperate with other research
departments such as biology, chemistry, and formulation, so that drugs
can be fully verified in both mechanism and clinical practice, and we
can leverage the knowledge of our professionals to enhance our R&D
capabilities. In addition, we have built an employee incentive plan to

retain our talents.

In addition to in-house development, we also plan to seek
cooperation opportunities in all aspects of the drug development
process, including pre-clinical technology, clinical combination therapy,
and licensing cooperation, to use superior resources to realize the
potential of drugs and bring more products to commercialisation as

soon as possible.

Given that we have only just begun commercializing cosmetic
products, we are still in the process of transitioning from R&D stage
to commercialisation stage and plan to allocate more resources to
explore different approaches including but not limited to introducing
new cosmetic products and advancing the marketing in China and
overseas to further promote the commercialisation of the Company’s
cosmetic products worldwide to boost brand awareness, capture

market dynamics and increase the penetration rate of our products.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWED T

Looking ahead, the Group will further deepen the collaborations with
leading domestic and overseas e-commerce platforms such as Tmall,
JD.com, Douyin, Xiaohongshu, and Amazon, and build a diversified
sales channel system. Meanwhile, we will leverage large-scale
promotional campaigns on these platforms including “Double Eleven”,
“Double Twelve”, and “618" shopping festivals to enhance product
exposure and market influence. In terms of membership operation,
the Group will focus on two key dimensions. On the one hand, we
will continue to intensify our efforts to expand customer resources.
By participating in platform activities, creating exclusive member day,
carrying out offline promotional activities, and hosting interactive
online Q&A on social media, we will increase the membership scale
and enhance fan loyalty. On the other hand, we will focus on the
refined management of members and the accumulation of high-quality
users. By organizing the annual “826 Members' Exclusive Day” event
and adopting a regular follow-up communication based on the event
cycle, we aim to increase the proportion of repurchase rates among

members, and improve the members’ contribution to revenue.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNSAREEEGRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Youzhi Tong (E K ), aged 63, is our chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer. He is a founding member of the Group
and was appointed as an executive Director on |6 May 2018. As our
chief executive officer, Dr. Tong is primarily responsible for the overall
management, operations and the charting and reviewing of corporate
directions and strategies of our Group. Dr. Tong has accumulated over
20 years of experience in biopharmaceutical R&D and management.
He is also a director of various members of our Group, namely
Suzhou Kintor, Suzhou Koshine Biomedica, Inc. (&% M| F 1= %8 2%
B PR A 7A], “Suzhou Koshine"), Kintor Science Limited, Koshine
Pharmaceuticals Limited and Koshine Hong Kong Limited. Prior to
founding our Group in 2009, Dr. Tong served as an assistant professor
of Albert Einstein College of Medicine from 1999 to 2001. He was a
vice-president of Angion Biomedica Corp. from 2002 to 2008.

In recognition of his dedication to his field, Dr. Tong has received
multiple designated funds from the U.S. National Institutes of Health
and the Chinese government. In 2000, he received a fellows' research
award from the North Shore — Long Island Jewish Research System.
In 2000, he received a fellows' award from the Multiple Myeloma
Research Foundation. In 1997, he received the AACR-Glaxo Welcome
Oncology Clinical Research Scholar Award from the American
Association for Cancer Research. Dr. Tong has also led a number of

key national and provincial R&D projects.

Dr. Tong graduated from Peking University with a bachelor's degree
and a master's degree in chemistry in July 1984 and July 1988,
respectively. He received his Ph.D. in pharmacology from Cornell

University in January 1997.

Dr. Xiang Ni ({2 #), aged 56, joined the Group in March 2023 and
was appointed as an executive Director on 14 April 2023. Dr. Ni is
currently the chief medical officer of the Group, primarily responsible
for the coordination, management and supervision of the medical
work of the Group.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Dr. Ni has dedicated to the international biopharmaceutical field for
more than 20 years, with extensive experience and expertise in the
clinical development of new drugs, pharmacovigilance and clinical
quality. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Ni worked in pharmaceutical
companies in the United States and China, like AstraZeneca and
several innovative biopharma and biotechnology companies like
Akesobio. Dr. Ni has facilitated the approval of several global new
drug applications (NDAs) and new drug clinical trials (INDs). He also
has extensive experience working with global regulatory agencies.

Dr. Ni received his bachelor's degree in Medicine from Southeast
University School of Medicine in China in 1992 and his Ph.D. degree
from School of Medicine, Temple University in the United States in
2000.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Weipeng Gao (= # M), aged 50, was appointed as non-
executive Director on 22 June 202I. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate development and strategic planning of the

Group.

Mr. Gao has over twenty years of experience in finance, legal and
investment areas and is currently a partner at SIP Sungent BioVenture
Capital Investment Partnership (LP)* (% /N L B & T E£ 81 %%
BEEBABMRAF) Mr Gao is a co-founder of Beijing Fastern Link
Capital Management Center (LP)* (3t R ZEtcATIR & B R AL
(BFRA %)) ("Eastern Link Capital’) since January 2011 and he
worked as a managing director at Eastern Link Capital from January
2011 to September 2019. From November 2009 to December
2010, he was a consultant at ABAX Investment Consulting (Suzhou
Industrial) Co, Ltd* (BEREEBE(BFEMNIEZER)FRAR).
From January 2008 to November 2009, Mr. Gao was a managing
director at Startup Growth Investment Enterprise* ([ 1% A K &l
¥ EDHE) Mr Gao also served as a qualified lawyer at Beijing
Guofang Law Firm* (1t 7R T B 75 /2 A F 5 B ) and Beijing Century-
link & Xinjiyuan Law Office* (b f 1t Bt ¥ 42 7L 2 B0 F 75 FT)
from 2001 to 2007. From August 1997 to July 2001, Mr. Gao was an
assistant to the general manager of China at Commonwealth Bank of

Australia QR Bt FEER 1T (P ER) ).
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Mr. Gao obtained a bachelor's degree in Economics from Beijing
Technology and Business University in 1996, a master degree in
Law from Peking University in January 2007 and a master degree of
Business Administration from China Europe International Business

School in September 2012 respectively.

Ms. Geqi Wei (& f B ), aged 50, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 27 September 2021. She is primarily
responsible for overseeing the corporate development and strategic

planning of the Group.

Ms. Wei is currently the deputy general manager and the chief
financial officer of Zhuhai Development Investment Fund Management
Co, td* GRBEREKREESBTE AR LA and the deputy
general manager of Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management
Co, Ltd* GRBER NS BMREE R B MR AF]), has 22 years of audit
and accounting work experience and 7 years of working experience
in financial investment. From March 2012 to August 2017, Ms. Wei
served as the deputy section chief of the fiscal finance and corporate
audit sections at Zhuhai Audit Bureau* (k)8 TH & 51/3). During
the periods from September 2008 to February 2012 and from March
2003 to December 2007, Ms. Wei was the director-general of office
and the section chief of the financial responsibility audit section at
Zhuhai Xiangzhou District Audit Bureau* (Zk /& ™ & M & 2 5T
/@), respectively. Ms. Wei also served as a staff member in the fiscal
audit section at Hubei Provincial Audit Department (41t % & &t
EE) from January 2008 to August 2008. Prior to March 2003, Ms.
Wei had finance and fiscal management experience with a number
of state-owned enterprises, private enterprises and foreign-invested

enterprises in the PRC.

Ms. Wei obtained her qualifications as Senior Auditor of the PRC
in 2012, In April 2021, she also passed the National Unified Legal
Professional Qualification Examination and obtained the Legal

Profession Qualification Certificate.

Ms. Wei obtained a bachelor's degree in accounting from the Jiangsu
University of Science and Technology (JT &k Bt K228 in 1996. She
earned a Master of Public Administration from Renmin University of
China (B A R KE) in 2009.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. Michael Min Xu (#8#)), aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 August 2019. He is responsible for providing

independent advice and judgement to our Board.

Dr. Xu has accumulated over 20 years of experience in
biopharmaceutical R&D. He is the founder and chief executive
officer of PegBio Co., Ltd (K& 4 ¥ & %2 (8% M) B R 2 7)) which
specialises in the development of drugs for chronic metabolic diseases.

He started working at Xinfeng Biotechnology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd as
the general manager (#TI& £ ) B & (= 78) B BR 2 F]) in 2002

Dr. Xu graduated from Xiangya School of Medicine at Central South
University (PR K2 M HEE 2 87) with a bachelor's degree in
medicine in June 1986. He later received his Ph.D from Columbia

University in February 1996.

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (% 18 B&), aged 61, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 August 2019. He is
responsible for providing independent advice and judgement to our
Board.

Mr. Yeung has over |5 years of experience in an international
accounting firm. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yeung held senior
financial positions in several Hong Kong Main Board listed companies.
He worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in 2003, and served as a
reorganisation services director from 2008 to 2018. Before that he
served as the financial controller and company secretary of DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Ltd, formerly known as UDL
Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
620) in 2002. He also served as the financial controller of Kuangchi
Science Ltd, formerly known as Climax Int'l Ltd, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 439) from 1997 to June 2001,

Mr. Yeung graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College with
a Diploma in Accounting in July 1988, and obtained an MBA from
the University of Warwick, United Kingdom in November 2011.
He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and is a member of the Hong Kong Securities and

Investment Institute.
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Prof. Liang Tong (E 52), aged 6, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 27 October 2020. He is responsible for

providing independent advice and judgement to our Board.

He joined the faculty of Columbia University in the City of New
York in September 1997 as an Associate Professor and currently
is a William R. Kenan, Jr. Professor in the Department of Biological
Sciences. He was the Chair of the Department of Biological Sciences
of Columbia University from July 2013 to June 2019. From July 1992
to August 1997, he served as a scientist of Boehringer Ingelheim

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in Ridgefield, Connecticut.

Prof. Tong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Chemistry from Peking
University in July 1983 and subsequently a Doctor of Philosophy in
Chemistry (Protein Crystallography) from University of California,
Berkeley in December 1989. He was a Post-doctoral Research
Associate at Purdue University in West Lafayette, Indiana until July
1992.

Prof. Tong has been a member of Phi Beta Kappa since 1989. He
received the Boehringer Ingelheim Research & Development Award in
[997. Prof. Tong is also a Fellow of the American Association for the

Advancement of Science since 2009.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ming Ming Cheung (E 8 83), aged 48, joined the Group in
September 2021 and is currently the chief financial officer and joint
company secretary of the Group. He is also a director of Suzhou
Kintor and Koshine Hong Kong Limited. Mr Cheung is primarily
responsible for the financial planning, investment, international
commerce, internal control, investor relations and public relations of

the Group.

Mr. Cheung has over |5 years' of work experience in the capital
market. Prior to joining the Group, he was Head of Leveraged &
Acquisition Finance of Haitong International Securities Group Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange and delisted by way of
privatisation in 2024. He was in charge of leveraged acquisition finance
and equity fund investments respectively. Mr. Cheung also worked in
ING Bank Hong Kong Branch for over 5 years. He was responsible
for corporate client coverage and merger and acquisition financial

advisory.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESrEREEEMEE

Mr. Cheung obtained his bachelor’s degree in Biochemistry from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1999 and Master
of Philosophy in Bioinformatics from Medical School, the University of
Hong Kong in 2002.

Dr. Ruo Xu (FF %), aged 60, joined the Group in April 2019
and is currently a vice president/BD of the Group. He is primarily

responsible for business development.

Before joining the Group, Dr. Xu worked in the pharmaceutical
industry for more than 20 years. Dr. Xu has served as the vice
president of chemistry and manufacturing at Zhejiang DTRM
Biopharma LLC from 2018 to 2019. He was a general manager at
Chemspec-API, Inc. from 2014 to 2017 and a principal scientist,
outsourcing manager and senior specialist at Schering-Plough
Corporation/Merck & Co., Inc. from 1998 to 2013.

Dr. Xu graduated from Peking University (1t 5% X&) with a bachelor’s
degree in chemistry in July 1985. He received his Ph.D. in chemistry
from Columbia University in May 1996 and served as a post-doctoral
fellow in chemistry at the University of California at Berkeley from
June 1996 to April 1998.

Dr. Jie Chen (Ff2), aged 42, joined the Group in July 2016 and is
currently a senior deputy general manager of the Group. She is also a
director of Suzhou Kintor and Suzhou Koshine. Dr. Chen has over 10
years working experience as well as rich academic background relating
to the scientific research and development in biology and chemistry
field.

Dr. Chen obtained the degree of doctor of nature science in organic
chemistry from the graduate school of the Chinese Academy of
Sciences in July 2010. Dr. Chen conducted postdoctoral research in
biochemistry at University of Texas Southwestern Medical Centre
from March 2011 to August 2015, mainly engaging in the scientific

research and related works.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Honglong Lu ( & 78 % ), aged 48, joined the Group in
September 2020 and is currently a vice president of clinical of
the Group. He has over 20 years of experience in early drug
development, clinical research and division management. Before
joining the Group, he served in CR Double-Crane, Merck, George
Clinical, Covance, R&G Pharma, Panacro and other domestic and
international pharmaceutical enterprises and CROs, in which he
held positions ranging from first-line inspector, project manager, staff
manager to technical core positions such as director of business,
director of business affairs and managerial positions such as executive
vice president.

Mr. Honglong Lu obtained his bachelor’s degree in traditional Chinese
medicine from Hebei Medical University in 2003 and master’s degree
in traditional Chinese medicine from the Institute of Tropical Medicine,
Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine (& M /1 B8 % K 22 20 75
B FTAT) in 2006.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ming Ming Cheung (E B i), is the chief financial officer and
joint company secretary of the Company. Please refer to the section
headed “Senior Management” above for further information.

Mr. Wai Chiu Wong (Z{&i#), is the Associate Director of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Wong has
extensive experience in compliance and listed companies secretarial
work.

Mr. Wong is a fellow of Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute,
a fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute, a member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and a
Certified Trust Practitioner.

Mr. Wong possesses a B. Soc. Sc. (Hon.) from the University of
Hong Kong, a Post-Graduate diploma in Hong Kong and United
Kingdom law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in the
United Kingdom, Master degree in Corporate Governance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Master Degree in Arbitration and
Dispute Resolution from City University of Hong Kong and Master of
Applied Science Degree from the University of Technology, Sydney,
Australia.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no change in
their information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(l) of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to implementing high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders
and enhance the corporate value as well as the responsibility
commitments. The Directors recognise the importance of
incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the
management structures, internal control and risk management

procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of
corporate governance since the Listing Date. Save for the deviation
from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed in the section
headed “Chairman and Chief Executive” in this report, the Company
has applied with the principles of and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period. The
Group will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance

practices to ensure its continued compliance with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for securities transactions by

Directors as its own code of conduct.

Specific enquiries have been made of all the Directors and they have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are subject to the Model Code. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant employees was

noted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Kintor’s corporate culture and mission, as our Chinese name
“KAITUO”

cosmetics worldwide. We aim to tackle the ailments of hair loss, acne

implies, are to take our innovative topical drugs and

and other dermatology diseases afflicting billions of patients. We
strive to raise the quality of life of those patients through a variety of

development strategies.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility
to the executive Directors and senior management who perform
their duties and has provided clear directions as to the senior

management's powers.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. The executive Directors oversee the daily
operations of the Group, while the independent non-executive
Directors bring independent judgment to the decision-making process
of the Board, taking into account the advice of the senior management

of the Group.

The Group’s senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business, carrying out the business
decisions of the Group, overseeing the general operation, business
development, finance, marketing, and operations as well as other

essential management functions of the Group.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and the
management has an obligation to supply the Directors with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable the Directors to perform

their responsibilities.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of

the Company and the Shareholders at all times.
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As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of two (2)
executive Directors, two (2) non-executive Directors and three (3)

independent non-executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Xiang NI
Dr. Qun Lu (retired on 20 June 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Weipeng Gao
Ms. Geqi Wei
Mr. Chengwei Liu (retired on 20 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Michael Min Xu
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung
Prof. Liang Tong

The biographical information of the Directors and relationship
between the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 55 to 61 of this report.
There is no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant

relationships among the members of the Board.
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Under code provision C.2.I of the CG Code, the responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. We do not
have a separate chairman and chief executive officer and Dr. TONG
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in Dr. TONG
has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning
for the Group, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board
requires approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that the
Board comprises three independent non-executive Directors during
the Reporting Period, and we believe there is sufficient check and
balance in the Board; (ii) Dr. TONG and other Directors are aware
of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, which
require, among other things, that they act for the benefit and in the
best interests of the Company and will make decisions for the Group
accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the
operations of the Company. Moreover, the overall strategic and other
key business, financial and operational policies of the Group are made
collectively after thorough discussion at both the Board and senior
management levels. Finally, the Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has
the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and
enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for and
communication within the Group. The Board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of the Group
in order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman and

chief executive officer is necessary.
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Independent Views to the Board

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
are available to the Board in the Company’s Director nomination
policy and board diversity policy and the Board is responsible for
reviewing the effectiveness of this mechanism on an annual basis. The
Board shall ensure the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one-third of its members being
independent non-executive Directors (or such higher threshold
as may be required by the Listing Rules from time to time). The
Nomination Committee shall adhere to the director nomination
policy with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive Directors. The candidates of independent non-
executive Directors must satisfy the independence requirements
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is committed to
ensuring that the independent non-executive Directors will be given
the opportunity and channel to communicate and express their

independent views and inputs to the Board and its committees.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met the requirements
of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-executive
Directors must represent at least one-third of the Board members,
and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has received a confirmation of independence in writing
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of
them to be independent during the Reporting Period.
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Board Meetings

Pursuant to CG Code, at least four regular Board meetings should
be held in each financial year. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
four Board meetings were held to, inter alia, review and approve (i)
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023, (i) the interim results of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2024, (iii) the change of Board members, (iv) the disclosable
transaction in relation to the return of the land use rights in Pinghu,
Zhejiang, PRC and (v) business development, and the attendance

record of each Director is set out in the table below:

Attendance/
eligible to attend

Board meeting

HE
FERLFESEEE SEREERRAS
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EEEeges

BECEERATA EFeeRENETEVK
FETHRITELMK - HF2024F 127318
LHFE ARRERBITINESS S5 UWH
R ETE)E BB & () A& B A =2023F 12 A3
BEFEZEFEEE  (\ASEE E202456
A30BIEABEACHEES (W EESKEF
B (VREM AP BEINTIE R TR iE A
BEHEATEBERZIRVEBRER  SEEMNL
FEASRIN TN RATE

Attendance/
eligible to attend

Shareholder meeting

HE

Directors =

Dr. Youzhi Tong BERZIEL
Dr. Qun Lu® BEBEIELO
Dr. Xiang Ni RAEL
Mr. Weipeng Gao =HENS A&
Ms. Geqi Wei Bt
Mr. Chenwei Liu® 2EELEE
Dr. Michael Min Xu REBiEL

BIERRSTE

BERUK

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung
Prof. Liang Tong

Notes:

(1) Dr. Qun Lu retired as Director with effect from 20 June 2024.

4/4
22
4/4
4/4
4/4
22
4/4
4/4
4/4

(2)  Mr. Chengwei Liu retired as Director with effect from 20 June 2024.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the operation and business of the Company and
full awareness of Directors’ responsibilities and obligation under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
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The Company will from time to time fund and arrange suitable
training to all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expense and they have been requested to provide the
Company with their training records. According to the training records
maintained by the Company, the continuous professional development
programmes received by each of the Directors during the Reporting

Period is summarised as follows:

RARI T REERMBESTHEENEII
NEREENESHEBREIBEREBENA
HERERE BEESUHESSELANBRE
BHER - ARR MBI FAEES 2 INABE
JIRE - BRAAARRARAE  WERKEFRA
ARREIFILE - BREARRFENFIIL
B NSRS EEERNSEEEERG
ST

Type of Training

Directors BE BIlER
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZEL A&B
Dr. Qun Lu® BERE O A&B
Dr. Xiang Ni RAELT A&B
Mr. Chengwei Liu® 2 EREEE A&B
Mr. Weipeng Gao =S A& A&B
Ms. Geqgi Wei Azt A&B
Dr. Michael Min Xu mEiEL A&B
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung HIER A A&B
Prof. Liang Tong ERHE A&B

A:  attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings,
conferences, forums and workshops.

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, general
business, anti-corruption, corporate governance and directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

Notes:

(1) Dr. Qun Lu retired as Director with effect from 20 June 2024.

(2)  Mr. Chengwei Liu retired as Director with effect from 20 June 2024.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years and each of the
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term

of three years.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an additional Director, provided that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined from

time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(“Articles of Association”). At each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) will retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director will be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

According to Articles of Association, any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-

election.

The Company's circular for the forthcoming annual general meeting
will contain the detailed information of the retiring Directors standing

for re-election.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The particulars of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 38

to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision E.I.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management (other than the Directors) as
at 31 December 2024 by band is set out below:

EEREREEEFTMH

EZNFMFRENAIFRESMBRRME
38 °

B EEATRFELSESTBMES - R2024
FRANH SHAEEEKEB(ESZRBRINBI
B IREFEBERENN T

Number of Individuals
for the year ended

31 December 2024

B E2024F

Remuneration band 3 B & A& 12A3IALLEE A
HKD1,500,00 |—HKD?2,000,000 1,500,001 7T—2,000,0007 7T |
HKD?2,000,00 | -HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 7T —2,500,0005 7T 2
HKD?2,500,00 |—HKD3,000,000 2,500,0017% 7T 3,000,000/ JT |
HKD4,500,00 | —HKD35,000,000 4,500,001 7 7T,—5,000,000 7T |

The emoluments include the share-based compensation expenses for
the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme. RSUs were granted under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme to senior management in respect
of their services to the Group. The fair values of such granted RSUs,
which have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income over the vesting period, were determined as at each of the
grant dates and the amounts included in the financial statements
for the current year are included in the above senior management's

remuneration disclosures.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(@) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

(c to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board

and report to the Board on such matters;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

(f) to review and monitor the Company’'s compliance with the

Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
The Board has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities
as set out in their respective terms of reference which are available
at the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their

duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung, Dr. Michael Min Xu and Prof.
Liang Tong. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Wallace Wai
Yim Yeung and he has extensive financial knowledge and relevant

work experience.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

ensuring the co-ordination between the external and the
internal auditors, and ensuring that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing with the

Company;

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditors, and any questions of its resignation or

dismissal;

reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in

accordance with applicable standards;

developing and implementing policy on engaging an external

auditor to supply non-audit services;

monitoring the integrity of the Company's financial statements
and the annual report and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if prepared for publication), and reviewing

significant financial reporting judgements contained in them;

discussing the risk management and internal control system with
management to ensure that management has performed its
duty to have effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company's accounting

and financial reporting function;

reviewing arrangements that the employees of the issuer can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in

financial reporting and internal control matters;

reviewing ongoing connected transactions of the Company and
ensuring compliance with terms of approval by the Shareholders;

and
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*  reviewing the Company's financial and accounting policies and

practices.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice a year

pursuant to the terms of reference for the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held
two meetings to, among others, review and discussed (i) the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 and unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 and recommend the same to the
Board for its consideration and approval. The Audit Committee was
of the opinion that the relevant results were prepared in compliance
with the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosures had been made; (i) the work of the Group’s
internal audit; (iii) the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system; (iv) reappointment of the external
auditor; and (v) whistleblowing policy and system. All members of the

Audit Committee attended the meeting.

The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee at

the meeting is set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors BE HE 28X
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (Chairman) BEREE(EE) 2/2
Dr. Michael Min Xu mEEL 212

Mr. Chengwei Liu (retired as committee
member on 20 June 2024)

Prof. Liang Tong (appointed as committee
member on 20 June 2024)

REZEEKE)

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive
Director, Dr. Youzhi Tong and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Michael Min Xu and Prof. Liang Tong. The

chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Dr. Michael Min Xu.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Remuneration Committee include but are not limited to:

* to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior

management;

* reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and

objectives;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation

payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of

non-executive Directors;

*  ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved

in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

*  to review and approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee members shall meet at least once
a year pursuant to the terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee. One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held
for the year ended 3| December 2024 to review (i) the policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management;

and (i) remuneration packages of Directors and senior management.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Company has established the following principles for determining

the remuneration packages of individual Directors:

no Director or any of his/her associates should determine his/her

own remuneration:;

remuneration of Directors should reflect their performance,

experience, duties and responsibilities;

the Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to

the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors;

remuneration of executive Directors shall include salary,
discretionary bonus, benefits in kind, share options or grants or
other incentive schemes (if any) and is determined in accordance
with individual performance, the Group's results and prevailing

market conditions; and

remuneration of non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) shall be in the form of cash fees and
is determined in accordance with individual performance and
contribution and the extent of responsibilities and the number of
Board meetings or relevant meetings of the Board committee(s)
that he/she has to attend. No equity-based remuneration
(e.g. share options or grants) with performance-related based
elements should be granted to independent non-executive
Directors to avoid any potential bias in their decision-making

which may compromise their objectivity and independence.

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration

Committee at the meeting is set out below:
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The Company has established the Nomination Committee with terms
of reference in compliance the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, Dr. Youzhi
Tong and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung. The chairman of the

Nomination Committee is Dr. Youzhi Tong.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited to:

* reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy of

the Company;

e  identifying individuals who are qualified/suitable to become a
member of the Board and selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for

directorships;

* assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

*  making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for

Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The Nomination Committee members shall meet at least once a year
pursuant to the terms of reference for the Nomination Committee.
One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held for the year
ended 31 December 2024 to review structure, size and composition
of the Board, Director nomination policy and the independence of
independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee
is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties and is
able to seek independent professional advice when necessary at the

Company’s expense to perform its duties.
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The attendance record of each member of the Nomination

Committee at the meeting is set out below:
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REZEEeSKELEESZNLEHIIMT:

Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors ==} HE B XRE

Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman) ERZET(EE) 1/

Dr. Michael Min Xu et /1

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung BRI E /1

Board Diversity Policy EEESNLBE

The Board values diversity as a significant factor in selecting candidates
to serve on the Board, and believes diversity at the Board level can

strengthen the business development of the Company.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which relates to the
selection of candidates for the Board. Pursuant to the board diversity
policy, selection of Board candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to the Company's
needs, gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, and industry and regional experience.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.

All Board candidates will be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of one female
Director, representing approximately 14.3% of the Board. The Board
targets to maintain female representation on the Board. The Board
will continue to seek opportunities to increase the proportion of
female members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.
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The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. Opportunities for employment,
training and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. As at the date of this report, female
employees represent approximately 63.2% and 16.6% of the Group’s
total employees and senior management, respectively. The Company
aims to maintain gender balance among both total employees and
senior management. The Board is mindful of the objectives for the
factors set out above and will ensure that any successors to the Board
shall follow the gender diversity policy. The Board will also take into
consideration of the gender diversity when assessing the candidates of

the senior management of the Company.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the board

diversity policy on an annual basis.

The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee the
responsibility to determine the procedures, process and criteria to
be adopted for purposes of selecting and recommending candidates
for directorship. The Board may, however, rescind its delegation and
assume the responsibilities it previously delegated to the Nomination

Committee.

The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee the
responsibility to identify candidates for nomination to the Board
(including candidates to fill vacancies) and assess their qualifications
in light of the diversity policy and the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will
recommend director candidates for the Board's consideration and
review the candidates’ qualifications with the Board. The Board
retains the authority to nominate a candidate for election by the
Shareholders as a Director and to fill vacancies. In identifying director
candidates, the Nomination Committee may consider all facts
and circumstances it deems appropriate, including, among other
things, the skills of the candidate, his or her depth and breadth of
business experience and other background characteristics, his or her

independence and the needs of the Board.
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Our Nomination Committee and Board may consider a broad range
of factors relating to the qualifications and background of nominees,
which may include diversity as set forth in the board diversity policy.
Our Nomination Committee’s and Board'’s priority in selecting board
members is identification of persons who will further the interests
of our Shareholders through their established record of professional
accomplishment, depth and breadth of business experience and other

background characteristics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024,

Save as disclosed in note 2.I(iii) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon

the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages I15 to 122 of this annual
report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’
REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
paid/payable to the independent auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers for the provision of audit services and non-

audit services are as below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in achieving
the Company's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Board oversees management in
the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board acknowledges that such risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. In light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business, the internal audit function is

performed by the Company'’s legal department.

In preparation for the listing of the Shares, the Company has engaged
an independent internal control consulting firm to perform an overall
assessment on the Group's internal control system, including the
areas of financial, operation, compliance and risk management with
the aims of, among other matters, improving the Group's corporate
governance and ensuring compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations. Based on its internal control review, the independent
internal control consulting firm recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Group and the Group has adopted

them.

The management would report to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
leading the management to oversee the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems, and
makes recommendations. The Audit Committee also ensures that an
overall review of the effectiveness of such systems is conducted at
least annually and put forward to the Board for consideration. The
Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company's strategic objectives, and acknowledges its responsibility for
the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their

effectiveness.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including financial,
operational, strategic and compliance controls and has considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions. The Board considers that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective
during the Reporting Period. The Board expects that a review of
the risk management and internal control systems will be performed

annually.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of

inside information are as follows:

*  the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and

Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial

reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

* the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information and formulate a guidance about

information disclosure; and

* the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group's affairs,
so that only the executive Director and other authorized
representative of the Company are authorised to communicate

with parties outside the Group.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

At the date of this report, Mr. Ming Ming Cheung and Mr. Wai Chiu

Wong were joint company secretary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Cheung and Mnr
Wong had undertaken no less than |5 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The primary
person at the Company with whom Mr. Wong contacted in respect
of company secretarial matters was Mr. Cheung, who was the chief

financial officer and joint company secretary of the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the

Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders.

According to the dividend policy, payment and the amount of any
dividends will be at the discretion of the Directors and will depend
upon the Group’s future operations and earnings, development
pipeline, capital requirements and surplus, general financial conditions,
contractual restrictions and other factors that the Directors consider

relevant.

The declaration and payment as well as the amounts of dividends
shall be subject to all applicable laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Companies Law, Cap 22 of the Cayman Islands and
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. No
dividend shall be declared or payable except out of the Company’s
profits and reserves lawfully available for distribution. Dividends
declared in the past may not be indicative of the Company’s future
dividend policy. The Directors have the absolute discretion to

recommend any dividend.
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As the Company is a holding company, declaration and payment of
dividends will depend on the availability of dividends received from
the subsidiaries, particularly the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC.
The PRC laws require that dividends be paid only out of the net profit
calculated according to the PRC accounting principles, which differ
from generally accepted accounting principles in other jurisdictions,
including Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The PRC laws also
require foreign-invested enterprises, such as all the subsidiaries in the
PRC, to set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves. These
statutory reserves are not available for distribution as cash dividends.
Distributions from these subsidiaries may also be restricted if they
incur debt or losses or in accordance with any restrictive covenants
in bank credit facilities or other agreements that the Company or the

subsidiaries may enter into in the future.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The Board will review the

dividend policy on a regular basis.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings, shall have the right to make
a requisition in writing to the Board or the company secretary for
the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for the shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance

with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board by post to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 40th Floor, Dah
Sing Financial Centre, No. 248 Queen’'s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for the attention of the company secretary. The Shareholders
also can send e-mail at IR@kintorcom.cn to IR department of the

Company to send enquiries to the Board.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Company’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through the annual general meeting
(“AGM”) and other general meetings. At the AGM, Chairman and
chairman of the Board committees (or their delegates as appropriate)

are available to meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.kintor.com.cn and
an email box of the Company's investor relations department at
IR@kintor.com.cn as communication platforms with the shareholders
and investors, where the financial information and other relevant

information of the Company are available for public access.

The Company is committed to providing the Shareholders of the
Company with balanced and understandable information about the
Company and has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy, the

summary of which is set out below:

s corporate communication is published on the Stock Exchange's
website and the Company’s own website in a timely manner as

required by the Listing Rules;
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*+ the Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on
the Stock Exchange's website in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules;

* any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the

Company’s website (www.kintor.com.cn);

*  the annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between
the Company and its Shareholders where the Shareholders
are provided with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable the shareholders to make an

informed decision on the proposed resolution(s);

* the Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the

meetings;

*  where appropriate or required, the chairman of the Board and
other Board members, the chairmen of board committees or
their delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer the Shareholders’ questions

(if any); and

* written enquiries from the Shareholders about corporate
governance or other matters to be put to the Board and the

Company will be dealt with by the Board.

The Board conducted review of the implementation and effectiveness
of the communication policy for Shareholders. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication in place, the Board is of the
view that the Shareholders communication policy has been properly

implemented for the year ended 31 December 2024 and is effective.
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Constitutional Documents

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles of Association
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Articles of Association
is available for review on the respective websites of the Company and

the Stock Exchange’s website.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ report together with
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, two non-

executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Xiang Ni
Dr. Qun Lu (retired on 20 June 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Weipeng Gao
Ms. Gegi Wei
Mr. Chengwei Liu (retired on 20 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Michael Min Xu
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung
Prof. Liang Tong

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 May
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman

Companies Law.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focusing on
developing potential first-in-class/best-in-class drugs for unmet clinical
needs and extending to functional cosmetics area. We have five
innovative potential first-in-class/best-in-class drug candidates at phase
11l clinical stage, and we are committed to becoming a leader in the
research, development and commercialisation of innovative therapies

and high-end cosmetics.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on

page 123 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group's
business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
These discussions form part of this annual report. Events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year is
set out in the section headed “Significant Events After the Reporting
Period” in this annual report. The discussion of the Company’s key
relationships with its employees, suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Company is set out in the section headed

“Key Relationship with Stakeholders™ in this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We are a biotechnology company listed on the Main Board under
Chapter I8A of the Listing Rules. There are unique challenges, risks
and uncertainties associated with investing in companies such as ours,
including: (i) we are a pre-revenue from drug biopharmaceutical
company with a history of losses and we had net operating cash
outflow during the track record period. We may need to obtain
substantial additional funding our operations; (i) our financial
prospects in the foreseeable future depend on the successful
completion of clinical trials of our drug candidates, significantly
depends on the successful completion of clinical trials across the world
and in China of our drug candidates, such as KX-826 and GT20029.
If we fail to complete our clinical trials of our drug candidates, you
may lose all or substantially all of your investment; (iii) clinical drug
development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain
outcomes, and we may be unable to achieve successful results in
our clinical trials; (iv) our drug candidates are subject to extensive
regulation, and we cannot assure you any of our drug candidates will
receive regulatory approvals; (v) we may not be able to effectively
build and manage our drug sales network and implement our drug
marketing strategies and successful commercialisation; (vi) if we are
unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our compounds
or drug candidates through intellectual property rights, or if the scope
of such intellectual property rights obtained is not sufficiently broad,
third parties could develop and commercialise drug candidates similar
or identical to ours and compete directly against us, and our ability
to successfully commercialise our drug candidates may be adversely
affected; and (vii) intangible assets constitute a substantial portion of
our total assets; if we determine our intangible assets to be impaired,

it would adversely affect our results of operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental-friendly environment. We strive to minimize our
environmental impact and to build our corporation in a sustainable
way. We are subject to environmental protection and occupational

health and safety laws and regulations in China.
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In 2024, we complied with the relevant environmental and
occupational health and safety laws and regulations in China and
we did not have any incidents or complaints, which had a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of

operations.

In accordance with Rule 1391 and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Code contained in Appendix C2 of the Listing
Rules, the Company’s environmental, social and governance report
will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company by the end of April 2025.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws and

regulations by the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 168 employees, the

following table sets forth a breakdown of our employees by function:
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Number of employees

EEA™
Core management B E R 6
Clinical e PR 27
R&D ot 2 48
Manufacturing EE 24
Commercial EEXIS 23
Project management IHEE®R I
Others EAfb 29
Total mEt 168

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



We generally formulate our employees’ remuneration package to
include basic salary, position-specific salary, performance-based
remuneration, project-based remuneration and various allowances.
The Company makes contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds as required by the PRC laws and regulations. We
also make contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and Internal Revenue Code Section 40I(k) Plan for our employees
in Hong Kong and the United States, respectively. We provide our
employees with periodic training, including orientation training for new
employees, departmental technical training, as well as other internal
and external professional training, including good clinical practice
(GCP) training. The Company also has adopted the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme on 31 March 2020 to attract, retain and motivate
our key management and staff for their contribution to the Group.
Please refer to the section headed “2020 Employee Incentive Scheme”

and Note 10 in this annual report for further details.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was RMB72.4 million, as compared to
RMBI167.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group did not
experience any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a
material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or

results of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 3| December 2024, our suppliers are primarily the
suppliers of clinical research services and the suppliers of cosmetics

products manufacturing and marketing.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers amounted to RMB20.0 million (2023: RMB97.5
million), accounting for approximately 47.3% (2023: 44.5%) of the
Group’s total purchase amount in the same year. The Group’s largest
supplier for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB4.9
million (2023: RMB26.4 million), accounting for approximately [1.5%
(2023: 12.19%) of the Group's total purchase amount for the same year
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None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company's issued shares (excluding
treasury shares), has any interest in any of the Group's five largest

suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not

experience any significant disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, we had no pharmaceutical
products for commercial sale but recorded revenue of RMB5.0
million through cosmetic products. The Group's sales of cosmetic
products are through e-commerce platforms and due to the nature
of cosmetics business, sales to its five largest customers accounted for

less than 30% of the Group's total sales for the same year.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business associates are key to
Group's success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with

them.
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Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating
our employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We conduct new
employee training, as well as professional and compliance training
programs for employees. We enter into employment contracts with
our employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds
for termination. The remuneration package of our employees usually
includes salary, bonus and share option incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, position and
performance. We make contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds as required by the PRC laws and regulations. We
also make contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) Plan for our employees in
Hong Kong and the United States, respectively. The employee benefit
expenses is set out in Note 10 which includes: (I) salaries, wages
and bonuses; (2) contributions to pension plans; (3) housing funds,
medical insurance and other social insurance; and (4) share-based

compensation expenses.

Relationship with Shareholders

We recognise the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them. We
believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way process
and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information
disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the Shareholders and listen
carefully to the views and feedback from the Shareholders by ways
of general meetings, corporate communications, annual reports and

results announcements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
249 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the

audited consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing

Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's

securities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to the

consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024

are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the
year ended 3| December 2024 and details of the Shares issued during
the year ended 3| December 2024 are set out in Note 3| to the

consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended 3|
December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme as set out in this annual
report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group,

or existed during the year ended 3| December 2024.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their

duty in their offices.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium account,
retained earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately
following the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

As at 31 December 2024, our Company had retained nil profits under
IFRS Accounting Standards as reserves available for distribution to our

equity shareholders.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 126 and in Note

33 and Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2024 are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and Note 26 to the

consolidated financial statements

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued any

convertible bonds.
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LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not entered
into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring specific

performance of the controlling Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this report are set out on pages 55 to 6l
in the section headed "Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”

to this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract

with the Company for a term of three years.

Each of the non-executive Directors including independent non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The above appointments are
always subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of

Directors under the Articles of Association.
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None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 31 December
2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
had any interest in a business, apart from the business of our Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our

business, and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was

entered into or existed during the year ended 3| December 2024.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which he was taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to
therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Name of Directors Nature of interest

EERBEITRAERAQAHEE
AT AE B 5 B Y IR 40 B AE B IR 10 I fR 4
HEPNERRAR

F2024F12A318 » ARBRIEERFETHRAR
RARB REBE ZE(ETERBSFRBER
BIEXVE) AR - AR O REREPHES
QEEBEEHFRMEROEXVEFETRESD
ABNARBRBIFAMERIAR (BER
BEFLHERIIBRBIGXEREENIRRHE
BEREZEAR) ROBIEESKBEGEH
SB35 B E A K FT I8 ) B it A A s 2K
B R (ORBIZAEST A E B A AR B KA AT
MIERBABIT :

Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
ordinary shares issued share
interested® capital®

BHAESEN HXRFACHTR

EEfS BEME ERERBEO AEHEIHLO
Dr. TONG® Interest in a controlled corporation 46,500,270 (L) 10.39%
EELO X rEER
Beneficial owner 2,500,000 (L) 0.56%
ERmBEAA
Dr. NI® Beneficial owner 1,862,500 (L) 0.42%
ZiELo EDmBEAA
B 5 B o

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Dr. TONG held the entire share capital of KT International Investment Limited,
which directly held 46,500,270 Shares as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly,
Dr. TONG was deemed to be interested in 46,500,270 Shares held by KT
International Investment Limited. In addition, Dr. TONG held 2,500,000
unvested restricted shares under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme of the
Company as at 31 December 2024.

(3)  Dr. NI held 1,862,500 unvested restricted shares under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme of the Company as at 31 December 2024.

(4)  The calculation is based on the total number of 447,499,600 Shares in issue of the
Company as at 3| December 2024.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any of the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or ()
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best of the Company's and the
Directors’ knowledge, the following persons, not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be entered
in the register of interest required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:
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=

FTERRRRORAEBRO O EDR K
KRB

20241 A318 - EARBE REERFRA - A
THARRAESIERTHRABZATRAEAR
AN KBERNDTEEREZ SR TR
BIEXVE 2 R E3D BHVE AR AR REL
BEAEDZSAR  ABRBEEFRBEEMNE
XVERE336IE B AR R BT E A & 50t oo 4
WmYKE

Approximate
Number of percentage of

underlying shareholding

Name Nature of interest shares( interest®
s
=L EEtE HERGHBO BMAUBEDTEE®
KT International Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 46,500,270 (L) 10.39%
EREAA
Zhuhai Gree Group Co., Ltd.®) Interest in controlled corporation 24,873,500 (L) 5.56%
WEBHIEBARQFO HEEEER
Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Beneficial owner 24,873,500 (L) 5.56%
Management Co. Ltd.®) EmEAA
KERNERMIREETEBRARO
BAhEEERATF

F 3R 2024
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B 5
(I)  The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Dr. TONG held the entire issued share capital of KT International Investment
Limited, which directly held 46,500,270 Shares as at 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, Dr. TONG was deemed to be interested in 46,500,270 Shares held
by KT International Investment Limited.

(3)  Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co. Ltd (3X /81§ h & @ik &
EIEHMAF]) is a company established under the laws of China, principally
engaged in equity investment, capital operation management, asset management,
asset restructuring, mergers and acquisitions and financial advisory services. The
ultimate shareholder of Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co. Ltd
is Zhuhai Gree Group Co., Ltd. (Bk/81& 1 & B B R X 7)), a company owned
and supervised by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the local government of Zhuhai, Guangdong Province in China.

(4)  The calculation is based on the total number of 447,499,600 Shares in issue of the
Company as at 3| December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or which would be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

2020 EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme was approved and adopted
by our Board on 31 March 2020. The purpose of the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme is to incentivise senior management and employees
for their contribution to the Group, and to attract and retain skilled
and experienced personnel for the future growth of the Group by
providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests in our
Company. The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme is funded by existing
Shares of the Company only.
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Administration of the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme

The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board in accordance with the rules of the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme. The Board may delegate the
authority to administer the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
to a designated administrator (the "Administrator”), being
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The Board may also
appoint one or more persons to assist in the administration of
the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme as the Board thinks fit.

The Board's or the Administrator's determinations under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme need not be uniform and
may be made by it selectively with respect to persons who are

granted, or are eligible to be granted Awards under it.

Each participant of the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (the
“Participant”) waives any right to contest, amongst other
things, the Awards or equivalent value of cash underlying the
Awards and the Board’s administration of the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme. Any decision taken by the Board as regards

the eligibility of a person will be final and binding.

Awards

An Award may be granted in the form of RSA or RSU under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme. An RSA consists of Restricted
Shares, which are shares granted to the Participant under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme that are subject to such vesting
and transfer requirements as the Board shall determine, and such
other conditions as set forth in the rules of the 2020 Employee

Incentive Scheme.
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(3) Participants in the 2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme

Persons eligible to receive Awards under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme (“Eligible Persons”) include existing
employees and officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
excluding any person who is resident in a place where the
award of the Shares and/or the vesting of the transfer of the
Shares pursuant to the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme is
not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or
where in the view of the Board or the Trustee as the case may
be, compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such place
makes in necessary or expedient to exclude such person. The
Board selects the Eligible Persons to receive Awards under the

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme at its discretion.

(4) Grant and acceptance

(a) Making an offer

An offer to grant Awards will be made to an Eligible Person
selected by the Board (“Selected Person”) by a letter
("Grant Letter”). The Grant Letter shall specify the
Selected Person’s name, the manner of acceptance of the
Awards, the type of Award, whether RSA or RSU and
the number of underlying Restricted Shares or Shares,
as the case may be, represented by the Awards, the
vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting schedule, the
consideration payable upon vesting and method of payment
(where applicable) and such other details as the Board
considers necessary. The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
does not specify a minimum vesting period. The exercise
prices for the RSA or RSU granted were determined
based on, inter alia, the subscription price in the pre-IPO

fundraising rounds of the Company.

(b) Acceptance of an offer

A Selected Person may accept an offer for the grant of
Awards in such manner as set out in the Grant Letter.
Once accepted, the Awards are deemed granted from the
date of the Grant Letter. No consideration is payable on

acceptance of an offer for the grant of Awards.
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(™)

(c) Maximum entitlement of each participant

There is not specific limit on the maximum entitlement
of each participant under the 2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares underlying the
RSUs and Restricted Shares

The maximum number of Shares underlying the RSUs and
Restricted Shares that may be granted under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding Awards that have
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of
Shares underlying the RSUs or Restricted Shares (as the case
may be) held or to be held by the Trustee for the purpose of
the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme from time to time but
shall not exceed 23,613,590 Shares. As at the date of this report,
4,388,865 Shares of our Group are available for grant under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme, representing approximately
0.98% of the total issued Shares.

Appointment of the Trustee
The Company has appointed Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong

Kong) Limited as the Trustee to assist with the administration
and vesting of Awards granted pursuant to the 2020 Employee

Incentive Scheme.

Term of the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme

The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective
for a period of ten years, commencing from the date of the first
grant of the Awards, being 31 March 2020 (unless it is terminated

earlier in accordance with its terms).
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8 ERHBEMNFE
T AE 2202412 A31H IEFE R 152020
FREMBFIELERNFS:

(8) Details of Awards granted

The following are details of the Awards granted pursuant to

the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme during the year ended 3|

104

December 2024:
Number of Number Number Number Number Number of
unvested of Awards of Awards of Awards of Awards unvested
Awards as granted vested cancelled lapsed Awards as at
at | January during the during the during the during the 31 December
Grantee and position Date of grant Exercise price per Share 2024 year year year year 2024
R20245F R20245F
1818 124318
HABEN FAREN FAREN FAEIHN FRAXEN HABEEN
ARARBH RHBH BRITEE RBYE RBEA RBEA RBEA MR RMEA
Directors
EZ
Tong Youzhi 25 April 2024 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 2,500,000 0 0 0 2,500,000
ERZ 2024448250 BRA00402E T
Tranche D: HKDI
BRD AT
Xiang Ni 30 September 2023 Tranche A: US$0.0442 1,300,000 0 0 1,000,000 0 300,000
7R 2023494308 BRA00402E T
Tranche C: HKD3.5
BRC: 35T
25 April 2024 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 1,562,500 0 0 0 1,562,500
202445 4H258 BRA 004423 T
Tranche D: HKDI
#RD: 1B
Qun Lu (retired on 30 September 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 200,000 0 0 0 200,000 0
20 June 2024 ) 2021694308 BRA:00402E T
P Bf (7220245 6 A Tranche B: US$1.91515
208 RE) BRB191515% T
20 September 2023 Tranche C: HKD3.5 400,000 0 0 400,000 0 0
2023F9A20R #HIRC:358 T
10 April 2024 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 400,000 0 0 400,000 0
2024547108 #IRA:0.0402F T

Tranche D: HKDI
HRD: 1T

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



-

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EERRE
Number of Number Number Number Number Number of
unvested of Awards of Awards of Awards of Awards unvested
Awards as granted vested cancelled lapsed Awards as at
at | January during the during the during the during the 31 December
Grantee and position Date of grant Exercise price per Share 2024 year year year year 2024
20245 R2024%
1A18 12A31H
HAGEN FAREN FAEEN FSAEHEMN FRAEX¥N HAEED
BABRARBB REAH BRITEE #BYE HBYE HBYE #BYE HBYE RBYE
Five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period
RFEHENEERGHHA L
31 March 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 144,925 0 72462 0 0 72,463
20216 3A318 HIRA: 00402 T
Tranche B: US$191515
BIRB 191515 T
30 September 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 60,000 0 30,000 0 0 30,000
202199A308 HIRA: 00402 T
Tranche B: US$191515
BIRB: 191515% T
8 October 2022 Tranche A: US$0.0442 6,000 0 3,000 0 0 3,000
2022610488 BIRA: 00402 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BIRB: 191515 T
20 September 2023 Tranche C:HKD3.5 270925 0 0 270925 0 0
2023F9A208 BRC:35% T
30 September 2023 Tranche A: US$0.0442 2,768,000 0 0 2,174,000 0 594,000
2023F9A308 BIRA: 00402 T
Tranche C:HKD3.5
#RC:35% T
10 April 2024 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 2,482,425 0 0 0 2482425
2024547108 BIRA: 00402 T
Tranche D: HKDI
BRD: 1T
25 April 2024 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 4,062,500 0 0 0 4,062,500
20244250 BIRA: 00402 T
Tranche D: HKDI
BRD: BT
Other employees
BEtES
31 March 2020 Tranche A: US$0.0442 846,239 0 816,439 0 29,800 0
20206 3A31R BRA 004423 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BRB191515% T
31 March 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 349,950 0 140,500 0 94,700 114,750
20216 3A31R BRA 004423 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BRB191515% T
30 September 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 264,838 0 12,900 0 239,038 12,900
20214F9R30R #RA 004423 T
Tranche B: US$I91515
BRB 191515 T
8 October 2022 Tranche A: US$0.0442 482,425 0 119,775 0 309,225 53425
20226 10A8A #RA 004423 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BRB 191515 T
20 September 2023 Tranche C:HKD3.5 2,208,289 0 0 1,737,139 471,150 0
2023F9A20AR #HIRC:35B T
30 September 2023 Tranche A: US$0.0442 700,200 0 0 537,000 43,000 120,200
20234%9A30R #RA 004423 T
Tranche C:HKD3.5
#HIRC:358 T
10 April 2024 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 7,024,139 0 0 1,269,250 5,754,889
20245 4410R #RA 004423 T

Tranche D: HKDI
#ED: BT

BARERARAT
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Notes:

(1) On 31 March 2020, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 1,843,410 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details were as
followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2022. Actually, 25% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 25% were given up;

(b)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2023. Actually, 12.5% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 12.5% were given up;

(©)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2024. On 20 September 2023, the grantees agreed to cancel
12.5% of the Awards and an equivalent number of Awards were issued
to them at a new exercise price (“2023 Exercise Price”). On |9 March
2024, due to changes in market conditions, as the 2023 Exercise Price no
longer provided incentives to the grantees, the grantees agreed to cancel
the relevant Awards again and Awards at a new exercise price of HKDI.0
per Share (the “2024 Re-grant Arrangement’) were issued to them
on 10 April 2024. The vesting date for this part of the Awards is expected
to be 31 March 2025. The remaining 12.5% of the Awards were vested on
31 March 2024.

(2)  On 31l March 2021, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 3,509,000 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details were as
followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2023. Actually, 25% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 25% of the Awards were given up;

(b)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2024. Actually, 12.5% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

(©)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2025. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement.

(3) On 30 September 2021, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 2,008,220
underlying Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details
were as followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 30 September 2023. Actually, 25% of the Awards were vested on that
day, and the remaining 25% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

(b)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 30 September 2024. Actually, 12.5% of the Awards were vested on that
day, and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted
and scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-
grant Arrangement;

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 30 September 2025. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 3| March 2026 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement.

On 8 October 2022, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 1,139,950 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details were as
followed:

@

Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2024. Actually, 25% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 25% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 3| March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2025. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3l March 2026. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2026 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement.

On 20 September 2023, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 2,783,827
underlying Shares were granted to the first four batches of selected participants
(participants awarded on 3| March 2020, 31 March 2021, 30 September 202I
and 8 October 2022, respectively) (“First Four Batches of Selected
Participants”), to make up the same amount of Awards that were voluntarily
given up due to changes in market conditions. Such RSUs/Restricted Shares were
originally scheduled to be vested between 31 March 2024 and 30 September

2026. This grant was replaced by 2024 Re-grant Arrangement afterwards.

On 30 September 2023, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 3,468,200
underlying Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details

were as followed:

@

(b)

©

Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2025 or 30 September 2025. 25% of the Awards will be
vested as scheduled, and the remaining 25% of the Awards were cancelled,
re-granted and scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the
2024 Re-grant Arrangement;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2026 or 30 September 2026. 12.5% of the Awards will
be vested as scheduled, and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were
cancelled, re-granted and scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2026
according to the 2024 Re-grant Arrangement;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2027 or 30 September 2027. 12.5% of the Awards will
be vested as scheduled, and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were
cancelled, re-granted and scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2026
according to the 2024 Re-grant Arrangement.

Q)

©
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(7)  On 10 April 2024, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 5,787,500 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants. The closing price of the Shares
on 9 April 2024 was HKDO0.93. The vesting details were as followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards will be vested on 31 March 2025;
(b)  Approximately 50% of the Awards will be vested on 31 March 2026.

(8) On 25 April 2024, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 2,500,000 underlying
Shares were granted to our executive Director Dr. TONG and 1,562,500
underlying Shares were granted to our executive Director Dr. NI (including
1,000,000 underlying Shares to compensate for Dr. NI's Awards cancelled on 19
March 2024 pursuant to the 2024 Re-grant Arrangement). The closing price of
the Shares on 24 April 2024 was HKDO0.95. The vesting details were as followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards will be vested on 31 March 2025;
(b)  Approximately 50% of the Awards will be vested on 31 March 2026.

(9)  In 2024, the weighted average closing price of the Shares on the days before the
vesting dates was approximately HKDO.87 (the vesting dates being 31 March
2024 and 30 September 2024).

(10)  Please refer to Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the fair value of Awards at the dates of grant and the accounting standard and
policy adopted in relation to the Awards granted during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or
any of their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or any other

body corporate, or had exercised any such right.
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code, the Company has established the Remuneration
Committee to formulate remuneration policies. The remuneration
is determined and recommended based on each Director’s
and senior management personnel’s qualification, position and
seniority. As for the independent non-executive Directors, their
remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation
from the Remuneration Committee. The remuneration of senior
management is determined by the Remuneration Committee upon

recommendation from the Company.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and
the five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 38, Note 35 and

Note 10, respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office.

For the year ended 3| December 2024, two directors were granted
discretionary bonuses of a total sum of RMBO0.28 million as set
out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors were paid special bonuses or

discretionary bonuses for the year ended 31 December 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 3| December 2024 are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated

financial statements contained in this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements constitute connected transaction or

continuing connected transaction of the Company.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries, and any of its controlling Shareholders or

subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) of
the Company during the year ended 3| December 2024. As at 3|
December 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Directors are also
not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or
threatened against the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Top-up Placing in 2022

The Top-up Placing 2022 was conducted by the Company for
the purpose of supplementing the Group's long-term funding
of its expansion plan and growth strategies, as well as providing
an opportunity to raise further capital for the Company whilst
broadening the shareholder base and the capital base of the

Company.

Completion of the subscription under the Top-up Placing 2022 took
place on 16 December 2022. The proceeds received by the Company
was approximately HK$509.1 million, net of professional fees and
out-of-pocket expenses. On 28 March 2023, the Board resolved to
reallocate the use of the net proceeds to optimise the utilisation of

such net proceeds (the “Revised Allocation”).
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of the use of the net

proceeds as at 3| December 2024:
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EEgRE

TREFHEEZ204FE12A3BRERIEFRE S
1B A A48

Expected
timeline for
utilizing the
Utilised net remaining
proceeds Unutilised net balance of net
Approximate Revised Unutilised net during the proceeds as at proceeds from
% of total net  Allocation of proceeds up to Reporting 31 December the top-up
proceeds net proceeds | January 2024 Period 2024  placing
B 220245 BZ20245 HABANEER
R ERE i & 1818 REHA 12A31R  HEEMEREF
REAEN NEFEN HAXBAR CBARE HABRARE BHNRADA
BRELE EBTIE BREFE RERE REFE KEEX
%  HKD’million  HKD’million = HKD’million  HKD’million
% BEER BEER BEEER BEER
Clinical development of KX-826 for 49.0 249.5 164.2 1147 49.5  Expected to be fully
the treatment of AGA and acne utilised by
vulgaris 31 December
2025
KX-826)8 % it & J% 22 1R M) e R T R20055F
ks 12A31RA1 2 8
E))id
Clinical development of GT20029 270 1375 93.8 244 694 Expected to be fully
for the treatment of AGA and utilised by
acne vulgaris 31 December
2025
GT20029)% % it £ o 22 18 80 6 IR T R20055F
kS 2A3IARI2H
BH
Clinical development and 150 764 = — —
preparation for the
commercialisation of
pruxelutamide for the treatment
of COVID-19
LR BRIGECOVID- 198 R K 5
EREEEEL
General working capital 9.0 458 — — —
~REERS
M BREBRAA GEAUEESSEEMETT -
Total 100.0 509.1 2580 139.1 1189
EH
Note: Totals may not add up due to rounding.
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The Revised Allocation was due to the calm down of COVID-19
pandemic and intense competition in the COVID-19 oral small
molecule drug market, as a result of which the Company decided
to reduce the expenditure on pruxelutamide’'s COVID-19 clinical
trials and reallocate the use of the unutilised proceeds on the R&D
of KX-826 and GT20029. In addition, given the setback on the KX-
826 phase Il clinical trial carried out in 2023 for the treatment of
male AGA in China, the Company had reviewed the entire trial
process and, analysed the reasons and lessons learned. Since then, the
Company has delayed subsequent clinical trials, introduced further
improvements on measures, in order to enhance the clinical quality
control standard. As a result of the foregoing, the expected timeline
for the utilization of the unutilised proceeds was postponed until the
end of 2025.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of
public float under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as well as
preserving the interests of the shareholders as a whole. The Company
has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own
code to govern its corporate governance practices. Information on
the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 62 to 86 of this
annual report. In the opinion of the Directors, save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions contained in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.
The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wallace Wai Yim YEUNG, Dr. Michael Min XU
and Prof. Liang TONG. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr.
Wallace Wai Yim YEUNG. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Audit Committee has also discussed
with the management and the independent auditors of the Company
the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Company and
discussed internal control and financial reporting matters (including
the review of the audited annual results for the year ended 3l
December 2024) of the Group. The Audit Committee considered
that the annual results are in compliance with the applicable
accounting standards, laws and regulations, and the Company has
made appropriate disclosures thereof.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who was re-appointed as the auditor of
the Company at the annual general meeting (“AGM") dated 20 June
2024. A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers and to
authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration were dully passed by
the shareholders as ordinary resolutions of the Company at the AGM.
PricewaterhouseCoopers has been the auditor for our Company for

the past three years.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other plans for

material investments and capital assets.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 March 2025, Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceutical Inc., a subsidiary of
the Company, has obtained a bank credit quota of RMB70,000,000
from Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Suzhou Branch, with
an availability period of 3 years, secured by certain land use right,
buildings and construction in progress. The Group has drawn down a
bank loan of RMB35,000,000 in March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there are no important events affecting the

Group which have occurred since the end of the Reporting Period.

By order of the Board
Dr. Youzhi Tong
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 29 April, 2025

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BERMREAREHE

20254F3A18H + AN F) AT BB A B AR N 5 ¥R B2
ERODBRATN EBHRERBITEHRMNDIT
B/ A RB70000000HIRITEERE &
ZEHIR A3FE UMD L ERE - BFRE
EIREER - AEEMR2025F3A2RIRIT
B XA R #35,000,0007C °

BLEAREEN  BREHERE  SHEHLE
FEARBNERZRIA -

EEFE W
ERzEt
EFETE

A% 0 2025% 48298



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

The consolidated financial statements of Kintor Pharmaceutical
Limited (the “Company’) and its subsidiaries (the “Group’), which

are set out on pages 122 to 249, comprise:

* the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3|
December 2024;

* the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the

year then ended;

*  the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

* the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then

ended; and

* the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3l
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
IESBA Code.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw your attention to Note 2.| to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that, the Group has voluntarily suspended
the R&D activities for certain drug candidates and has had no drug
candidates ready for commercialization, yet. For the year ended 3l
December 2024, the Group incurred a net loss of RMBI55,292,000
and net operating cash outflow amounted to RMB199,080,000.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets of
RMB5,051,000. On the same date, the Group had current bank
borrowings of RMBII1,763,000 and trade and other payables of
RMB53,111,000 and cash and cash equivalents of RMBI147,419,000.
These conditions, along with other matters described in Note 2.1
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined matter described below to be
key audit matter to be communicated in our report.
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The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to Impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E') and

In-licenses and In-process Research and Development (“IPR&D") in

the intangible assets.

Key Audit Matter

HRETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEFNAEERRETSHE

Impairment assessment of PP&E and In-licenses and
IPR&D in the intangible assets

ME BERRBUREFLEENFIRERETHOH
BB E R

Refer to notes 4(b), 4(c), 14,
consolidated financial statements.
BLHRAETERERPH E40) 40 - 14 ~ 16 ~ 417 -
41.85419 -

16, 41.7, 41.8 and 41.9 to the

As at 3| December 2024, the net carrying amount of the
Group's PP&E, In-licenses and IPR&D in the intangible assets
which are not yet ready to use amounted to approximately
RMBI164,645,000, RMB24,128,000 and RMBI24,173,000,
respectively.
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FEDRIK R ARE164,6450007T - A R #24,1280007T &
A B ¥124,173,0007T ©

The PP&E and intangible assets are subject to impairment
assessments when there is an indication of impairment. Intangible
assets with an indefinite useful life are subject to impairment
assessments annually.
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We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of estimation of
recoverable amounts of the PP&E, In-licenses and IPR&D
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity and susceptibility to management bias.
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We assessed management'’s identification of the CGU
and the allocation of assets to the CGUs for the purpose
of impairment assessment.
HAFFETEEEBHRSEEEMNBD R
BFEENSEE P KERSELEMMNIER

We assessed the competence, capability and objectivity
of the independent external valuation expert.
HAFFETBILIBEEEROHEFS - 6
BHIE -

Pk

We assessed management's future cash flow forecasts
and the significant managements judgements used in
determining the recoverable amounts. Our procedures
included:
HAFETEREBOARKASRERNALRAR
ErAROSBENEREREHE - HAANRERF
B

e comparing management's historical estimation with
actual results;

- EREEEMNBEMGEFREERER

*  assessing the valuation methodology adopted by
reference to the applicable accounting standards;
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Key Audit Matter

BRETEER

Impairment assessment of PP&E and In-licenses and
IPR&D in the intangible assets (Continued)

ME - BERBRBARERLEENFIERETHON
R B R 5 ()

Management identified relevant cash generating unit (“CGU")
or group of CGUs and engaged an independent external
valuation expert to assist them in assessing the recoverable
amount of the PP&E, the individual In-licenses and IPR&D.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal ("FVLCOD") and the value in use. The significant
management judgements adopted in the determination of
recoverable amount include success rate of commercialisation,
market penetration rate, revenue growth rate, forecasted
percentage of costs and operating expenses, and discount rates.
EREBNEREEAEM(REELEENDEE S
EAEBMAR  WEE—UBIIIDEEER - LR
REFEYER BMELRE  BEFAZELETHHM
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We focused on this area because of the significance of the
balances of PP&E, In-licenses and IPR&D and the high degree
of uncertainty, including the complexity and subjectivity of
management estimates involved in determining the recoverable
amounts and the significant management judgements adopted.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNEFTNNEEARETER

*  evaluating appropriateness of assumptions, including
success rate of commercialisation, revenue growth
rate and market penetration rate with reference to
industry data;

- ZETRHEBFAGRIOHEEE BEEX
LRI E WHRERENHIHEEE

* comparing forecasted percentage of costs and
operating expenses to the operating results of
comparable companies in the industry, taking into
consideration of market trends;

- REBRMHBY  BRAMKEFARIE
HEEAT B R AR RS R A ETHLE:

e assessing the discount rates for CGUs by
referencing to the comparable companies in the
pharmaceutical industry and recalculating the
weighted average cost of capital for CGUs, as well
as considering territory specific factors;

- BBESERETENABLBRARL EHG
BRSELEEMUMMNEFHYERMA - AR
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»  evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
management on the key assumptions used in the
cash flow forecasts to assess the potential impacts
on the impairment assessment.

- FHEEEERRSREBRITEANTIER
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We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related
to the impairment assessment of PP&E, In-licenses and
IPR&D in the consolidated financial statements.
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Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that management’s judgements and estimation in the
impairment assessment of PP&E, In-licenses and IPR&D
were supported by the evidence we gathered.
ERPETRERF  RARBEMMKENZER
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited 2024 Annual Report (the
“annual report”) other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained some of the
other information including company profile, corporate information,
financial highlights, business highlights, management discussion and
analysis, and financial summary prior to the date of this auditor’s
report. The remaining other information, including chairman’s
statement, profiles of directors and senior management, corporate
governance report and directors’ report and the other sections to be
included in the annual report, is expected to be made available to us
after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights

and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.
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*  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is NG Tsun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GASEWES
LETHWR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

Year e

nded 3|1 December

BZ12A3IALEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 ARB®TRT ARETE
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEAH W= 5,000 —
Cost of sales RPN (9,730) (42,229)
Gross loss E2E | (4,730) (42,229)
Other income and expenses Hi A K& 6 21,948 20,867
Marketing costs & 3H B A 7 (26,558) (6,984)
Administrative expenses THAX 7 (61,825) (89,045)
Research and development costs o 25 B AR 7 (78,143) (938,907)
Other gains/(losses)-net Hi Wz (EHR)F8 8 5,946 (2925)
Net impairment losses on financial and TRREHNEEREBERKX
contract assets FHR 3.1(b) (1,206) —
Operating loss REEE (144,568) (1,059,223)
Finance costs B 75 B R 9 (9,277) (9.690)
Share of (losses)/gains of an associate and DB ERRREEDE
a joint venture (B8R),/ s 17,18 (1,429) 52
Loss before income tax BRATSBLAIEE (155,274) (1,068,861)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fsfi (B8R EBI1A Il (18) 8,041
Loss and total comprehensive loss for AT EHZFEAEEFER
the year attributable to the equity BEERZEERAH
holders of the Company (155,292) (1,060,820)
Basic and diluted loss per share for loss ZNATEHFHEABEE R
attributable to the equity holders of EmBREBRER
the Company (in RMB) (AE¥T) 13 (0.36) (2.47)
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should fE B BE Bt 2 MY 5 — GF RS

X2
'_'_
En
o
Hp
B
=

)
il
ﬁ

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. = o

BARERARAF
15 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R

AS AT 3| DECEMBER 2024
R2024F 12 A31H

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
120245 20234
12A31H 125318
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBTRT AR®TET
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BREKEE [4 164,645 184,366
Intangible assets EmREEE 16 148,949 148,940
Investment in an associate REtE RAINERE |7 16,108 17484
Investment in a joint venture RELRLENRE 18 460 513
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 9,589 37,477
Other non-current assets HMIEREEE 19 3,645 7,895
343,396 396,675
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 21 2,215 —
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments E A fENFRIE « & K FENS
I 22 21,665 15,798
Time deposits T HITFE 5 24 — 10,835
Restricted cash X R &R 2 25 431 425
Cash and cash equivalents RekReZEEY 25 147,419 445,499
171,730 472,557
Total assets EEH#E 515,126 869,232
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities RBEME
Borrowings & 26 20,000 133,400
Lease liabilities HERE 27 — 2,290
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFMERAE 30 31,043 31,043
Deferred income U PN 28 3,324 19,657
54,367 186,390

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE BRI E

AS AT 3| DECEMBER 2024
R2024F 12 A31H

As at As at
31 December 3| December
2024 2023
A20245 F20234F
124318 12H31H
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt 5E ARBTRE ARETrX
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A A RIA 29 53,111 104,500
Borrowings (EE 26 111,763 113,700
Lease liabilities HEB®RE 27 1,246 4,530
Amounts due to related parties JE 1~ B8 ek 77 SR IE 35 559 2,000
166,679 224,730
Total liabilities BEAR 221,046 411,120
Equity R &
Equity attributable to the equity AR ERTBABGER
holders of the Company
Share capital AR 31 315 315
Shares held for the Employee Incentive IE 8B E T S A RN
Scheme 32 (12) (13)
Reserves i 18 33 293,777 457,810
Total equity ERBRE 294,080 458,112
Total equity and liabilities EakaEEE 515,126 869,232

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read A FEAERRE EEBEN 2 M3 —

=]
in conjunction with the accompanying notes. o

The financial statements on pages 123 to 249 were approved by the 1238 £ 2498 B B & 3R & B 72025435268
Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf. mEZSH EVHUNTATRAZE -

Director Director

EF EF

BARERARAF
F35 2024 e



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

Shares
held for the
Share-based Employee

Share Share  compensation Incentive  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve Scheme losses equity
HRBA AES

EBH HRHE
B BAEE MfER  REORG 2iER
RMBO0) RMB00 RMBO0 RMBOO

Balance at | January 2004 R04E | BIRA &5 315 4,181,731 60,743 (13)  (3,784664) 458,112
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year EREERIABREE - - - - (155,292) (155,292)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners REEASRBEEANRS

Share-based payments (Note 32) R BER B (W3 - - ©.112) - - (,112)
Shares vested under the Employee Incentive Scheme and REEERBHAZERERE
transferred to the grantees (Note 32) ERANBRR (Wit - 28,408 (28,037) | - n
- 28,408 (37,149) | - (8,740)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RNMENA3BMEE 315 410,139 23,594 (12) (3,939,956) 294,080
Balance at | [anuary 2023 RNBEIAIBM &8 315 4103949 11478) (14) (Q723844) 1495188
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year EREERZABRES — - - — (1,060,820) (1,060820)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners REEASRREANRS
Share-based payments (Note 32) R BERM S (HE32) — - 1989 - - 2989
Shares vested under the Employee Incentive Scheme and REEEHBHASER
transferred to the grantees (Note 32) BHEERADRE (W3E) - 77782 (77008) - 755
— 71782 (54039) — B4
Balance at 31 December 203 RUOBENR3IAMEH 315 4181731 60748 (13) (3784664) 458112

N

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read VA Fam eSS e R EEES M 2 M s — 67 R

in conjunction with the accompanying notes. i e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN N —1
mEREMER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
BZE2045 12 A3IALFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IALEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 51 ARBTRT ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHBRERE
Cash used in operations KeEmARS 34 (195,242) (385,354)
Interest paid ERFE (9,286) (12,118)
Interest received B B 6,25 5,466 10,185
Income tax paid ERNMER (18) (294)
Net cash used in operating activities REFHTABESFE (199,080) (387,581)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHMERERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BEEW ¥ » BREKZE (1,538) (2,723)
Purchase of intangible assets BERTVEE (142) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BERZEMRS
plant and equipment A 233 210
Proceeds from disposal of land use rights &+ 5 A PR 1S 5B 10,430 —
Purchases of time deposits with maturities BEIHRER=EAN
of over three months 7E B fE K —_ (88,991)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERAAREBEGFERHR
through profit or loss BT AZHERD
TREE 23 (100) (48,108)
Proceeds from time deposits with maturities  Z B3 B & =1 A A £ &Y
of over three months FEHFE R B IE 10,000 87,652
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERAAREBEFEER
at fair value through profit or loss BT AZTHERD
TREEMBHIEA 23 101 48,599
Interest received from time deposits with EWHBARER=EAN
maturities of over three months T B 17 2B 1,050 1,419
Withdrawal for restricted cash R R 6 3R & — 5216
Net cash generated from investing REZHMBERESFH
activities 20,034 3,274
FRAEXERAA

F 3R 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IALEE

2024 2023
20245 20234

Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B &E ARBTRE ARBTET

Cash flows from financing activities RMETHRERERE

Principal elements of lease liabilities HEBaEASHD 34 (4,706) 4,.818)
Proceeds from borrowings BRFT1SKIA 34 34,283 70,000
Proceeds from shares vested under the B E 8 BBt &

Employee Incentive Scheme and transferred 5% & & 88 7 2= A & A B

to the grantees B 17 AT 15 B 32 372 755
Repayments of borrowings EEER 34 (149,620) (99,400)
Net cash used in financing activities METBHMARSER (119,671) (33,463)
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREEEYRD FHE

equivalents (298,717) (417,770)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ~ FHIH SRR EEFEEY

of the year 444,027 864,470
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash RekAeEBYNER

equivalents Wa(E518) 2,109 (2,673)

Cash and cash equivalents at theend FREERBEESZEEY
of the year 25 147,419 444,027

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in NEEEESREREEREW 2 M — 5
conjunction with the accompanying notes. o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

I GENERAL INFORMATION

l.I General information

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited (the “Company’”) was
incorporated on 16 May 2018 in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KYI-I111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group”)
are principally engaged in research and development of
innovative medicine products and extending to functional

cosmetics.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 22 May
2020.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB’") thousands, unless otherwise stated.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to both the years

presented, unless otherwise stated.

—REH

LI —REH
FAZZARAR(RAT])  —KRN
018FSAIARBEHAERSAFIAR
FHERSTMAIZINEREERAR -
H oF it 3% =5 B2 i 4F /3 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KYI-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARBR/—REEEZERAR - ARQF
FEWBRAR(RHEIAEE])EZHK
EMBAGTEER  WEMEINEEMN
ez e

RATIRMD D B2020FE5 AN E B
BAXGHAER AR ER LT

R BRMBAN  NEREMBEHRRUAA
RETAR®ED TR -

WAUEE S HREMNRENS
1t

RESEVBHRRAEANTIZSFTER
FIWMT - REBEERI  RAARFER
BREAZEHE -

BARERARAF
15 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with IFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB
(“IFRS Accounting Standards”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622.

(ii) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL) which are carried

at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise judgement in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are material to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note
4,

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 RBEE SRR BEENSE
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY &)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

9

2.1 REEEE)
(i) FRELERE

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii) Going concern basis

The Group has voluntarily suspended the R&D
activities for certain drug candidates and has had
no drug candidate ready for commercialization, yet.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group incurred a net loss of RMBI155,292,000 and net
operating cash outflow amounted to RMB199,080,000.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current
assets of RMB5,051,000. On the same date, the Group
had current bank borrowings of RMBIII,763,000
and trade and other payables of RMB53,111,000
and cash and cash equivalents of RMBI47,419,000.
These conditions and events indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt over the Group's ability to continue as a going

concern.

AEEEBEREEE TEHREY
R 3RS - B s R BT ER
BY R E T ML o B E 202445
RARAILEFE  AEEELEE
B2 A R #5155,292,0007 K #&& &
&ML F 5 A R #199,080,000
TG ° FR2024%F 12 A31H - AEER
REE E FE A A RS5051,000
TeAB AEE®RBRITE
HEANRE117630007T 0 EH K
H b & IB A A KR H53,111,000
T BHEkReEEVMAARKE
147,419,0007T ° A E1ER REIEEK
AEEAESI B AREFEL
ERNEEBEAERNEATE
E

BAhEEBIRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii) Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of such circumstance, the directors of the

Company have carefully considered the Group's

available sources of financing and its operating

performance in assessing whether the Group will

have sufficient financial sources to continue as a going

concern for at least twelve months from 31 December

2024. The following plans and measures have been

implemented to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to

improve the financial position of the Group:

(i)

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

The Group has continued to seek renewal of
its existing bank credit quotas upon maturity to
secure source of financing from bank borrowings.
In March 2025, the Group renewed its bank
credit quota of RMB70,000,000 which were
secured by certain land use right, buildings and
construction in progress and has drawn down a
bank loan of RMB35,000,000.

The Group is actively seeking equity financing
and has been in negotiation with certain potential
investors for subscribing to the Company’'s new

shares.

The Group has been proactively pursuing
cooperation opportunities with other potential
business partners in the biotech industry by

licensing out certain drug candidates.

The Group has been actively expanding sales
channels for its cosmetics product to improve its

operating results and cash flows.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

RREE SHBRENEENS
&)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(i) AL EE(E)

(iii) Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group's cash flow projection covering a period of not
less than twelve months from 31 December 2024.
Taking into account the above plans and measures
and considering the underlying bases of management’s
cash flow forecasts, the directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have funds available to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due within
the next twelve months from 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company consider
it appropriate to prepare the Group's consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, a material uncertainty
exists as to whether the Group can achieve the plans
and measures described in (i) to (iv) above. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
would depend upon:

(i) the success in timely obtaining sufficient bank
borrowings within its available bank credit quota
as needed;

i) the success in negotiating and timely closing the
g g Y 2
private equity financing transaction within the
next twelve months;

(i) the success in negotiating and timely closing the
drug candidate licensing out transactions;

(iv) the success in improving cosmetics product sales
revenue.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above
plans and measures such that it would not be able
to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values
of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise,
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Amendments to standards adopted by the
Group

The following amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the

financial year beginning on | January 2024:

Standards

.|

2 mEEE SEHBERNH

)

2.1 MREEE)

i
=
Rk

@) FEBERAERETE

KEBD R204F I HIBHEBER

7K

Key requirements

EFERE

BIFE B IR R A AT ZERIMEET

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning

on or after
RELT BEI SR
ZEBAEHN
SFHBEXR

Amendments to IAS |

e St 2R ISR
(&3] A)
Amendments to |AS |

BB & st E R F 15

(BT A)
Amendment to IFRS 16
B % B 75 R o 2E Bl S 165 (B AT %)
Amendment to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
e R ET75H R

B B B 75 R e 2E BN SR 755%

(BT 7A)

Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current

HAEDBRREBKIERE

Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants

MmRHENIERBBIE

Leases on Sale and Leaseback
SRHEREE
Supplier Finance Arrangements

HEBBE B

| January 2024
20241 A1H
| January 2024
20241 A1H
| January 2024
20241 A1H

| January 2024
20241 H1H

A EHER M B AR E R
BRI|EMRAL BEANFZE - 7N
BAEBYPAE -

These new standards and interpretations did not
have material impact on the financial performance
and position of the Group and did not require

retrospective adjustments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted

The following new standards and amendments to
standards have not come into effect for the financial
year beginning on | January 2024 and have not
been early adopted by the Group in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. None of these is
expected to have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. These standards

and amendments to standards are as follows:

REPBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

mBEEE S HRENMEENS

9

2. REEEE)
(b) IR ITEAR 32 5E

5 2 Rl e 2 RIE BT 2K 122024
FIAIB AN ERFERKRE
M BRREFRE M B RREAL
BEANKRERPRM - ZFEL
BERTEHARBENGES MK R

REEEATE - ZSEARE
AMEET A& T -

Effective for
accounting

periods

beginning

Standards Key requirements on or after
RUT B8

ZEBBN

]| FERE ERHBEEXR
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability | January 2025
B B & 5T R A1 5821 5% (B RT AX) BRZ A BT 202541 18

Amendment to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

B % B 755 ¥ o 22 R S0 5% Ko B R B 7 R o5 2R R
S5 (BFTA)

Annual improvements to IFRS

50 5% B 55 S o5 2 R B 4F 2 B

IFRS 18

B B B 755 ¥ 5 BRI 55 1855k
IFRS 19

B B B 765 3 45 2E R BB 19 5%
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

B B B 7 R 5 R RSB 1055 M B BR & 5t 4RI 5528
5t (B 5T A)

Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

ERMTEANDBLAE

Volume ||

Bl%

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

MBHRERPHE2IREE

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures

FAHZAEEMBAT:
=

Sale or Contribution of Assets
Between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

REEZEHEBE RNEK
EETECZHEELE

| January 2026
20261 A8
| January 2026
202651 A1H
| January 2027

20274F1 AR
| January 2027

20271 A1H

To be determined

FE

BARERARAF
3R 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)

The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new or revised standards and
amendments, certain of which are relevant to the
Group's operations. According to the preliminary
assessment made by the directors, no material impact
on the financial performance and position of the

Group is expected when they become effective.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow
and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that
is not the respective group entities’ functional
currency. The Group mainly operates in the PRC
with most of the transactions settled in RMB. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SREREE#)
(Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued) @) THEEE(E)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) HNERRE)

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange
risk as there are no significant financial assets
or liabilities of the Group denominated in the
currencies other than the functional currency,
except for cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and time deposits at bank in USD and HKD
which were primarily received from the investors
as capital contributions as mentioned in Notes 24
and 25.

If US dollars had strengthened/weakened
by 4% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, net losses would have been
approximately RMB2,710,000 lower/higher as
at 31 December 2024, as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of net

monetary assets denominated in US dollars.

If HK dollars had strengthened/weakened
by 4% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, net losses would have been
approximately RMB697,000 lower/higher as at
31 December 2024, as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of net

monetary assets denominated in HK dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets and liabilities, except
for lease liabilities (Note 27), cash and cash
equivalents (Note 25), restricted cash (Note 25),
time deposits (Note 24) and borrowings (Note
26). Those carried at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk whereas
those carried at fixed rates expose the Group to

fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the
Group's borrowings were carried at fixed rates,
which exposed the Group to fair value interest

rate risk.

Management does not anticipate significant
impact to interest-bearing assets resulted from
the changes in interest rates, because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to

change significantly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SREREE#)

(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (b) 1=/ /7 B

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
time deposits and wealth management products.
The carrying amounts of receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products represent our maximum

exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, time deposits, and wealth management
products since they are substantially deposited at or
purchased from state-owned banks and other medium
or large-sized listed banks. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant losses from
non-performance by these counterparties and the loss

allowance provision is considered immaterial.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other receivables
mainly comprise receivables from disposal of land use
right, deposits to lessors in respect of the Group’s
leased properties and other receivables from a
collaborator in R&D. Considering that the other
receivables from the collaborator in R&D amounting
to RMBI,206,000 have an ageing of over one year and
the possibility of recovery is very low, a full provision

for bad debts has been made.

Management has assessed that during the year ended
31 December 2024, apart from the other receivables
from the collaborator in R&D, other receivables have
not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Thus, a |2-month expected credit loss
approach that results from possible default event
within 12 months of each reporting date is adopted
by management. The Group expects that there is no
significant credit risk associated with the remaining
other receivables since the counterparties have no

history of default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 was determined as

follows for other receivables:

TREREE®

3. eREKREEZ)
(b) 15/HEE (&)
ok E & 04 FE 128318 &

20234 12 A31 B E b & Uk sRIE R &S
BREEBTFWNT:

More than
| year Total
1k #at
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR¥ TR
At 31 December 2024 12024128318
Expected loss rate TE BB 1B X 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount FRE 4 (E
— other receivables — H b U R TE 1,206 1,206
Loss allowance BB 1,206 1,206
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SRIERERE@W
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3. eRIEREEE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EHEE(E)

The loss allowances for other receivables as at 3l
December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as

follows:

RI2A3I8 » HitEU AR E B
BREHFYEERGHEERERNT:

Trade receivables

B 5B W R

2024 2023
20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®BTET

Opening loss allowance at | January K A1 B 85 ) & B & &
Increase in loss allowance recognised 4F A 72 18 %5 T 58 /Y &5 18 & 15

in profit or loss during the year 30 1,206 —
Closing loss allowance at RRAIBRFEREERE
31 December 1,206 —
(c) Liquidity risk (o) “EMEE

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the ability to apply
for credit facilities if necessary. The Group finances its
working capital requirements through issue of new

shares, borrowings and government grants.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s

liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SREAREE@W
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3. e ERREEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) O TmEMEEE)
The table below analyses the Group's financial TERRENEERBRAHZES
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on AR EER R REAR - R/ R
the remaining period at the balance sheet to the HARNEAEENERBES H
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in BRIELH DN - TRABREN S
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. BRENABRRERE - BN
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying IR EWTEKXR - WRI121E A
balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant. A E HR B9 45 #R B2 H BR E A5 8R4
&
Less than Between Between
| year | and2years 2and>5 years Total
IR |22 2855 At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARE T ARE T ARE T
At 31 December 2024 M2024512A318
Bank borrowings RITEX 114,426 20,220 - 134,646
Trade and other payables B5REMER
IR 47,872 — — 47,872
Amounts due to related parties  FE1S B Bt 7 FUIR 559 - - 559
Lease liabilities HEEE 1,266 — — 1,266
Total it 164,123 20,220 - 184,343
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H
Bank borrowings |ITRER 122,600 116,202 20220 259,022
Trade and other payables 85 REMER
HE 89,548 — — 89,548
Amounts due to related parties & 5 B Bt 77 SR IE 2,000 — — 2,000
Lease liabilties HERR 4710 2320 — 7,030
Total @t 218,858 118522 20220 357,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity
holders, return capital to equity holders, issue new shares

or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash. Total capital is calculated as “total
equity”, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position, plus net debt. As at 31 December 2024 and 3l
December 2023, cash and cash equivalents is more than
total borrowings of the Group, therefore, the gearing ratio

is not applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SRMERER#)

(Continued)

AERAEER Y B HRERRAER

(@) This section explains the judgements and estimates @)

made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed

under the accounting standards:

Level I: The fair values of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale
securities) are based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. The quoted market price

used for financial assets is the current bid price.

Level 2: The fair values of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market are determined
using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,

the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is

included in level 3.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end

of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Valuation techniques used to determine fair

©

values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include the use of quoted market
prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments or
discounted cash flow analysis. The Group did not
have any financial assets or liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis, with the exception of the
Group's wealth management products and foreign
currency options, which are measured at fair value
through profit or loss and which constitute Level 3
measurements under the fair value hierarchy. The
Group's wealth management products and foreign
currency options are valued based on cash flow
discounted using the expected return based on

management judgement and estimates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2024 and 3| December 2023, the
Group had no assets and liabilities measured at fair

value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SREAREE@W
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 A REEME #E)
() Fair value of financial assets and liabilities () BAABHEIENEHEERE
measured at fair value (Continued) BHRAEEE)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 T &9 B H 5 B 22024F %2023
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2024 FRANAILEFENEIEIAN
and 2023, respectively. 2E o
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
BRAABESEEESHFA
EfEENEMEE
Year ended 31 December
BENANBLFE
2024 2023
20245 20236
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETET
Opening balance F Y & — —
Additions NE 100 48,108
Disposals k-5 (1otr) (48,599)
Gains recognised in other REM U = FREERE
gains — net W & | 49
Closing balance FRE B — —

(d) Fair value of financial assets that are not

measured at fair value

The Group considers that the carrying amount of the
Group’s financial assets recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate

their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The estimates and judgements that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.

Development expenditures incurred on the Group's
research and development activities, including conducting
preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufacturing
development efforts and activities related to regulatory
filings for the Group’s drug candidates, are capitalised as
intangible assets only when the capitalisation criteria set
out in Note 41.8(b) is met. Expenditures that do not meet
these capitalisation principles are recognised as research
and development expenses. During the year ended 3|
December 2024, the Group's research and development
expenditures incurred did not meet these capitalisation

principles for any products and were expensed as incurred.

Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. The Group obtained
in-licenses and IPR&D through separate acquisition
or business combination to continue research and
development work and commercialise the products, which

are classified as intangible assets not ready for use.

4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Impairment testing of intangible assets not
ready for use (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows

(cash-generating units).

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the

asset.

The fair value was estimated using the discounted cash
flow approach. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as
success rate of commercialisation, market penetration rate,
revenue growth rate, forecasted percentage of costs and
operating expenses, and post-tax discount rate, is required
to be made by the directors in applying the discounted cash

flow approach.

For details of the impairment testing, refer to Note [6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there is any indication that the Group's property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets may be
impaired. To determine whether an impairment indicator
exist, management considers both internal and external
source of information, including the plan and progress of the
research and development projects and the prospect of the

technology.

When there is indication that property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives
may be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the relevant assets or the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong, including allocation of
corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of cash
generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating units and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. The estimated
uncertainty mainly includes gross margin, discount rate and
growth rate. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or a

further impairment loss may arise.

For details of the impairment testing, refer to Note 14 and
I5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(d) Provision for inventories

O

Provision for inventories is made for those inventories with
a carrying amount higher than net realisable value. The
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories involves
high degree of estimation uncertainties and judgement
subjectivity associated with usage of the inventories,
estimated selling prices, future sales quantities and related
processing fees and selling expenses. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will have impact on
the carrying amounts of inventories and the write-down
or write-back of inventories in the period in which such

estimate has been changed.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for the
Group'’s property, plant and equipment with reference to
the estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these assets.
Management will revise the depreciation where useful lives
are different to that of previously estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review
could result in a change in depreciable lives and therefore

depreciation charges in future periods.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(f) Deferred income tax

The Group recognises deferred tax assets based
on estimates that is probable to generate sufficient
taxable profits in the foreseeable future against which
the deductible losses will be utilised. The recognition
of deferred tax assets mainly involved management's
judgements and estimations about the timing and the
amount of taxable profits of the companies who had
tax losses. During the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these accumulated tax losses and other
deductible temporary differences based on the fact that all
drug candidates of the Company were in earlier research
and development stage and the future taxable profits would

be uncertain.

5 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS

The Group are principally engaged in research and development
of innovative medicine products and extending to functional
cosmetics. There is one team managing and operating all revenue
streams. Accordingly, management considers there is only one
segment related to cosmetic products and hence no segment

information is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

5 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

@

(b)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of cosmetic
products at a point in time in the following major product

lines and geographical regions:

Year ended B 220245
31 December 2024 RAIBLEE Cosmetic products
et m
Retail
28
Mainland
China
REIA
Revenue from external REMDE P&

customers

3,702

Overseas

5 BEFEEHWEE)

(@ BEFEWRzEDF

AREBEO W RN K ERFEEHEAT
TEEmARNMEERCAS:

Cosmetic products

44
Wholesale

e
Mainland
China
HEI Rt

Overseas

8 5 8 5

The majority of the Group's sales are through e-commerce
platforms and no revenue from transactions with a single
external customer account for 10% or more of the Group’s

revenue.

Accounting policies and significant
judgements

The Group manufactures and sells cosmetic products
through online channels such as direct online sales and
distributers.

For the majority of e-commerce customers, revenue from
the sale of products is recognised when the products are
delivered and the Group received sales and acceptance
confirmations from e-commerce customers. The risks of
obsolescence and loss are not transferred to the customers

until the Group received those confirmations.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

987 31 = 5,000
AEBBBEHFEETAISDHE -
Ni% \Eﬁiﬁ INEB R PR 5 W (A
EBEU A% A E o

(b) EFTBERERE KM B

AEEEBR EREDIMZ EEBH) KD
HARENHEE RS -

RABLEFEFME ' EMBEEKRERN
ERXNEAEEEEERTFAPMNEER
RUERARER AEEEEZSHER
% EMZBREANERFEEAETS
B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

For the distributor customers, sales are recognised when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered and the customers have inspected
and accepted the products. Distributors have full discretion
over the channel and price to sell the products, and there
is no more unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specific location. The
risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customers when either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied. Contract liability is recognised when
the Group receives consideration in advance of satisfying
a performance obligation by transferring the control of

promised good.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered
and the customers have inspected and accepted the
products as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required

before the payment is due.

The products are often sold with volume discounts based
on aggregate sales over a period of time. Revenue from
these sales is recognised based on the price specified
in the contract, net of the estimated volume discounts.
Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide
for the discounts, and revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. A refund liability (included in trade and other
payables) is recognised for expected volume discounts

payable to customers in relation to sales made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

5 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies and significant

judgements (Continued)

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, accumulated
experience is used to estimate such returns at the time of
sale. A refund liability (included in trade and other payables)
and a right to the returned goods (included in other current
assets) are recognized if material. The estimated amount of

returns are reassessed at each reporting date.

For certain payments to customers for promotion activities,
the Group did not provide a distinct good or service to
customers and therefore recorded as a deduction of sales

price.

No element of financing is deemed present as the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods is generally within one month. The
Group does not expect to have any contract containing
financing components. As a consequence, the Group does
not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of

money.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

Htt WA R &EH

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIBLEE

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETR

Government grants (Note (a)) BT 8 B (Fff 5% 2)) 17,733 8,708
Interest income from bank balances RITHE BT B WA 3,994 11,046

Interest income from time deposits EEHTF A B A 215 2,031

Income from the sales of raw materials R R SEE A —_ 501
Cost of the sales of raw materials & R R A — (1,456)
Others H it 6 37
21,948 20,867

@

The government grants related to income have been
received to compensate for the expenses of the Group’s
research and development. Some of the grants related to
income have future related costs expected to be incurred
and require the Group to comply with conditions attached
to the grants and the government to acknowledge the
compliance of these conditions. These grants related to
income were recognised in profit or loss when related
costs are subsequently incurred and the Group received

government acknowledge of compliance.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred income and they are credited to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related

assets.

@ ANEEEREREWRAE BB -
A EREB O - 8o Rl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIBLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETR
Employee benefit expenses (Note 10) & 818 7 5 & (fF 3£ 10) 72,363 167,236
Marketing and promotion expenses LR RR X 21,525 144
Clinical research expenses B PR B 9% B 2 16,748 89,783
Utilities and office expenses KEBRB AR 14,228 26212
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERZETE
equipment (Note [4) (Mg 3E14) 13,154 13,854
Impairment losses of property, plant and M R KRR ERERKX
equipment (Note 14) (Ff$5E14) 6,609 46,355
Impairment losses on other non-current assets £ 3E 7t 8) & = BB 18 2k 8,249 —
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15)  {# A & E ¥ & (M 5E15) 4,340 5,048
Less: amounts capitalised in property, BRYE - BERZEERE
plant and equipment 0 & 58 — (45)
4,340 5,003
Materials and consumables used BfFE AR MR R FEM 3,274 13702
Outsourced research and development costs  %INE Aff 3% i 7% 3,170 11,622
Professional fees HEEH 2,554 4482
Auditors’ remuneration % B AT B & 2,460 2,800
Provision for inventories (Note 21) FEB%EERE(ME2) 2,100 603,879
Rental expenses HERX 733 682
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note |6) By EEEHE(ME6) 133 19
Bank charges RITER 117 137
Impairment losses of intangible assets B EERERKX(ME6)
(Note 16) — 86,589
Impairment (reversals)/losses of right-of-use ERAEAERMEEE) 1BX
assets (Note 15) (M 7E15) (1,039) 1,128
Others Ht 5,538 3438
Total cost of sales, marketing costs, HERA - EHKAR - 1T
administrative expenses and research and X R EBEK AR EER
development costs 176,256 1,077,165

156 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024




8 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) — NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

Hittzs (K 18) 8

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIBALEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETE
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) SNEE W 3 (B518) )F 58 3,730 (3,126)
Gains on disposal of land use rights & (3 BRI & 2,776 —
Gains on disposal of financial assets HERANEBEFEAEHES
at fair value through profit or loss AEHEENEREE
Y =1 I 491
Gains on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BERRE W=
equipment | 10
Losses on disposal of leased property REHEMEEE (257) —
Others Hth (305) (300)
5,946 (2,925)
9 FINANCE COSTS 9 BMBRA
Year ended 31 December
BENRANBLFE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRET ARBTET
Interest expenses on borrowings f& R E A B R X 9,115 12,066
Less: borrowing costs capitalised in property, — J& : Y% ~ BB & & EF
plant and equipment (Note(a)) B AL B 1 R
(M E@Q) —_ (2,702)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBGBHNNERX 162 326
Finance costs B #5 AR 9,277 9,690

(@) The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of

borrowing costs was 4.24% for 2023.

@ M2023F @ AREBEEERKASTED
B Mb EB4.24% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EERABEZI(BREEZEHNS)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION)

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIBLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETET
Salaries, wages and bonuses e IERMELA 69,230 124,892
Contributions to pension plans (Note (a)) RASEIHRITER) 7,170 11,334
Housing funds, medical insurance and FEAES BERRBK
other social insurance (Note (b)) H b1+ = R b (Bt 5% (b)) 5,075 8,021
Share-based compensation (reversal)/expenses A I 1 7 25 i #Y 37 B
(Note 32) ($E 88) /59 & (Bt 5%32) 9,112) 22,989
72,363 167,236
(a) As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the (a) BEFEEEEERRTE AEEA
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement schemes R S A B K2 E R 2 #
for its employees in the PRC. The Group’s employees HoAREBREEEBBAKABIEL
make monthly contributions to the schemes at certain ‘& e ZALRIEA BEERE)—
percentages of the relevant income (comprising wages, FHHEFARtEHEZT  EF—F L
salaries, allowances and bonuses, and subject to maximum PFRFEFE » B gt 8@ AINEY IR IR 12
caps), subject to certain ceiling and has no further BANERNRYEE—SSE -
obligations for the actual payment of postretirement REENENRALAEBEENEKRES
benefits beyond the contributions. The state-sponsored A RKRBRENET

retirement schemes are responsible for the entire post-

retirement benefit obligations payable to the retired

employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no forfeited EE204F 2 B3 BIFERE - AEEH
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its (5 P B9 S8 U B 4t Z LURUE R AR
contributions for the current year (2023: nil). 4 [ B L 2R (20234F + 4®) o
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NOTES TO THE CONS

OLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EEEAHEI(BREEEME)2)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(b) Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to (b)
participate in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurance and other employee social insurance
plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions

payable in each year

(c) Five highest paid individuals ©
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
include two (2023: three) directors, whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 38. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2023: two)

individuals were as follows:

AEBRTENREAES EZIHSG
BRFEMNEELES  BRERK
HifE B g@RRTE - AEEEA
ERESFENETADL  ALkE
Ee#fX B—F LR - AEEF U
FERSAENEE USFERMNH
HRBR -

TEERESHMAL
HE204FNRANBILEFE  AEER
ZEETMALTBEMRSEQ023F =
B)EE - EFHMNAR 825 M DT
PR o BT =%2Q023F : WE)
ATEIE BT

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARETE
Basic salaries, housing allowances, EXge -  FFEER

other allowances and benefits in kind H 2 RIETEN = 4,965 3,891
Discretionary bonuses BIBTE AL 193 59
Contributions to pension scheme RIRE T8I 130 79

Share-based compensation expenses VA RR 19 /5 25 Bt 9 357 BN 9 =<
(Note (i) (B 3% (i) 3,669 5,824
8,957 9,853

BRERERAR

F 3R 2024
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mEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The remaining highest paid individuals fell within the

following bands:

10 EERAA(BRESM) )

() EEREFMALE)
BRTIERERTMALTBUATHMEE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ1RA3IBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234

Emolument bands

HKD2,000,001 — HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000
HKD4,000,001 — HKD4,500,000
HKD4,500,001 — HKD5,000,000
HKD#6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000

TR

2,000,001/ 7T — 2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001 7T — 3,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001;% 7T — 4,500,0007% 7T
4,500,001 7 7T — 5,000,000/ 7T
6,500,001 7 JT, — 7,000,000/ 7T

0] During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, restricted 0]
share units/share options were granted under the Employee

Incentive Scheme to highest paid employees in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are included in
Note 32 to the financial statements. The fair values of such granted
restricted share units/share options, which have been recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income over the vesting period,

were determined as at each of the grant dates and the amounts

included in the financial statements for the current year are included
in the above non-director highest paid employees’ remuneration

disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

Il INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT I FREH(BH) &1E

Year ended 31 December
BZN2A3IBLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTE AR®TET

ENEAPRS B (B R), " E1|
— Current tax on profits for the year — FRRVEAF 5 = —
— (Underprovision)/overprovision in prior year — B E (B#ETR), B 5

Current income tax (expense)/credit

BiE (18) 266
Deferred income tax credit EIEFTEREE — 7,775
(18) 804

(i) FFISHEHR

(i) Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which

members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the

Company is not subject to tax on income or capital gains.

Hong Kong

Kintor Science Limited, Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited
and Koshine Hong Kong Limited were incorporated in Hong
Kong in 2018 and are subject to Hong Kong profits tax
at the rate of 16.5% (2023:16.5%). Since these companies
did not have assessable profits during the years ended 3|
December 2024 and 2023, no Hong Kong profits tax has

been provided.

AEBEERANEBKE RF R & E
& B BEME (% P EE AR S BRER B R A
REREEGMNAER -

HEHFE
RERESBHERTER  ARRHA
BB H R ERN PR -

&E

Kintor Science Limited * Koshine
Pharmaceuticals Limited & 12 & /& A R
RNEIR20I8FEFAEZMAY - HAR
16.5% (20234F : 16.5%) ) % 2 85 4y & 7%
MEW - HRZFRRINE E2024F
2023512 A31 B 162 I £ & SR T s
Mo M ERFENSHAELEE -

BARERARAF
F35 2024

161



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

Il INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT
(Continued)

United States of Amevrica

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Koshine Cosmetics, Inc.
were incorporated in the United States of America and is
subject to federal and state income tax rate of 23.5% and
21.0% (2023: 23.5% and 21.0%), respectively.

Ireland

Kintor Cosmetic Holdings Limited was incorporated in
the Ireland and registered on |7 September 2024. It is
subject to corporate income tax rate of 12.5%. Since Kintor
Cosmetic Holdings Limited did not have assessable profit
during the year ended 31 December 2024, no corporate

income tax has been provided.

The Mainland of China

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
and the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”), the
subsidiaries which operate in the Mainland of China are
subject to CIT at a rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the taxable

income.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

Il FRER(BRA), S8 %E)

EY:

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. X Koshine
Cosmetics, Inc.ZEEBHFEMAK L - o 5l
B ¥223.5% I21.0% (20234 : 23.5% &
21.0%) B 5 2= 50 4 g B R MRS 3 ©

EHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I1 INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT
(Continued)

(i) Income tax expense (Continued)

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

FREH(BR) &EzE)

0)

FREBERE

The income tax on the Group's loss before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using

the enacted tax rate in the PRC applicable to the Group as

follows:

AEERMAERAEBIRNAEHRE R
IR BR R A8 A AN SR [ A R BDA TE R R
AAEGHHIEREE  FROT:

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIBLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB®TRT ARETE
Loss before income tax B BT 15 B AT & 18 (155,274) (1,068,861)
Tax calculated at the applicable tax BEARE%TER
rate of 25% IR (38,819) (267215)
Difference in overseas tax rates BN R Z R 1,679 3,505
Tax losses not recognised as deferred AERRBELEHRIAEEN
tax assets BIEER 47,655 96991
Temporary differences not recognised AERBELENIBEEERN
as deferred tax assets TREEE 3,704 182,874
Utilisation of previously unrecognised B) A R R R HE R A
tax losses MIAEE — (197)
Super deduction in respect of research R A @I E R
and development expenditures (14,838) (30,589)
Expenses not deductible for income ST &t P15 B H BR B9 B 2
tax purposes 621 6,866
Income not subject to taxation | AW = () (10)
Difference with prior year income F—FEMREHNFREBR
tax annual filing HER 18 (266)
Income tax expense/(credit) FiSBiBR(BmE) 18 (8,041
FAEXARAT

F 3R 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT
(Continued)

The Group has operation mainly in Mainland China and
Hong Kong. It is within the scope of the OECD Pillar
Two model rules. As of the reporting date, there is no
public announcement in Mainland China. Hong Kong
has announced the implementation regarding Pillar Two
model rules which have not come into effect. Since the
Pillar Two legislation was not effective at the reporting
date, the Group has no related current tax exposure. The
Group applies the exception to recognising and disclosing
information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related
to Pillar Two income taxes, as provided in the amendments
to IAS 12 issued in May 2023.

In addition, since the Pillar Two legislation in the
jurisdictions that the Group operates in was not enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date, and due to
the uncertainty of the announcement of the legislation and
the complexities in applying the legislation and calculating
global income, the Group is in the process of assessing its
exposure to the Pillar Two legislation for when it comes into
effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I1 INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT

(Continued)

(ii) Tax losses

The tax losses that are not recognised as deferred tax

assets are analysed as follows:

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

Il FR8H(BR) &E %)

(i) BIEEE
WEBERRELCHBEENTIEESIR
DT :

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR®BTT

Expire year HNEER
2024 20244F —_ 362,196
2025 20254 465,716 493,137
2026 2026%F 530,918 591,854
2027 20274F 520,491 577,799
2028 20284 428,119 366,375
2029 20294 152,610 —
2030 20304F 27,421 —
203 20314F 60,936 —
2032 20324F 57,308 —
2033 20334 20,524 —
2034 20344 18,959 —
Indefinite | A IR 116,374 87,507
2,399,376 2,478,868

12 DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during

the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

12 RE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

13 LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 3|1 December
2024 and 2023, excluding 29,756,180 shares (2023: 17,650,704
shares) held for the employee incentive scheme (including
26,780,562 shares (2023: 15,885,634 shares) arising from the

relevant capitalisation issue of initial public offering).

13 SRERE

EXESREE
EXGREERHFBRANTRFAE
1B B DAL 220244F 202312 A318 IEF
ERETENSBRROINEFLSHAE
TBERE S BB 8 #F B #929,756,180
B% B% 17 (20234F : 17,650,704 A% A% 17) (B2 3& &
BRARBENHEBERMBITMELER
26,780,562 % B% 17 (20234F : 15,885,634 /% %
7)) °

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIBLEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTET ARETET
Loss for the year FREBE (155,292) (1,060,820)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 2217 & 18 IR I 4 F15 81
in issue (in thousand) (AF &) 430,724 429,069
Basic loss per share (in RMB) EXGRERAARES (0.36) (247)
Diluted loss per share HFEERERE

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. For the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company had
one category of potential ordinary shares: share-based awards
granted to employees (Note 32). As the Group incurred
losses for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
potential ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of
diluted loss per share as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the years ended 3l

December 2024 and 2023 are the same as basic loss per share.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BERR®
Office
Machinery equipment
and and Motor  Construction
Buildings equipment furniture vehicles in progress Others
BARE
BF BBRRE k&A RE ERIR Hfh
RMBI00 RMBO _RMBI00 RMBI000 RMBO0) RMBI000
At | January 2024 #2024F1 818
Cost I 89,231 47,008 9,458 2,236 109,236 14,208 271,377
Accumulated depreciation and R ERAE
impairment (7,819) (22,568) (7,05) (1,683) (41,102) (6,784) (87,011)
Net book amount REFE 81,412 24,440 2,403 553 68,134 7,44 184,366
Year ended 3| December 2024 & Z2024F
NA3IALEE
Opening net book amount ENERFE 81,412 24,440 2,403 553 68,134 1,424 184,366
Additions AE - 184 1 = = 5 274
Disposals HE - (22) (34) - - (176) (232)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) REER(WHT) (2,882) (5,813) (1,221) (249) = (2,983) (13,154)
Impairment loss (Note 7) REBX (W) (355) (81 - - (6,137) (36) (6,609)
Closing net book amount EXRERE 78,175 18,708 1,217 304 61,997 4,244 164,645
At 31 December 2024 ®2024%12A31R
Cost KA 89,231 47,170 9,499 2,236 109,236 14,047 271,419
Accumulated depreciation and RHPERAE
impairment (11,056) (28,462) (8,282) (1,932) (471,239) (9,803) (106,774)
Net book amount REFE 78,175 18,708 1,217 304 61,997 4,244 164,645
At | January 2023 #2035 1818
Cost KA 89,31 46,687 9314 2036 105,657 13927 267052
Accumulated depreciation RihE (5006) (13831) (3103) (1,284) — (3558) (26802)
Net book amount REFE 84,25 3285 6,91 952 105,657 10369 240250
Year ended 3| December 2023 & Z2023F
NANBLEE
Opening net book amount FUREEE 84,25 32,85 6,91 952 105,657 10369 240250
Additions RE — 503 152 — 3579 2 4525
Disposals & - (192) ®) - - — (200)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) REBR (W) (2813) (6,132) (1472) (300) — (3137) (13.854)
Impairment loss (Note 7) BER% (M) - (2605) (2460) (%9) (41,10) (89) (46,355)
Closing net book amount ERREFE 81412 24440 2403 553 68,134 744 184,366
At 31 December 2023 #20235 128318
Cost KA 89,31 47,008 9458 223 109,236 1408 271377
Accumulated depreciation and ZitERNE
impairment (7819) (22568) (7055) (1683) (41,102) (6,784) (87011)
Net book amount REFE 81412 24440 2403 553 68,134 7424 184366

BHREEBRAA 167
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG MR RS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged

to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as

14 W% - - BERKE®)

Bk

VE - BEERRENTERGSZEK
KA FREN

follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3IBLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET AR T T
Research and development expenses M 7,235 7,856
Marketing expenses miEEHEAX 66 65
Administrative expenses TR X 5,853 5,933
13,154 13,854

In 2024, due to management's plan for disposal of idle assets
of Pruxelutamide and the cash outflows of cosmetic products
related to KX-826, the Company believes that there are
impairment indicators in the property, plant and equipment
related to Pruxelutamide and KX-826.

In 2023, because the commercialisation of Pruxelutamide and
KX-826 has been delayed due to the statistically insignificant
phase Il clinical results of Pruxelutamide and KX-826, and the
Company believes that there are impairment indicators in the
property, plant and equipment related to Pruxelutamide and KX-
826.

The directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment of the property, plant and equipment and
consequently determined an impairment loss amounting to
RMB6,609,000 (2023: RMB46,355,000). The impairment loss
charged to cost of sales, research and development expenses
and administrative expenses are RMB6,208,000, RMBI3,000
and RMB388,000 (2023: RMB41,101,000, RMB2,608,000 and
RMB2,646,000), respectively.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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I5 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

I5 EREEE

At | January 2024 7R2024F 1818
Cost B R 20,885 35,073 55,958
Accumulated depreciation and impairment EFTERRE (14,538) (3,943) (18,481)
Net book amount BRMEFE 6,347 31,130 37,477
Year ended 31 December 2024 B £2024F12A31H

LEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 6,347 31,130 37,477
Disposals H & (1,287) (23,300) (24,587)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) rEERE7) (3,806) (534) (4,340)
Impairment reversal (Note 7) R 2 B (Bt 57) — 1,039 1,039
Closing net book amount FREEZEE 1,254 8,335 9,589
At 31 December 2024 720245128318
Cost BN 19,598 11,773 31,371
Accumulated depreciation and impairment R &HT & MR (E (18,344) (3,438) (21,782)
Net book amount BREFE 1,254 8,335 9,589
At | January 2023 R2023F181H
Cost B R 19,459 35,073 54,532
Accumulated depreciation E i (10,191) (2.114) (12,305)
Net book amount BREFE 9,268 32,959 42227
Year ended 3|1 December 2023 #H £2023F12A31H

LFEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 9,268 32959 42,227
Additions NE 1426 — 1,426
Depreciation charge (Note 7) wEBR 7 (4,347) (701) (5,048)
Impairment loss (Note 7) WAE B K (M 5E7) — (1,128) (1,128)
Closing net book amount FREEFEE 6,347 31,130 37,477
At 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H
Cost B R 20,885 35,073 55958
Accumulated depreciation and impairment R 53T & KR E (14,538) (3,943) (18/481)
Net book amount BREFE 6,347 31,130 37,477

FRMEERRAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

I5 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 15 ERAEEE®)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets has been charged to the FRAEEEMNTERGEZEKEERAT
consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows: Br - FEIBIAR

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR¥ETT
Research and development expenses HERX 1,853 1,876
Administrative expenses THAX 2,487 3,172
Less: amounts capitalised in property, plant and J& : IR ¥ % ~ B KR & &
equipment ERftnERE — (45)
4,340 5,003
Land use rights represents the land use rights granted by T AEEEE R B KT EPI g R FEHE TR
the PRC government authority on the use of land within the EHRNFER MR TR HEBRE - A
pre-approved lease period. The original lease terms of the EENPEFEN T HERAENRETEEH
land use rights of the Group held in the PRC are 50 vyears. B50F o FRA2024F 128318 © EAEBER
As at 31 December 2024, certain land use right, buildings A E#70,000,0007T (M 5%26) (2023412 A3
and construction in progress were pledged for the Group's H : AK#83,000,0007T) MK D + thfE
borrowings amounting to RMB70,000,000 (Note 26) (3! A BFRERIR-

December 2023: RMB83,000,000).

170 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 6 BEEEE
At | January 2024 R20245 1 81H
Cost XK 1,235 79,618 155,272 236,125
Accumulated amortisation and L EERRE
impairment (596) (55,490) (31,099) (87,185)
Net book amount REFE 639 24,128 124,173 148,940

Year ended 31 December 2024 B Z2024F 128318

EE

Opening net book amount FNEREFEE 639 24,128 124,173 148,940
Additions NE 142 —_ —_ 142
Amortisation charge (Note 7) B () (133) = = (133)
Closing net book amount FERIEEFE 648 24,128 124,173 148,949
At 31 December 2024 RK2024F12A31R
Cost XA 1,377 79,618 155,272 236,267
Accumulated amortisation and RBELRE

impairment (729) (55,490) (31,099) (87,318)
Net book amount REFE 648 24,128 124,173 148,949
At | January 2023 R2023E181H
Cost AR 1235 79618 155272 236,125
Accumulated amortisation 25t # 477) — — 477
Net book amount RERE 758 79618 155,272 235,648

Year ended 3|1 December 2023 B Z2023F 128318

JI:3:5

Opening net book amount FOREFE 758 79,618 155272 235,648
Amortisation charge (Note 7) B s (i EE7) (119) — — (19)
Impairment charge (Note 7) A2 EE7) — (55,490) (31,099) (86,589)
Closing net book amount EREREHEE 639 24,128 124,173 148940
At 31 December 2023 RK2023F12A8318
Cost A 1235 79618 155272 236,125
Accumulated amortisation and REBERRE

impairment (596) (55/490) (31,099) (87,185)
Net book amount REFE 639 24128 124,173 148,940

BAhEEBIRAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BEEE &)

172

Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:

BYREOBHRGEA2EREE N
% EEIT

|

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®MTRT ARETT

Research and development expenses it 2 2 14 6
Administrative expenses THAX 119 I3
133 19

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial

recognition at cost.

Certain intangible assets are for license of intellectual properties
in development, with non-refundable upfront payment, milestone
payment and royalty payment. Upfront payment is capitalized
when paid. The milestone payment is capitalised as intangible
assets when incurred, unless the payment is for outsourced
research and development work which would follow the
capitalisation policy in Note 41.8(b). Royalty payment would
be accrued for in line with the underlying sales and recognised
as a cost of sales. However, if the intangible asset is acquired
in a business combination, it is measured at fair value at initial

recognition.

In-licenses and IPR&D acquired are subsequently stated at cost

less any impairment losses.

For research or development expenditures which are related
to an IPR&D project acquired separately or in a business
combination and incurred after the acquisition of that project,
they shall be accounted for in accordance with the capitalisation
policy in Note 41.8(b).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
when ready for use and over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period
and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not ready for use
will not be amortised but tested for impairment annually either
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The impairment
test would compare the recoverable amount of the in-licenses
and IPR&D asset to its carrying value. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from

indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

In-licenses and IPR&D with finite useful life are amortised using
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the underlying
products, commencing from the date when the products are put

into commercial production.

See Note 4.8 for the other accounting policies relevant to

intangible assets.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group's development expenditures incurred did not meet the
capitalisation principles for any products and were expensed as

incurred.

Intangible assets not yet ready for use are tested annually based
on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU")
to which the intangible asset is related. The appropriate CGU
is at the product level. The recoverable amount of each CGU
was determined based upon the higher of fair value less costs of

disposal and value in use.

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

16 BEEE &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BIEEE (&)

In respect of the value in use calculation, the Group use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets prepared by
management and the discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect

specific risks relating to the relevant products.

The fair value less costs of disposal was estimated using the
discounted cash flow approach. The fair value measurement
hierarchy of in-licenses and IPR&D was level 3. The estimated
revenue of in-licenses and IPR&D is based on management’s
expectations of timing of commercialisation, market penetration
rate and success rate of commercialisation. The discount rate
used is post-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant

products.

The percentage of costs and operating expenses to revenue is
the percentages over the revenue forecast period. It is based
on the current margin levels of comparable companies, with
adjustments made to reflect the expected future price rises in
labour and relevant equipment. The market penetration rate was
used based on the expected selling conditions considering the
features of marketing and technology development. The success
rate of commercialisation was determined based on practices
of pharmaceutical industries, development of technologies and

related regulations from administrations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

@

On 31 May 2017, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive
global license with a package of technology and patents
to develop and commercialise GTI708F. GTI708F is an
inhibitor of the hedgehog signal transduction pathway.
Suzhou Kintor made an initial RMB3,044,000 non-
refundable upfront payment in 2017, and made a payment
of RMB3,500,000 in 2019 and another payment of
RMB3,500,000 in 202
agreement with the transferor. Total payment up to 3l
December 2024 amounted to RMBI0,044,000. Suzhou
Kintor is obligated to make payments aggregating
RMB20,000,000 and USD25,000,000 upon the

achievement of certain development milestones. Suzhou

based on the supplemental

Kintor is also obligated to make certain payments upon the
achievement of certain commercial milestones and royalty
payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net sales

of the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing on research and development work. Based on
the research and development process and experience of
the approval process, management estimates that GT1708F
will be able to generate revenue from 2028 to 2043 with
the first six years climbing, the last ten years stable and

declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for GT1708F.

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

16 BEEE &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BIEEE#)
@ (Continued) @ #)
The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 3| 720244 2 2023F 12 A3IB A AR EBER
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: ERMHRANEFEREZNOT

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
Post-tax discount rate 1&g BhIR =X 20.0% 20.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period BT K EERE 1.8%~27.7% 1.49%~25.7%
Revenue growth rate for the declining period %% iR B /) I 25 1% & & -61.4%~-0.2%  -58.1%~-0.3%
Market penetration rate mig2Ex 0.5%~39.0% 0.5%~44.0%
Success rate of commercialisation EEZA:0®IES 12.2% 12.2%

Percentage of costs and operating expenses i A% JA & 48 & A S fh Bt 42.6%~125.5%  42.6%~116.8%
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB'000) R & ZE A Bz Ayl dk o

ER(ARET T 118,237 147,831

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was BERETEER - 1R2024F 2023
no impairment as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. FE12A3B I ERFE -

The recoverable amount of the CGU of GTI708F is 2024412 BA31H » GTI708F By IR &
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as EAXBEMNAKNeSBHARESE
at 31 December 2024 by RMBI108,193,000 (31 December HEEBEMNETmERLEARBI08,193,000
2023: RMBI137,787,000). Considering there was still 7T (2023F 12 A31H : A B #137,787.000
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and IT) o EMNBR I LA EE =R &
management believe that a reasonably possible change in ENEEBRE  FANFEREZNE
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate BRI eERNIRESELABEMNHN
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable MEEHEBEE YL S5 o

amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b) On 2 January 2019, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive

global license to develop and commercialise c-Myc inhibitor.
Pursuant to the contract entered, Suzhou Kintor made an
initial RMB3,000,000 non-refundable upfront payment.
Suzhou Kintor is obligated to make payments aggregating
RMB27,000,000 and USD10,000,000 upon the achievement
of certain development milestones. Suzhou Kintor is also
obligated to make certain payments upon the achievement
of certain commercial milestones and royalty payments
at the applicable royalty rates based on net sales of the

products.

As at 31 December 2024 and 3| December 2023, the
intangible asset was not ready for use. The Group did not
conduct any research and development work for cMyc
molecule since 2023 due to uncertainties and large fund
requirements. The Group plans to focus on dermatology
pipelines. Also, the Group has not reached an agreement
for this intangible asset. Thus, the Group made a full
impairment of RMB30,000,000 as at 3| December 2024
(31 December 2023: RMB30,000,000).

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

16 BIEEE#)
(b) F2019F 1 A28 - & M FH A IS A %

K E LMy HI Bl & 2 KB RET
A RIBFIMEH - BHRMNEAH IS
A R¥E3,000000tHEE R RETE
N BMNAHRBEEKRE THRER
28 1% S 5T A K #27,000,0007T &
10,000,0003 JTLHIFKIE © & INFEAINE
FERETEERERBEINETR
B RIRBEMNFHEEZRERN
SR AREBRINETEAESE -

2024512 A318 K%2023%F12A318 -
ZEMEESAREDIEAMKE - B
RcMycnh FROMMBEEBEAEEM B
TERBREELAS  AKEEBA023F
R EEITZIE  c AEEGEFE
RERER BEAEETERZER
BEZEXWZ o Bt - R2024F12 A3
H XEEFRZ2HRE BARK
30,000,0007T (2023 12 A31H : A R #&
30,000,0007T) °

FRMEERRAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

©

On 14 February 2018, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive
global license to develop and commercialise ALK-1 antibody
with an upfront payment of RMB14,085,000. Suzhou Kintor
is obligated to make milestone payments aggregating
USD13,000,000 in respect of development and receipt
of marketing approval in China (which includes Hong
Kong, Macao and Taiwan), additional milestone payments
aggregating USD33,000,000 for other countries, a further
one-time milestone payment of USD5,000,000 for a second
indication anywhere in the world, certain payments at the
applicable achievement of certain commercial milestones
and royalty payments at the applicable royalty rates based

on net sales of the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing on research and development work. Based on
the research and development process and experience of
the approval process, management estimates that ALK-1 will
be able to generate revenue from 2029 to 2035 with the
first four years climbing and the last three years stable and

declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for ALK-| antibody.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

16 BEEE &)

©

720182148 - gRM AR UA R
14,085,0007T &) TB A< 5RER 15 B 2 K i %
LALK- 1 BB R 2 BB R Al © & M F
WEEBRETR(BEEE - BMR
FEAE)REEYRES T E
1 4858 /5 13,000,0003 JT Ky B F2RE
;o BEAMBERELENBEE AR
#8%5133,000,0003€ 7T * BEAEZRIREM T
SRR —BEBERSEL —REER
18 < 385,000,000% 7t * R 1% E @ 8 F
HEBETHEEN ETHXEREN
SNETER  TEREANSTER
REXINETERAEE -

ZEREEMAKEDIFEAME K
SEFTEEMETE RBREME
MERERRENLCR  BEEME
ALK-1 7420294 Z= 2035 4 #% E $0 B 4 I
= HNFEBEA BR=F2RBEX
RFRBY -

B EERBGEMET  AEE
AK-MEBRSELEEUNA KL S
B ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(©  (Continued)
The key assumptions used for fair value calculations as at 3
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

6 B EE®)

© #)
FR2024F K 2023F 12 A3IH A R EE A
HEREANFERRKOT

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
Post-tax discount rate 1&g BhIR =X 20.0% 20.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period BT K EERE 2.2%~26.2% 2.19%~20.3%
Revenue growth rate for the declining period 3% 2R Hi #) U 75 38 & -3.0% -44%~-2.6%
Market penetration rate mig2Ex 0.3%~14.5% 0.3%~15.0%
Success rate of commercialisation EEZA:0P®IES 25.2% 25.2%

Percentage of costs and operating expenses X 4N JA & 48

R lalnd 42.3%~118.9%  42.3%~114.8%

Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB '000) 3R & & A (v /9 A] Uz @]
TR(ARET T 53,323 137,908

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was

no impairment as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of ALK-1 is estimated
to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as at 3l
December 2024 by RMB39,238,000 (31 December 2023:
RMBI23,823,000). Considering there was still sufficient
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and
management believe that a reasonably possible change in
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable

amount.

BIERER G E R - 720244 %2023
FNANBEINERE -

2024128318 * ALK- IR IR & E &
BUAWESEHARASEELSEN
BRE B A K #39,238,0007T (2023
F12A318 : A R#123,823,0007T) ° &
REBBEFEDNERHNEEER &
EREERERE  FAZERENE
By T B8 ReEABEMNA
REMEBEEATYESEE -

BARERARAF
3 2024

179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(d) The IPR&D represented KX-826, an androgen receptor
antagonist, amounted to RMBI155,272,000, as a result of the

business combination of Suzhou Koshine.

(i)

(i)

For pharmaceutical business line, the intangible asset
is not ready for use and the Group is continuing on
research and development. Based on the research
and development process and experience of the
commercialisation process, management estimates that
KX-826 will be able to generate revenue from 2027 to
2030.

In 2024, cosmetics business line has been successfully
commercialised. Based on past sales performance
and management’s future sales strategy, management
estimates that KX-826 will be able to generate

revenue continuously.

The IPR&D support multiple CGUs, and the Group
determined that the IPR&D cannot be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis for the purpose
of impairment testing. As such, the intangible asset
is included in the group of CGUs comprising both

pharmaceutical and cosmetics benefit.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for KX-826.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

BEEE®)

(d) #f7

o3 E’Jﬁﬂ%’ﬁ?b%ﬂl‘l E’ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁifwf\ﬁ

KX-826 (—E M EXRE F h B o

i)

(i)

NEEEBRNE  ZEBVEE
mARZEEAFEAMEE  NEEE
FHREBERE BREABIER
MELCRENLES  BEEEME
KX-826 20274 £ 20304F #% &E 48
EEas o

20245 - b R EBEE KXY
HEL ERNBABEERERLE
BERKEERE  EREM
KX-8261% B #0435 48 2= 4 W 2= ©

ETHNREIFEZRERSES
B MASEETEETHAMH
AR BEANRAETEE -]
Mol - At - ZEFEEGA
PERERmMESRN IR
SEEBMAR -

B HEBRB(HEREIT - 2
& TEKX-82630 & EE £ B/ a] W
O & % o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BIEEE#)
d) (Continued) d #)
(i (Continued) (iy (%)

MR2024FE 12 A3 BEBEETER
2023F 12 A3IB AR EBEFTERE

The key assumptions used for value in use calculation

as at 31 December 2024 and fair value calculation as at

31 December 2023 are as follows: ANEZERZLOT:
CGUs for Drugs BYRESELEEN

As at 31 December

®I12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Discount rate AL IR =& 17.0% 17.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period BEH W RERE N/ATE A 22.3%
Market penetration rate M5 23X 0.1%~3.0% 0.029%~7.2%
Success rate of commercialisation EEX A DRI 54.0% 54.0%

Percentage of costs and operating expenses i 2N DA J2 &8 & [ A L 62.8%~100.1%  44.7%~240.2%

CGUs for Cosmetics tHmBEESEEEN

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
Discount rate 8538 = 17.0% N/AZ 3E F
Revenue growth rate Wan g R & 36.3%~59.0% N/A i A

Percentage of costs and operating expenses X AN A R & &R Z(hE  62.2%~82.7% N/AT & F

BARERARAF
F35 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

@

©

(Continued)

(i) (Continued)
Based on the result of impairment assessment,
the recoverable amount of the CGUs of KX-826
is estimated to be RMBI97,669,000, exceeding the
carrying amount of the CGUs as at 31 December
2024 by RMB45,772,000. Considering there was
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and
management believe that a reasonably possible change
in any of the key assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its

recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable
amount of the CGU of KX-826 is estimated to be
RMBI24,173,000 less than the carrying amount of
the CGU by RMB31,099,000. Therefore, there was
an impairment of RMB31,099,000 as at 3| December
2023.

On 20 August 2020, the Group obtained an exclusive
license to develop and commercialise PD-LI/TGF-§3
molecule. Pursuant to the contract entered, the Group
made an initial USD4,000,000 non-refundable payment in
2020 and a milestone payment of USD4,000,000 in 2021.
The Group is obligated to make payments aggregating
USDI15,000,000 upon the achievement of certain
development milestones. The Group is also obligated to
make royalty payments at the applicable royalty rates based

on net sales of the products.

As at 31 December 2024 and 3| December 2023, the
intangible asset was not ready for use. The Group did
not conduct any research and development work for PD-
LI/TGF-8 molecule since 2023 due to uncertainties and
large fund requirements. The Group plans to focus on
dermatology pipelines. Also, the Group has no clear license-
out plan for this intangible asset. Thus, the Group made a
full impairment of RMB52,490,000 as at 31 December 2024
(31 December 2023: RMB52,490,000).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

16 BIEEE(#)
@ &)

iy (&
BIEBENHER - KX-8260)3R
CEABNAKBESEMTAA
R #197,669,0007T * 2024 12 A
SRR S EASMRABERL
A R #45772,0007C » #& B iR &
BN BERANEEER EF
REBERA ERAEZEREL
EENREH I SERREESL
BAMAKRAEERLETKBE
B o

2023F 12 A31H © KX-826H3R &
ELXBEMNAIROESEGTAEAR
#5124,173,0007T * BIRSEEEA
R B E A R%31,099,0007T °
It 72023 12 A3 HEHERIE A
R #31,099,0007C °

202048 H208 - AL BERSHAE K
S L PD-LI/TGF-B 3 FRIB R AJ ©
BEBEFTIHEL AEER2020F X
14,000,000 T B ET AR E K
I 720214 3 £44,000,0003 T H 2 12
MR - AEEETEKRE THER
F2RE1% S4B %E 415,000,0003 JT B 7K
HoAEENMEREBERMNFIHER
RERNETERARERINEHTE
FA#ES -

720245 12 A318 K%2023F12A318 -
ZEMEENAZEDEAMKE - B
A PD-LI/TGF-8 % T K B 3¢ B 5 T~ 7
THEZERBAEES  A£EHA
2023F AR I MEEITRR I B - AEBE
BEIRERER  AASEEHZE
FEEESERBEHEINIERE -
It 202412 A31H » AEBEFIRS
HRE - A A RE52,490,0007T (20234
12A431H : A R#¥52490,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

17 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17 R—FRBEQATNRE

Year ended 31 December

BENANBLFE
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB®TRT ARETE
Share of net assets, unlisted DB EFEGELT) 16,108 17,484
As at | January RIAIH 17,484 17,432
Additions NE — —
Share of (losses)/gains for the year DEFER(ER), W (1,376) 52
As at 31 December R12 8318 16,108 17,484
The particulars of the associate of the Company at 31 December ARAREEE N E] (FE ) 12024512 A31B
2024, which is unlisted, are set out as follows: BT
Attributable
equity interest
to the Group
Issued and asat
Place of Registered fully paid 31 December
Company name incorporation capital capital 2024  Principle activities
R20245
12A31H
BRATR AEH
kL AL AMER ARRE EiERE TEED
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARMTR
Suzhou Industrial Park Kintor Zhidao ~ Suzhou 63,700 63,700 28.26%  Engaging in equity investment and
Equity Investment Partnership asset management
(Limited partnership)* (“Zhidao
Partnership ")
HNIXERRARERE &M HERERE AEEE
RERBLE(BERAR)
([BESBLEE)

* The English name of the company registered in the PRC represents & AR BT ME 2R REFETR AT
the best efforts made by the management of the Company in directly CHEXAWRARAEERBERARABNHRF
translating the Chinese name of this company as no English name has been PNEBEHNEERE -
registered.

Zhidao Partnership is a private company and there are no BEBERBERR—FRMARA  HRH Y

quoted market prices available for their shares. BEISWE -

BARERARAF
F35 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

Group, Suzhou Tuochuang Investment Co., Ltd (“Suzhou
Tuochuang"). Suzhou Tuochuang is a limited partner. Pursuant
to the partnership agreement, the investment committee of
Zhidao Partnership has four representatives. Suzhou Tuochuang
has two representatives, the other limited partner has one
representative, and the executive partner has one representative
in the investment committee. All investment activities of
Zhidao Partnership should be agreed by no less than three

representatives of the investment committee.

In 2024, pursuant to the 2024 first interim partners meeting, the

investment committee of Zhidao Partnership was modified to

17 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17 R—KXBERTNRE @)
(Continued)
Zhidao Partnership is held through the subsidiary of the HEARCETRBAEENE QA &

MBI XIREER AR TRMAA D
B :%%J‘IITE ISEREBA - RIESBH
& WEABLENKREZEEARAN
KK REZBETAMARMNAAEINR
R —BRARABARKRE—BHIT
/\%’%/\ﬁﬂ% ° @Z‘ BREFEMERERD
AR IN=_BREREERKR—HFA

o

éMHSH

PR202445F » RIB2MUFE—XBHAEZAD
EONEARLENKREZEERREN

five representatives. Suzhou Tuochuang has one representative, AERTE REZBGEHRE—EBHMNA
other two limited partners have one representative, BIREX — B -MEBEEREBANRK KM
respectively, and the executive partner has two representatives ERITEBARRK - BUEGREEMBR
in the investment committee. All investment activities of BEHHALITIIRNOEREZEGNR K
Zhidao Partnership should be agreed by no less than four —HRE

representatives of the investment committee.

Set out below is the summarised financial information for Zhidao

Partnership which is accounted for using the equity method:
Zhidao Partnership:

Summarised statement of financial position:

ATEIE RS EARNBEAR LR
MBERBER:

BEARDER:

MBRRREE:

As at 31 December

®WI12A318
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AR®TT
Current Vi)
Total current assets };\u BEERE 20,508 20,348
Total current liabilities MBI AaEREE — —
Non-current B
Total non-current assets IEmBEELE 36,498 41,525
Total non-current liabilities IEmBAaERE — —
Net assets BEFE 57,006 61,873

184 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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17 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive loss:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

17 R—FREEQATNRE &)

PHEERBE:

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETET
Administrative expenses TR X
Losses on changes in fair value AREBEEHEE (4,732) —
(Losses)/gains before income tax expense BRETISBIE AR (EE) W= (4,867) 183
Income tax expense Frigti & A — —
(Losses)/gains for the year FR (&8, s (4,867) 183
Share of (losses)/gains of the associate DIEEE AR (ER), (1,376) 52
18 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE I8 REELENKE
Year ended 31 December
BZEZNRAIBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRET ARBTE
Share of net assets, unlisted DB EFEGELT) 460 513
As at | January RIAIB 513 513
Additions NE — .
Share of losses for the year DIEFANEE (53) —F
As at 31 December RKI2A318 460 513

*

The amount is less than RMB1,000.

& '/ A REI1,0007T ©

WAEREERA
3R 2024 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

18 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
(Continued)

The particulars of the joint venture of the Company at 3l

December 2024, which is unlisted, are set out as follows:

I8 REELENKRE &)

AARE &R GELET) R2024F 128318
MEEBOT:

Attributable
equity interest

to the Group

as at
Place of Registered  Issued and fully 31 December
Company name incorporation capital paid capital 2024  Principle activities
R20245
12A31R
BRTR ARE
RAER AR R 3 4 AMER ARRE ErRE TEED
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR
Suzhou Industrial Park Zhiyue Suzhou 2,050 1,025 5000%  Enterprise management;

Enterprise Management Center

(Limited partnership)* (“Zhiyue”)
FNIXERBMBLRERDL

(ARA%) (%))

\‘

& The English name of the company registered in the PRC represents
the best efforts made by the management of the Company in directly
translating the Chinese name of this company as no English name has been
registered.

Zhiyue is a private company and there are no quoted market

prices available for their shares.

Zhiyue is the general partner of Zhidao Partnership. Zhiyue
is held through Suzhou Tuochuang, the subsidiary of the
Group. Pursuant to the partnership agreement, there are two
partnerships of Zhiyue. Suzhou Tuochuang is a limited partner.
The vote shall be based on the proportion of the capital
contribution actually paid, and decisions shall be approved by

more than two-thirds of the votes.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

enterprise management
consulting
CXER CRERAS

* BRYEFIMRXERE  REFEIMOAF
ZEXEBARRAEEERBEABSNHE AR
PXEEOEEBE

BUB S —FKILARE - HER I & H 5 R
'fgo

BMABBABRLENTBEEA - B
TEBAAEENEAREGIMNAARSE - B
BEaRHhE BUBEMBERA - &IMNA
BlRARERA - RAZRSIZRBREREH
HELDE TE=S2Z-_ALtHNEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

18 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE I8 REELENKEE #®)
(Continued)
Set out below are the summarised financial information for VAT E DI (60 FA A 2 V5 A\ BR ) B8 B 75 B )
Zhiyue which is accounted for using the equity method: M
Zhiyue: B
Summarised statement of financial position: BBERREHME:

As at 31 December

MI12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AR T T
Current 7 &
Total current assets mEEERE 25 25
Total current liabilities MBI AaEREE —_— —
Non-current ERH
Total non-current assets EREBEERE 894 | 000
Total non-current liabilities mBAaBERE — —
Net assets EEFE 919 1,025

BARERARAF
F35 2024 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

18 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

(Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive loss:

I8 REELENKRE &)

PHEERBE:

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®MTRT ARETRT
Administrative expenses TR X — =
Losses before income tax expense BrEFIS T E A AIE B (106) 5
Income tax expense FEHER — —*
Losses for the year FANEIE (106) —5
Share of losses of the joint venture DlEEEEEER (53) —

* The amount is less than RMB1,000.

19 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

* & R/ A RE1,0007T ©

19 HtERBEE

As at 31 December

®I12A8318
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR AR®TT
Value-added tax recoverables AT I (E A 3,645 7,842
Prepayments for income tax TR AT IE — 53
3,645 7,895

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

20 REFEITHEMTA

Financial assets at

amortised cost
REBERAGTENESHEE
As at 31 December
RI12A318

2024 2023
20245

2023
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
ARBTR

Assets as per statements of RUBRRERNEE
financial position

Hil WA R IRE

Other receivables and deposits excluding non-

financial assets (TBEFsRmEE) 18,307 3926
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBE2EED 147,419 445,499
Time deposits EHIF —_ 10,835
Restricted cash PR 3R & 431 425

166,157 460,685

Financial liabilities at

amortised cost

RE#ERATAENSREAE

As at 31 December
RI12A31H

2024 2023

20244

RMB’000
AR®T R

20234
RMB'000
ARET T

Liabilities as per statements of RUMBRRARNERE
financial position
Borrowings [EE 131,763 247,100
Trade payables, other payables and accruals B5REMNRIE - Hith
excluding non-financial liabilities FERTRIB R EFHE B
(TrBRREEeRmBE) 47,872 89,548
Lease liabilities HERE 1,246 6,820
Amounts due to related parties &1~ B8 B 5 5B 559 2,000
181,440 345,468
BAhEEBIRAF

3R 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

21

INVENTORIES 21 &8
As at 31 December
®I12A31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AR T T
Raw materials and finished goods JRM B % 2 K fm 2,215 —

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned
to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted
average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

At 31 December 2024, inventories carried at net realisable value
amounted to approximately RMB2,215,000 (2023: nil). As at 3|
December 2024, the Group recognised inventory provision of
RMB2,100,000 (2023: RMB603,879,000). There were included
in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the year ended 3| December 2024 (31 December
2023: R&D costs).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

R R~ 12 B on I B AR Th 3R R R
BEEMERZREEDIR - AT
BFERAEESBEE[@BIFERR - 7
ERFEEREREBBETHNMESERE
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FEHAARM22150007T (20234 : ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR MR

22 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS

22 HEWFKIE -

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

B RENRE

As at 31 December
®I12A318

2024
20245

RMB’000
AR®T T

2023
20234
RMB'000
AREF T

Receivables from disposal of land use rights L 3 (50 R A B W R IE 15,646 —
Prepayments to suppliers TE A B R R IE 3,358 5392
Deposits & 1,270 1,720
Advances to employees [ g B #K 80 25
Refunds receivable from suppliers e B R K —_ 6,480
Others H 1,311 2,181

21,665 15,798

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of
other receivables and deposits were denominated in RMB, USD

and HKD, and approximated their fair values.

Information about the impairment of other receivables and the
Group's exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and

credit risk can be found in Note 3.1.

2024 N 20234F 12 A31H - HAbfEW FIE
NS HEEmMENUARE okt
B HEEAABEMBE -

75 B0 8 5 L1 A 2 4 B B
SNERIR - FIRE IR RIEAEBOER
B RMHE -

BARERARAF
F35 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

()

(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
the following:

23 BAREEFTEEHBEHTAE
HESZNEHEE
() ZBAABEFEAHEDHALHE
ENERAEREATSE:

Year ended 31 December

BENANBLFE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRE ARETE

At the beginning of the year REF 1 = —
Additions NE 100 48,108
Disposals K-S @aol) (48,599)
Gains recognised in other gains — net REM Y &= FRERER KR 1 491
At the end of the year RER — =

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represent wealth management products and foreign
currency options. The returns on the investments were
not guaranteed. Hence, their contractual cash flows do
not qualify for solely payments of principal and interest and

were measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair values were based on cash flow discounted using
the expected return based on management judgement and

are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Risk exposure and fair value measurements

Information about the methods and assumptions used in

determining fair value is set out in Note 3.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BARBEFEAEZEHAAEHE
M SR E EEIE W E MK IMNEH
oYUM RERERR ALt HA
MBRERETAERBERABNR -
WIRARBEFEEEZEFHAAEY
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MEMORREFENREREFE
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(i) A ORAAREBETE
ERETAABEMRANAERR
JEE RS o



24 TIME DEPOSITS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

24 EHIER

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETE
Time deposits in RMB (Note (a)) AREE 8GR (M @) — 10,000
Accrued interest (Note (b)) JE& &t 7 8 (B 3 (b)) — 835
— 10,835
(@ Time deposits held by the Group as at 3| December 2023 beared @ AEEMOFERANBRENEHRERIEZESF
interests at 3.5% per annum with a duration of over three months. 35 R RS BAR A=A L -
(b)  The interest on financial instruments accrued based on the effective (b EREBRFREIZEFNEBRIAFNEEESHE
interest rate method has been included in the balance of the HESR TEWNEED

corresponding financial instruments.

BARERARAF
F35 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 255 BERBREEEYURZREGIIR
RESTRICTED CASH &

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARE¥ETT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE 147,850 410,492
Time deposits and highly liquid investments e EAR & =18 A A &) E 5
with initial terms within three months EREkESRBMERE — 35,432
Less: restricted cash (Note (2)) X R EIR 2 (K 5 @) (431) (425)
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 147,419 445499
Cash and bank balances denominated in: NTHEEHENERE R
HRITAEER -
— RMB — AR¥ 61,161 228,960
— UsSD — X7 68,854 141,070
— HKD — AT 17,373 73997
— EUR — BT 31 —
147,419 444,027
Accrued interest (Note (b)) J& &t 7 8 (P 5 (b)) — 1,472
147,419 445,499
@@ As at 31 December 2024, the restricted cash was RMB431,000 (3! @ F2024F12A31H - XRFIFEE ARE431,0007T
December 2023: RMB425,000), which was placed in banks to purchase (2023 12 A318 : A R%425,00070) 7 BUR R 4T
wealth management products. NEERMER -
(b)  The interest on financial instruments accrued based on the effective by EREBRANELZEFANESHMIANEEBEE
interest rate method has been included in the balance of the HESM T AMNERER -

corresponding financial instruments.

194 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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26 BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

26 B

As at 31 December
®I12A31H

2024
20245

RMB’000
AR®T R

Non-current

eI

2023
20234
RMB'000
AR®ET T

Long-term bank borrowings (Note (a)) RHIR T & KT 5% (@) 20,000 133,400

Current BN &

Short-term bank borrowings (Note (b)) 72 HA SR 17 18 B (Bt 5% (b)) 14,383 20,000

Long-term bank borrowings (Note (a)) R HIR 1T & (Y &% @) 97,380 93,700
111,763 113,700

Total ot 131,763 247,100

The maturity date is as follows:

EREZBHBMT

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Less than | year or repayment on demand IFARKIZERE R 111,763 113,700
|2 years | 225 20,000 113,400
2-5 years 2ESE — 20,000
Total st 131,763 247,100
The carrying amounts of borrowings were denominated in RMB. EZHBEEEE A REBIHE -
FRMEERRAF

3R 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

26 BORROWINGS (Continued)

@

As at 3|1 December 2024, the Group had long-term
bank borrowings of RMB70,000,000 which were secured
by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of
RMB47,380,000. Borrowings of RMB35,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 4.9% per annum, borrowings
of RMB35,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.75%
per annum, and borrowings of RMB25,000,000 bore a
fixed interest rate at 4.05% per annum, borrowings of
RMBI3,980,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.00% per
annum, and borrowings of RMB8,400,000 bore a fixed
interest rate at 3.95% per annum. RMB97,380,000 of these
loans should be repaid by 31 December 2025, while the
remaining should be repaid by instalments at 23 March
2026.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had long-term
bank borrowings of RMB83,000,000 which were secured
by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of
RMB144,100,000. Borrowings of RMB43,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 4.9% per annum, borrowings
of RMB40,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.75%
per annum, borrowings of RMB9,200,000 bore a fixed
interest rate at 3.95% per annum and borrowings of
RMB45,400,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.05% per
annum, borrowings of RMB40,000,000 bore a fixed
interest rate at 4.00% per annum, and borrowings of
RMB49,500,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 3.90% per
annum. RMB93,700,000 of these loans should be repaid by
31 December 2024, while the remaining should be repaid
by instalments during the period from 28 February 2025 to
23 March 2026.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

26 &
@)

= -
M (E)

2024512 A3I8 - NEB U H £
mERAE BFREREIEFEERR
B & 8RR 17 18 5K & A K %70,000,000
T EEAARBARTERAARE
47,380,0007T ° A R #35,000,0007T K
BERIREF4I%METEFEGTE AR
#35,000,0007T H) {8 5K 1% & F4.75% #Y
& E F =& B A R¥25,000,0007T &
fERIE T F4.05% M E EFEFTE A
E#513,980,0007T #) f& IR B F 4.00% &)
B E FIZEETE 5 AR A K #8,400,0007T
ME BRI T FISBHEEFMERS -
ZEEFFHAR97380,0007C /AR
200512 A3IBZAIEE - MR T35
AMR2026F3ABB Z AT D EAEE -

MR2023FNA3IR  REBEEHH £
HEAE EFREREIEERA
B & B4R 17 {8 3 B A R %83,000,000
T EEHERBEBTERAARE
144,100,0007T ° A E %43,000,0007T &9
BRIREBF49%NEEMEETE A
R 40,000,0007T B & S IZ 7 F4.75%
B [ E M E 5T 2 A K #9,200,0007T Y
BRIZETFINBHETEFEFTE A
IR #45,400,0007T &) {8 3K 2 & §4.05%
B & F E 5 B A K #40,000,0007T
B 18 F IR T F4.00% 0 B T F R+ 8
LA K2 A R #549,500,0007T B & R IZ &
FI390%MEEMEETE - ZZEEHF
B A R #93,700,0007T 7B FR2024 4 12 A
IR RIEE - MR T 3o ER2025
F2A28HE2026F3 23R HM HHAE
B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

26 BORROWINGS (Continued) 26 B (&)
(b) As at 31 December 2024, Suzhou Kintor had unsecured (b) F20245 12 A318 - &N G KR

short-term bank borrowings totalling RMBI4,383,482.74
(2023: RMB20,000,000). Borrowings of RMB2,309,039.07
bore a fixed interest rate at 3.60% per annum, borrowings
of RMBI10,000,000 bore a fixed rate at 3.55% per annum
and borrowings of RMB2,074,443.67 bore a fixed rate
at 7.20% per annum. The unsecured short-term bank
borrowings were due for repayment in 2025.

As at 31 December 2023, Suzhou Kintor had unsecured
short-term bank borrowings totalling RMB20,000,000.
Borrowings of RMB10,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate at
3.65% per annum and borrowings of RMBI10,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 3.55% per annum. The unsecured
short-term bank borrowings were due for repayment in

RERRIT B KA FTA R %14,383,482.74
T (2023%F : A R ¥20,000,0007T) °
H b A R #2 309039077 K & & 1%
FF360%MEEFMEFTE - AR
10,000,0007T & & FX 1% & F3.55% H)
E M EEG B - AR #2074443.677T 19
BRI F720%HE EFERETE - &
PG B ER 1T B SR B PR20254F 2 HA (&
= ©

R2023F 12 A318 + &R EE R
52 HA 4R 17 18 ;& 5T A K #20,000,000
7T H & A R #10,000,0007T B & &
BEFI65%METEF RS - AR
10,000,0007T & & FX 1% & F3.55% H)
EFEFE - BEBEHRITERAE

2024, 2024 F B BB E
27 LEASE LIABILITIES 27 HE&E
As at 31 December
RI12A31RH

2024 2023
20244 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TRE AR®TET

Minimum lease payments due THHEIHNEEE

I3k
— Within | year — IR 1,266 4710
— Between | and 2 years — B2 — 2,320
1,266 7,030
Less: future finance charges W RKIEE A (20) (210)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBBRE 1,246 6,820
Portion classified as current liabilities NEARBEBEMNIS 1,246 4,530
Portion classified as non-current liabilities DERERBDEENIHLS — 2,290
The present value of lease liabilities is as follows: HH E B EMBRELAT :
— Within | year — IFA 1,246 4530
— Between | and 2 years — 1E2%F — 2,290
1,246 6,820
BHREEBRAA

F 3R 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

27 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 27 HEEE®)

The following table sets forth the discount rate of our lease TREIHEEGBERATEHRMAMEX:
liabilities as the dates indicated:

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
2024 PIRES
Lease liabilities HERE 4.38% 4.34%
The Group leases various properties and land use right for AREHBAHEKLEHESEWEL T HMFER
operation and these liabilities were measured at net present ¥ ZEZatERHBARMRAINNEE
value of the lease payments during the lease terms that are not NEEEEE
yet paid.
The loss and total comprehensive loss shows the following BRI EHEGEAEBRATHEESH
amounts relating to leases: K& 58

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR¥ETT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets TREEENITEER
Leased properties MEWME 3,806 4347
Land use right + i 4 534 701
4,340 5,048
Interest expense (included in finance costs) MEF 2 (Gt A B A A) 162 326
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHEERENMAX
(included in administrative expenses) GTAITHRA ) 733 682
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 3l HZE204FN2A3BLFE HEEEMSR
December 2024 was RMB5,439,000 (2023: RMB5,500,000). S B R A R¥5439,0007T (20234 :

A B #85,500,0007T) °

Information about right-of-use assets is set out in Note I5. FRAERREEENERENMEISSR

198 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

28 DEFERRED INCOME 28 EIEW A

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRE ARETE
Government grants BB
Reimbursement of future expenses HERRAX 2,595 18,133
Reimbursement of capital expenditures HEERFX 729 1,524
Total Mt 3,324 19,657
Government grants as reimbursement of capital expenditures 1R 7% 1 B B A 52 B R 2R B 2 RO BT 776 B
and future expenses are subsidies received for compensating RAMEANRERE THEABIRKE
the Group's future production and research and development BE R Bt 3% 7 B 1 AR 2 o 6 Bl o

activities with regards to certain projects.

The amount of government grants that credited to the AT A 2T W el R RO BRI 1 B & B R MY e
statement of comprehensive income is disclosed in Note 6. B -
29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29 ESZREMENRKE

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETET
Payables for service suppliers (Note (a)) JE 1<t AR 765 £ & 78 3K 1R
(Pt =E @) 39,373 68,288
Salary and staff welfare payables i #HekEITRET 5,084 14,211
Payables for materials and consumables (Note (a)) ¥ ¥ & ¥ #7124 #) FE (- 5K 18
(M 3£ @) 1,583 13,313
Payables for audit services E AT AR B A B FE A R 1,460 2,800
Payables for property, plant and equipment M BB MR EENRIA 402 1,666
Payables for interest expenses JE A H B R X 138 309
Payables for individual income tax and other taxes & & {[E A FT15 ¢ & H {th £ 18 17 432
Others Hib 5,054 3,48

53,111 104,500

BARERARAF
F35 2024 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 29 EZRHEHMENRE R

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all trade and other payables M2024F R 2023F12A3I8 - AR B MEE

of the Group were non-interest bearing, and their fair values SR EMEMNRIEL TR BEHREH

approximated their carrying amounts due to their short BRE HARBEEAKREEMRS °

maturities.

(@) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of @ M2024F K2023F 1 A3IR - M KR
payables for materials and consumables and payables for T 7 A B B AN SR IR K B AN AR 75 L FE 7
service suppliers based on invoice date are as follows: HEEREZEHNEREITOT

As at 31 December

RI12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTE ARBTFT
— Within | year — IFA 5,353 61,062
— More than one year — IFE 35,603 20,539

30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 30 IRLEFTEHEME

As at 31 December
MI12A31H

2024 2023
20245 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®TET

The balance comprises temporary differences 4 #2 B IA T T IHELH B
attributable to: Bk E

Intangible assets appraisal arising from business & HEEMNEFLEE
combination 15 124,173 124,173
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 30 IRILEFTBHEB &)
(Continued)

31

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARE¥ETT
Deferred income tax liabilities: EREERAE:
To be recovered after 12 months RR1218 A 1& 42 [E] 31,043 31,043
SHARE CAPITAL 31 R
Share capital of the Company KN T IR A
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 RNAaE R0I8FS5HI6H £ M € 8 B 5 fit
May 2018 with an initial authorized share capital of USD50,000 BN W06 5E T AR AN A50,0003% JT 0 H
divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par value of USD0.0001 /5500,000,0000% & B&% E {E0.00012E JT /9 I&
each. 1 o
On 15 June 2023, the Company increased the authorized 2023 F6AI5H  AAF BB INETEK
share capital to US$70,000 divided into 700,000,000 Shares of 7520,0003% 7T (4 £200,000,000 f% & % M &
US$0.0001 each by the creation of additional US$20,000 divided 00001 LW IE ) » B 3xFERRAIE N E

into 200,000,000 Shares of US$0.0001 each. 70,0003 JT.(5 A&700,000,000/% & A% & &

0.0001E JTH B 17) °

Equivalent

Number Nominal value nominal value

of shares of shares of shares
KD EE BROEE KROZSEERE
usD RMB
= ARBT
As at | January 2024 and R2024F 1 AI1B K
) (Beeailbeg A0 20242128318 447,499,600 44,750 314,633
As at | January 2023 and 202351 1A K&
31 December 2023 2023F 12 A31H 447,499,600 44750 314,633
FRAEXERAA

3R 2024

201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company has appointed a trustee to assist with the
administration and vesting of awards granted pursuant to the
employee incentive scheme (“the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme”). The Company may (i) allot and issue shares to the
trustee and the shares will be used to satisfy the awards upon
vesting and/or (ii) direct and procure the trustee to receive
existing shares from any shareholder or purchase existing shares
(either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the awards upon
vesting. All the shares granted and to be granted under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme shall be transferred, allotted
and issued to the trustee. The Company issued and allotted
2,361,359 shares (23,613,590 shares as adjusted upon the
completion of the capitalisation issue of initial public offering) of
USDO0.0001 each to Kiya Company Limited (“Kiya"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, which is incorporated by the
trustee on behalf of the Group for the benefit of the participants

pursuant to the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme.

The Grantees may elect to pay the consideration by (i) paying
sufficient funds to the trustee to cover the consideration; or (ii)
instructing the Trustee to sell some or all of the vested shares
to settle the consideration payable, provided the proceeds from
the sale of shares shall be sufficient to cover the consideration.
Each participant shall be required to make payment in full for
the award granted under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
at the date of vesting or some other date as determined by the
Board and/or the administrator in their absolute discretion, failing
which the transfer of the shares shall be deferred until such time

as and when consideration is paid in full.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

32 BEE MBS ENRS

ARRIEEZEF —BXEA UHBHEERER
FEBIRIEE B ME T 2 ([20206F B B ®
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By (TwmedrmE LBE) UNBITHB
% EEEE - BIR2020F 1 B B B RT &I
RGERHOABERMDESEE « BB RE
TTXFEA ARAIE R IE20205 & B &
Bt I AR B E S X 25 AMKiya Company
Limited ([Kiya)) (AEEH = EM B AR
AXFEARKAEE ML) BT RE
36139 (RBAARBEENERNMEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE

INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (Continued)

This special purpose vehicle, Kiya, is consolidated in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as the Company
has power to govern the relevant activities of Kiya and can
derive benefits from the contributions of the eligible employees
who are awarded with the shares under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme, the directors of the Company consider
that it is appropriate to consolidate Kiya. The shares are held
under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme until such time as
they are vested. Forfeited shares will be redeemed at the paid

consideration and if applicable, plus 5% per annum interest.

(@ On 20 September 2023, the Board of Directors of the
Company cancelled the original Tranche B Awards and
provided the relevant Selected Persons with a replacement
award of an equivalent number of share options as the
original Tranche B Awards at the exercise price of HKD3.50
per Share (the “Tranche C Awards").

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

32 MEERBFAFENRG &)

2020F EE R BFE(2)

HRAARBEERFRE R QA Kyah
MEREED) - WAL AR R 20204 & B B &t
EESRMNEEREENTERTESH
&= BKyaB RSB/ ERE B 75K
EHAR NRARESR BKyah AR
TEBEE - ZERMIBIE2020F E 8 B
FFERE EEXZEBEAL c EWERMG
BIEEMREM(NER) %M FEED -

@ H2023F9A20H - ARREESEE
5% B #E X B 52 B I 4= 17 (£ B & AR3.50
BILREEENLABEBRSHE
Bk R AR R B R SR ([#HE R C 8
BDAEHEEEEAL -

BAhEEBIRAF
3R 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continved)

(b) On 30 September 2023, the Company granted two
separate tranches (A and C) of 3,468,200 share options in
the Company under this Scheme to each Participant. Each
share option represents a share of the Company in issue
as of the date of the Grant Letter to Participants. Each
tranche of share options has its own price per share being
USDO0.0442 (after the completion of the Capitalisation
Issue) per share for tranche A and HKD3.50 per share for

tranche C, respectively.

The fair value of the share options granted have been
valued by an independent qualified valuer using binomial
option-pricing model for USD batch and HKD batch as at

the grant date. Key assumptions are set as below:

32 RiEEHBIASEAENRS @)

(b) M2023F9A308 - AR RIE R I &
RREBIH R (ARC) AEMAZEE
T34682000 R EHIHE - BHRE
HERRL2BEEERTRHARAA
AIEETH—RERE - FELRHK
SHENEESAER(BR) - He -
BRAR B B ER004NE T (ER
{EEBEITRKE) - #LRCHER AR
3.507 7T ©

RETH AR TRESENRE
BEEREEMMBIFHAFNA X
JE B 2 3t 3% JT#t R A8 JTHE K AT
it ERKRROT:

Risk-free interest rate 4 & B ) R 4.72%—-5.25% 3.94%—4.40%
Expected volatility T8 B By =X 51.4%—65.9% 51.4%—65.9%
Dividend yield ratio AR B A 0.0% 0.0%
Grant date option fair value per share RTRAGKkELRER USDO0.3090- HKDO0.5023—
USD0.3154 HKDI.2792

0.3090% 7T - 0.50237% 70—

0.31543 7T 1279278 7T

Exercise price 1TEE USD0.0442 HKD3.50
0.0442% 7T 3.507% JT

(¢ On 19 March 2024, the Board of Directors of the Company
cancelled the original Tranche C Awards. On |0 April 2024
and 25 April 2024, the Board of Directors of the Company
provided the relevant Selected Persons with a replacement
award of an equivalent number of share options as the
original Tranche C Awards at the exercise price of HKDI.00
per Share (the “Tranche D Awards”) and modified
vesting dates of previous original Tranche C Awards to 3|
March 2025 and 31 March 2026.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

© M204F3A198  ARBESEHE
Jo A BE IR CEEE) o FR2024F4 108 &
2024F 4258 - KRR EEGIKRITE
B & %1.007% T % [t B2 St BT #t IR C 52
BREHEENKREHREABERER
((#XDEBMDGLBEAEEALT - I
% 55 Bl Bt X CER B &9 55 B8 B 18 21 &2025
F3A31H K2026F3A318 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continved)

@

©

On 10 April 2024 and 25 April 2024, the Company
granted two separate tranches (A and D) of 8,850,000
share options in the Company under this Scheme to each
Participant. Each share option represents a share of the
Company in issue as of the date of the Grant Letter to
Participants. Each tranche of share options has its own price
per share being USD0.0442 per share for tranche A and
HKDI.00 per share for tranche D, respectively.

The fair value of the share options granted have been
valued by an independent qualified valuer using binomial
option-pricing model for USD batch and HKD batch as at

the grant date. Key assumptions are set as below:

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

32 MEERBFAFENRG &)

d) 20245 4H108 k2024548258 + 7K
NEVR R UL ET R M E B L3R (AR
D) A & i £ B & % 78,850,00017 X 5=
Hi#E - fﬂﬂx%—‘i,ﬁﬁﬁéﬁi‘%@éﬁ%é%
ETHARARAREETH—REKRE -

ALK PR 2 HMWWEREFT%
(Bl Ed - HEXANERBER
0.0442% 7T #LXDH B AT X1.00
BT °

RETH IR TRESENQ(E
EEReEMNB LT HAFNA X
JE B R 2 Bt 3% JT 4t R A8 JTHE X AT
it ERKRROT:

Risk-free interest rate = [ B 1) 2
Expected volatility T8 210 @J =
Dividend yield ratio IR B 5 =

Grant date option fair value per share

Exercise price 1T fE

On 31 March 2023, a total of 2,144,123 shares from tranche
A were vested. The Group received from the Grantees a
total amount of HKD735,515 (equivalent to approximately
RMB641,433). The participants gave up tranche B
aggregating 2,194,123 shares.

On 3| March 2024, a total of 1,152,176 shares from tranche
A were vested. The Group received from the Grantees a
total amount of HKD395,610 (equivalent to approximately
RMB359,028). The participants accepted the cancellation of
tranche C aggregating 4,719,064 shares.

ETHESRHEQICEE

3.78%—4.06%
46.4%—48.0%

5.06%—5.32%
46.4%—48.0%

0.0% 0.0%
USDO0.0781— HKDO.1576—
USD0.0809 HKDO0.2524
0.07813E JT— 0.15767& Tt —
0.0809% JT 0.25247% 7T
USDO0.0442 HKDI.00
0.04423€ 7T .00/ 7T

() M2023F3A31H  #LIRAS 2,144,123
BRIERNDESE - AEEERRARE
SRBEESEEA735558TEERLYOA
R ®6414337T) - 2 EEWEH RBE
512,194, 1230 B 17 °

20243 A318  #hk ASG 21,152,176
BERHESE AEEEERKALRE
B4 58 539561056 7T (FHE R A
R#359,02870) - 2 HEREZ IR
C48514,719,064 0% % 12 °

BAhEEBIRAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG MR RS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

(e) (Continued)
On 30 September 2024, a total of 42,900 shares from
tranche A were vested. The Group received from the
Grantees a total amount of HKDI4,762 (equivalent to
approximately RMBI3,466).

The expense recognised in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income and other reserves for

32 RiEEHBIASEAENRS @)

©

(#)

202459 A308 - #LIRAS $£42,9008%
BNERE AFEEERRARES
MBS ERI47QBTHEROAR
13,4667T) ©

BE24FRANALEE  REaR
W 2l 2k N HoAth et 5 P FE SR B (R (B B

share options granted to the employees amounted to RENBREHENRASXHNRAARE
approximately minus RMB9,112,000 for the year ended 3| 9,112,0007T (20234 = A K #22,989,000
December 2024 (2023: RMB22,989,000). 7o) °

Set out below is the movement in the number of awarded VAT #51AR #2020 6 & B 2 Bh &t 8 4%
restricted share units/share options under the 2020 %E,]XBE%”HXT/\DD{_L/HXTHﬂﬁégi

Employee Incentive Scheme:

For the year For the year
ended ended
31 December 3| December
2024 2023
B E2024F  HE2023F
124318 12A318
ILFE IE=5E
At the beginning of the year R 4] 8,101,790 11,672,870
Share options/restricted share units granted ~ F AR H IR EHi#E SR Fl
during the year =V 13,569,064 6,252,027
Share options/restricted share units vested ~ FRFBIRZHI#E SR
during the year % 10 B L (1,195,076) (2,468961)
Share options/restricted share units lapsed FREBREREZR G
during the year IR 17 B L — (2,194,123)
Share options/restricted share units forfeited 4 (A Uk [B] A% 22 B4 =2 BR
during the year W&t B AL (2,456,162) (2,376,196)
Share options/restricted share units cancelled 4 PIEUE B ZHi#E 2R I
during the year R 17 B8 {2 (4,719,064) (2,783,827)
At the end of the year RER 13,300,552 8,101,790
Shares not yet granted at the end of the year 4 3R i&] K & 1 B i% 15 16,455,628 9,548914

206 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

[,195,076 ordinary shares of the Company (2023: 2,468,961)

to the Grantees upon vesting of the awarded shares (Note

32).

33 RESERVES 33 fi#fm
At | January 2024 R20245 1 81H 4,181,731 60,743 (3,784,664) 457,810
Loss for the year FNERE - - (155,292) (155,292)
Share-based payments (Note 32) AR A BB 2 A
(Bt532) - (9,112) - 9,112)
Shares vested under the employee REESHEFEER
incentive scheme and transferred to REBEER AR
the grantees (Note 32) 3 (i 7E32) 28,408 (28,037) — 371
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A318 4,210,139 23,594 (3,939,956) 293,771
At | January 2023 RW202351A1H 4,103949 114,782 (2,723,844) 494,887
Loss for the year FRNER — — (1,060,820 (1,060,820
Share-based payments (Note 32) AR 19 A BB ) %
(i 5E32) — 22,989 — 22,989
Shares vested under the employee BEEENEAEE
incentive scheme and transferred to REBEER ARR
the grantees (Note 32) A (P 3E32) 77782 (77028) — 754
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31H 4,181,731 60,743 (3,784,664) 457810
(@) During the year ended 31 December 2024, Kiya transferred () BELZE2024F12A3IHIEFE * Kyad 82

B R% 10 57 B 18 M) A I A B 51,195,076
A% AR A B 38 IR (20234 1 2,468,961 %)
(Pft 3%32) °

FRMEERRAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

34 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 4 REBEEHRERM:E

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(i) RFAGHABRESERARE
By ¥ AR

(i) Reconciliation of loss before income tax to

208

cash used in operations

Year ended 31 December

BENRANBLFE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB®TRE ARETE
Loss before income tax BR P 15 % Al 5 18 (155,274) (1,068,861)
Adjustments for: BhUA TS & IE 1 R
Amortisation of intangible assets | & i (N TR 7 M 5 16)
(Note 7 and Note [6) 133 19
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERZETE M7
equipment (Note 7 and Note 14) AHTE14) 13,154 13,854
Depreciation of right-of-use assets & A#EEEE (M 7R &
(Note 7 and Note 15) 15) 4,340 5,003
Provision for inventories to net realisable &I ZA] # R FEMNTFEKE
value (Note 7 and Note 21) 2 1 (P 57 R M 3E21) 2,100 603,879
Provision for bad debts of other ST 12 H At & M 5k 78 45 AR 2 (FfT
receivables (Note 3.1) FE3.1) 1,206 —
Impairment of intangible assets | & 2R E (MY s 7 Bt 5 16)
(Note 7 and Note 16) — 86,589
Impairment of property, plant and W~ B N R R E (T 527
equipment (Note 7 and Note 14) Ko Bt 5E14) 6,609 46,355
(Reversal)/Impairment of right-of-use L E (Bm), JRE M
assets (Note 7 and Note 15) 7H0 B 5 15) (1,039) 1,128
Impairment of other non-current assets HMIERBE ERE 8,249 —
Gains on financial assets at fair value BRAARBEFEAEZFHTA
through profit or loss (Note 8) EHEROSRNE E W (I
i8) ) “91)
Gains on disposal of property, plant and &Y - B FE & && & U= (
equipment (Note 8) #8) ) (10)
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets & 5 B E W e (M FE8)
(Note 8) (2,519) —
Share of losses/(gains) of an associate and a 2 G & A A R & & B FEHE
joint venture (Note 17 and Notel8) 18 (W zs) (BT 317 5% B 3 18) 1,429 (52)
Interest expenses (Note 9) ) 8 5 2 (Kt 7E9) 9,277 9,690
Interest income (Note 6) FIE M A (Bt 3E6) (4,209) (13,077)
Government grants (Note 28) XA 78 Bh (FfS 5E28) (16,333) —
Share-based compensation (reversal)/ ARR 10 B E B 37 B (3K 88)
expenses (Note 10 and Note 32) F 2 (Pt 5 108 B 5E32) 9,112) 22,989
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses PE N, (W e ) E51BFHE (2,115) 4012
Changes in working capital: LEESEE:
— Other receivables — Hfh R E 8,573 7623
— Inventories —RFE 4,315) (376)
— Trade and other payables — B 5 K H A e FRIA (49,954) (106,838)
— Amounts due to related parties — JETBA R 5 3K IA (1,441) 1,742
— Deferred income — B A — (295)
— Other non-current assets — HMIEREBEE (3,999) 1,663
Cash used in operations KREMARSE (195,242) (385,354)

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

34 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 4 REBEERERM T 2

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(i) TEFRERZ
REZE204FNRA3IBLEFE > £B3
REeERHANKEEARER K EA
FETEROZIBRFIBRMECHEE
A BR#9112,0007T °

(ii) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the principal
non-cash transactions are the credit of RMB9,112,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income and other reserves for restricted share units.

REZ203F23IBEFE £ 2
FRERGRABETRAREEARYE
114250007t K RéF & 2 EK R KA
b 5% 8 R 3R 9 52 PR 1 AR 1) B8 iz /Y A
& AR #022,989,0007T °

During the year ended 3| December 2023, the principal
non-cash transactions are the additions of right-of-use
assets of RMBI1,425,000 and the expense of RMB22,989,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and other reserves for restricted share units.

(i EEZHEENYER

(iii) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing

activities

Lease liabilities Borrowings Total

HEAR f6 ™ Azt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT ARBTT

At | January 2024 20241 A 1B 6,820 247,409 254,229
Financing cash flows in HERERA - 34,283 34,283
Financing cash flows out BERL R (4,706) (158,906) (163,612)
Interest expenses FERZ 162 9,115 9,277
Disposal of leased properties HEHRENE (1,030) — (1,030)
At 31 December 2024 R20245 12 A318 1,246 131,901 133,147
At I January 2023 1202351 A18 9,886 276,500 286,386
Financing cash flows in BEFRERA — 70,000 70,000
Financing cash flows out BEFR LR (4818) (111,157) (115975)
Interest expenses FBHY 326 12,066 12,392
Increase of leased properties EMEENE 1,426 — 1426
At 31 December 2023 M2023%F12A31R 6,820 247409 254229

BRERERAR

F 3R 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 B A RS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related
if they are subject to common control, common significant

influence or joint control.

The equity holders, members of key management and their close
family members of the Group are also considered as related

parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the

W= BRENERIEREF R —T7 » X
LB R EERRITMEH S 7717
BEAFEN  AEHREREBT - K
EXAREY  KREARXEXB S
Bl - TR SRR

BamiA AEEXT2EEEXE MK
FRMRMERSERS - RABESER
R BRI —REBBREPRR

related party transactions were carried out in the normal course S X BB EEAIEETT -
of business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the
respective related parties.

HiE N EEB T NBEERNT

Name and relationship with related parties are set out

below:
Dr. Qun Lu One of the key management before 30 August 2024
PEEFE L 2024F8ARAMAEEEEEKE 2 —

Dr. Ren Zhihua One of the key management
EEEFL TEEEEKEZ—

FAREZBEREEN  UTREE
summary of the significant transactions carried out between 2024F 2023 F 12 A3 B IEFEARE
the Group and its related parties in the ordinary course of EHBAK TN —REBBERET
EARZGOBE -

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the following is a

business during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(ii) Balances

The related party balances as at 31 December 2024 and
2023, are shown below:

FEMBRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

35 BB SR F (%)

(i) &R
20245 20235 12 A3 BB A B 5 45
ERBIREOT -

As at 31 December
®I12A318

2024
20245

2023
20234
RMB'000
AR®ET T

RMB’000
AR¥T T

Amounts due to related parties in relation FtUXE| BB E

to receipt of government grants not yet &) Ak 2 5 F @8 Bt 5 &9

paid to related parties: JE <Y Fé8 Bk 7 SRH -

— Dr. Qun Lu —ERBL 400 2,000

— Dr. Ren Zhihua — ESERL 159 —
559 2,000

As at 31 December 2024, all balances with related parties
of the Group were non-interest bearing and non-trade in
nature, and their fair values approximated their carrying
amounts due to their short maturities.

2024 12 A318 - ANEEEBEB 5 H
FIBEEBHETHERABIIESIME -
BERRISERE  HEAnBEEE
BREEMESE -

BARERARAF
F35 2024
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mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 BB AR5 (&)
(Continued)
(iii)) Key management compensation: (i EEEEEHMH:
Key management includes executive directors, chief officers FTEEREORNTES  TETK
and vice presidents. The compensation paid or payable to ABREIRR - EERBENHE
key management for employee services is shown below: NEZEBENFMIRNOT:

Year ended 31 December

BZ1RAIBLEE

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARB TR ARBTT

Salaries, wages and bonuses ¥e IEREALA 17,036 24,528

Contribution to pension scheme RIKEFTEI K 394 460
Housing funds, medical insurance and FTEAES BERR

other social insurance K H A g R 369 418

Share-based compensation expenses VA RR 19 /5 25 188 ) 357 BN ) =2 (1o,011) 13,542

7,788 38,948

212 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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B IR M A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

36 COMMITMENTS 36 HEFH
(i) Lease commitments (excluding the right-of- () HEAB(TEREERAREER
use assets and lease liabilities) HEAE)

(i)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group leases some
offices and equipment under irrevocable lease contracts
with lease term less than one year and leases of low value
that have been exempted from recognition of right-of-
use assets permitted under IFRSI6. The future aggregate
minimum lease payment under irrevocable lease contracts

for these exempted contracts are as follows:

20244 K 2023% 12 A318 * NEER
BRAREEEANHESETHAE
B ZEANEHLIR—FRA
EEEHAE EREBBRMEREE
AlBIREEREERERAEEE -
ZEEREENRETAREEES
HORREEREFRBRBELT:

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
20244 plopkk:=
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TRT AREKTET
No later than | year I 1A 262 167
Capital expenditure commitments (i) EXRBE XA

Capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 but not yet incurred by the Group are as

follows:

20244 2202312 A318 - KEEE
R EMAEENERRLIIROT

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2024 2023
20245 PIRE:S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR AR®ET T
Property, plant and equipment M - B LR —_ 1,948
Investment in an associate and a joint venture 7 — KBt & A F K — K
BERENRE 513 42513
513 44461
FRAEXERAA

3R 2024
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mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

37 BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT 37 XAFINEEEBREEREH

OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE =
COMPANY
As at 31 December
RI12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Assets EE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RARMIEE — —
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE U5 B B8 2 R R IR 343,897 466,303
Time deposits EHFR —_ 10,835
Restricted cash XIRHIH 2 431 425
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 57,642 183,456
Total assets EEHAE 401,970 661,019
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN ENGIE ] 22,543 20,020
Other payables H fth & 15 R IR 2] 4,059
Total liabilities EEHAE 22,564 24,079
Equity =
Equity attributable to the equity holders AATEZFEA
of the Company iR
Share capital & 75 315 315
Shares held for the employee incentive scheme 1B B R BT Bl A MR i (12) (13)
Reserves B 379,103 636,638
Total equity ERBER 379,406 636,940
Total equity and liabilities EzRkEEEH 401,970 661,019

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

37 BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT 37 KAFINEEEBREREREH

OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE &g
COMPANY (Continued)
Share-based Share held
Share compensation  for employee  Accumulated
Share capital premium reserve  share scheme losses  Total equity
ARG HES
RERN kbt &
kx FHRE  BENRG ZitER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
/? ;’)\/— ARETT if/\/— a7 G i ,r:,Etf/, T
Balance at | January 2024 R04FIRIRDE S 315 6,710,623 60,743 (13)  (6134728) 636,940
Loss and total comprehensive loss forthe year ~ FREER2ABEER - - - - (248,794) (248,794)
Transactions with owners in their REGAGRBEEANRS
capacity as owners
Shere-based payments URHAER DA - - o.112) - - ©,112)
Shares vested under the employee incentive REEENBHEIERER
scheme and transferred to the grantees EBRERRANRA
(Note 32) (Hi30) - 28,408 (28,037) | - m
- 28,408 (37,149 | - (8,740)
Balance at 3| December 204 RO4EN AR 315 6,739,031 23,594 (1) (638352 379,406
Balance at | January 2023 ROBEIRIBH £ 315 6631841 114782 (14) (146897) 6,601,027
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ~ ERNEBR2AFBLE - - - — (5987831) (5987831)
Transactions with owners in their capacity REBAFRBEEANR S
as owners
Share-based payments HRDBERHEH - — 2989 — — 2989
Shares vested under the employee incentive REEEADHIRRR
scheme and transferred to the grantees BHERRANRA
(Note 3) (B 32) - 7178 (77008) \ — 755
— 7178 (54039) \ — B4
Balance at 31 December 2023 ROBEN A3 AR 45 315 6710623 0743 (13) (6,134728) 636940
The financial statements of the Company was approved and RNTH IS MR MR2025F3A26B & E S
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025. SHUERIREEM -
Director Director
EF EFE

FRMEERRAF
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mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

38 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS 38 EEME
(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the (@ BERAEAARESHNMEFTE
directors of the Company
The emoluments in respect of each of the directors paid/ BHZE224F12A3IBILEFE - AKEE
payable by the Group for the year ended 3| December N/ ENSEENMSE#S DT :

2024 are as follows:

Share-based

Basic salaries Retirement Social compensation

Fee and allowances Bonus  benefit costs  security costs expenses Total
AR
Exge Bk HERE  REEN

ik 831 B BHARE BE EMEX #hit

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  AR®TR AR®Tr ARMTR ARBTn  ARMTR AR%Tz

Executive directors BIES
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZBT 556 3,808 150 a 65 kEj 4963
Dr. Xiang Ni (i) B AL (i) - 3,162 129 7 19 808 4,93
Dr. Qun Lu (i) 33 B - 1,518 - 48 I (15,351) (13,774)
Non-executive directors FUTES
Dr. Michael Min Xu () REELW 8 - - - - - 8
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yewng () 3B L 4£() 78 - - - - - 8
Prof Liang Tong (v ERARY) 78 - - - - - 8
Ms. Geqi Wei (vi) EREL L) = = = = = = =
Mr. Weipeng Gao (v) B4 ) - - - - - - -
Mr. Chengwei Liu (v) BEEEEW - - - - - - -
1,390 8,488 m 170 9% (14,206) (3,784)

216 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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38 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the

directors of the Company (Continued)

The emoluments in respect of each of the directors paid/

payable by the Group for the year ended 3| December

2023 are as follows:

REPBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

38 EEME (&)
@ EBEAARESHMEHE B

HZE203FNA3NHIEFE  KREBR
N/ EESEEHMESENDOT :

Share-based
Basic salaries Retirement Soc compensation
Fee  and allowances Bonus  benefit costs  security costs expenses Tota
Y RINET t&RE
Be &4 i KA KA | 2t
RMB00) RMB00) RMB000) RMB00) RMB00) RMB00) RMB000)
/J\E;é“i/:[ /;\E;é{»/:[ /;\E;é{»/:[ /‘:\E;é“i/:[ \E%?::[ /:\E%:/:[ /J\EFFT:/:[
Executive directors BIES

Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZBT 544 6010 2| 4 60 — 6911
Ms. Yan Lu (i) BRIt — 1445 8 18 15 (1236) 35
Dr. Qun Lu (i) 33 B — 3008 23 70 3 1416 14648
Dr. Xiang Ni (i R A8 (i) — 424 125 70 5 162 4661

Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Chengwei Liu (v) BERLLN) — — — — — — —
Dr. Michael Min Xu (1) BT m — — — — - m
Mr. Walace Wai Yim Yewng ()~ 3R 4£() m - - - - - m
Prof Liang Tong (v ERARY) m — — — — — m
Ms. Gegi Wei (i) ERsaLe) — — — — — — -
Mr. Weipeng Gao (v) RN () — — — — — — —
1360 14707 58 04 167 10342 736

BRBEEERAR

F 3R 2024
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mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

38 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the
directors of the Company (Continued)

0)

(i

(i)

(v)

(V)

(V)

Salaries are paid in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings.

Bonus is determined based on the financial performance of the
Group and the performance of each individual.

Dr. Qun Lu and Dr. Xiang Ni were appointed as executive directors
of the Group on 14 April 2023. Dr. Qun Lu retired on 20 June
2024 as an executive director, there is a reversal of share-based
compensation expenses of RMBI5,351,000 during the year ended 3|
December 2024.

Ms. Yan Lu was appointed as an executive director of the Group on
31 January 2022. As Ms. Yan Lu resigned on |3 April 2023, there is
a reversal of share-based compensation expenses of RMBI,236,000
during the year ended 3| December 2023.

The increase of emoluments for Dr. Michael Min Xu, Mr. Wallace
Wai Yim Yeung and Prof. Liang Tong during the year ended 2024 is
due to the appreciation of HKD against RMB.

Ms. Gegi Wei, Mr. Weipeng Gao and Mr. Chengwei Liu did not
receive any emolument during the years ended 3| December 2024
and 2023. Mr. Chengwei Liu retired as a non-executive director on
20 June 2024.
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38 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

(©)

(d)

()

)

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefit during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Group did not pay consideration to any third party for
making available directors’ services during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings were made
available in favour of directors, bodies corporate controlled
by and entities connected with directors subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the years ended 3|
December 2024 and 2023.

Inducement or waiver of emoluments

No directors received emoluments from the Group
as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for the years ended 3l
December 2024 and 2023. No directors waived or had
agreed to waive any emoluments for the years ended 3|
December 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 35, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the years ended 3| December 2024 and
2023.
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39 SUBSIDIARIES 39 fHE AT
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at year ended 3| RNE BN E E2024F K2023F 12 A3 B IEF
December 2024 and 2023 are set out below: ERMBRARIMFIBHIINAT:
Place of registration/
incorporation and place Nominal value
of operations and date of incorporation/ Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
incorporation and kind of registered share FAAEEREADY
Name legal entity capital  Asof 31 December  Principal activities
if/ERAIEEREELY  ERALEN
tR NREMRIBERAREERE HE/ERRE  HEnANE  TERED
2024 A3
WUF  203F
Directly held:
=632
Kintor Science Limited Hong Kong HKDIOO  100% 100%  Holding company in Hong Kong
15 June 2018,
limited liability company
Kintor Science Limited 3 00E7  100%  100% ABERAF
WI8F6AI5E -
BRAAE
Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited Hong Kong HKDIOO  100%  100%  Holding company in Hong Kong
| August 2018,
limited liability company
Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited e 007 100%  100% FHBERAA
I8FBAIA
N
Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. United States of America — 100%  100%  New drug research and development
3 November 2018
Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. % —100% loon BRI
I8EIABE
Koshine Cosmetics Inc. United States of America USDIOO  100%  100%  Cosmetics research, development and
19 December 2023 commercialisation
Koshine Cosmetics Inc. X8 l00Er  100% 100% {LHEHRE- BEREEE
WBE2R198
Kintor Cosmetic Holdings Limited Ireland USDI 100% —  Holding company in Ireland
|7 September 2024
Private Company Limited by Shares
Kintor Cosmetic Holdings Limited ER® IET 100% —  ERWERAA
049178
hERDERLA

220 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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HE204F 12831 IEFE

39 SUBSIDIARIES (Continved) 39 B AR (&)

Place of registration/
incorporation and place Nominal value
of operations and date of incorporation/ Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
incorporation and kind of registered share FAREREEDY
Name legal entity capital  Asof 31 December  Principal activities
ift/ERRIAEREXLE  ERALIRY
&R HWREMAYBERE2EREY EE/ERRE  BEnA3E  TEED
2024 A3
WUE  03F
Indirectly held:
HESEE:
Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Suzhou, PRC RMB39419442  100%  100%  Research and development
ENRAEERDBRAE) (Note (i) 24 March 2009,
limited liabilty company
ENRREERAERAA (W) HEENM ARB9419407  100%  100%  BE
2009%3A4A
BRAT
Koshine Hong Kong Lirited (FE & A B R A7) Hong Kong HKDIOO  100%  100%  New drug research, development and
(Note(il) [7May 2018, commercialisation, cosmetics manufacturing,
limited liabilty company retailing and wholesaling, and overseas
investment
REREARLR () B l0ET  100% 100% HERE - RENERL - ChREE-
NIBESAITA TENRE  DRENRE
BRAE
Suzhou Koshine Biomedica, Inc. Suzhou, PRC RMB7500000  100%  100%  Research, development and commercialsation
HENREBEERAA) (Note () 21 September 2010,
limited liability company
ENREBEAR AR () GRS ARETS00000  100%  100% FEREEL
I0FIALA -
BRAT
Shanghai Xituo Biotechnology Co, Ltd. Shanghai, PRC RMBIOOO00  100%  100%  Research and development
(EBEREMBBERAR) (Note () 10 April 2019,
limited liability company
EBERENBEERAR (K HE LA ARBI00000  100%  l00%  FFE

019%F4F 108 +
BRAA

BAhEEBIRAF
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39 SUBSIDIARIES (Continved) 39 B AR (&)

Place of registration/
incorporation and place Nominal value
of operations and date of incorporation/ Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
incorporation and kind of registered share FAREREEDY
Name legal entity capital  Asof 31 December  Principal activities
ift/ERRIAEREXLE  ERALIRY
&R HWREMAYBERE2EREY EE/ERRE  BEnA3E  TEED
2024 A3
WUE  03F
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Zhejiang) Co,, Lid. Zhejiang, PRC USD35000000  100%  100%  Manufacturing, commercialisation, research
(RABZ(FT)BRAR) (Note () 27 June 2019, and development
limited liability company
RAZECHT) BRAR (F3E() REHL BO00000ETL  100%  100% HE - BELRTE
WI9FEANE -
BRAT
Oriza Flight International Limited Cayman Islands USD3  100%  100%  Investment holding
2 January 2018
Oriza Flight Intemational Limited REHS FL100% 0% REER
WI85I A2R
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Beijing) Co, Ltd. Beijing, PRC RMB64000000  100%  100%  Manufacturing commercialisation, research
(RREZFR)ARAT) (Note () 25 August 2020, and development
limited liability company
RAZELR) AR (M) HELR ARB6A00000  100%  100%  HE BELRTE
200%8A28
BRAT
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Guangdong) Co, Ltd. Guangdong, PRC USD40000000  100%  100%  Manufacturing commercialisation, research
(RAEZ(ER)ARAT) Note () 30 Juy 2020, and development
limited liabilty company
RAE%(ER)BRAR (B HEER 400000007 100%  100% B BECRAE
0FTH308 -
BRAH
Suzhou Tuochuang Investment Co, Ltd. Suzhou, PRC RMB62000000  100%  100%  Venture capital (iimited to unlisted
(BEMNREIEIZRERRAA) (Note () 19 January 2022, enterprises)
limited liability company
BMNRelgI R ERRAT (F3E() e N ARER00000  100%  100%  EIEREBRFELIEE)

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(i)  These entities are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under
the PRC law.

(i) Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited was changed to the name of
Koshine Hong Kong Limited on 28 February 2024. Its principal activities
was changed to new drug research, development and commercialisation,
cosmetics manufacturing, retailing and wholesaling, and overseas
investment simultaneously.

The English names of the subsidiaries are translation made by
management of the Company as they do not have official English

names.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Bank borrowing quota

On 18 March 2025, Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceutical Inc., a
subsidiary of the Company, has obtained a bank credit quota
of RMB70,000,000 from Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
Suzhou Branch, with an availability period of 3 years, secured by
certain land use right, buildings and construction in progress. The
Group has drawn down a bank loan of RMB35,000,000 in March
2025.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

41.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between entities within the Group are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with

the policies adopted by the Group.

41.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY HAEEEEEARZEZN T
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES EME &)
(Continued)

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control,
generally but not necessarily accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s
investments in associates include underlying goodwill
identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment

loss.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition profit
or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised
in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in
the carrying amount of the investment. Where the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interests
in the associate, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or

made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that investments accounted
for using the equity method, including investments in
associates and joint ventures are impaired. If this is the
case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the
investment and its carrying value and recognises the amount
in “Other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.
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4]

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.3

41.4

Associates (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. If the ownership interest in an
associate is reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to the consolidated statement of financial position where

appropriate.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-
acquisition profit or loss and movements in other
comprehensive income. Where the Group's share of losses
in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint
venture (which includes any other unsecured long-term
receivables that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the

joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.4

41.5

41.6

Joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed where necessary to

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group has been focusing on research and development of
innovative medicine products. Accordingly, the management
considers that the Group is operated and managed as a
single operating segment and hence no segment information

is presented.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Company’s functional and the

Group's presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income, except when
deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying

cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income, within finance costs. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income on a net basis

within other gains or losses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in comprehensive income as part of the fair value
through profit or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

41.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group

entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-

inflationary economy) that have a functional currency

different from the presentation currency are translated

into the presentation currency as follows:

()

(i)

(ii)

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial

position;

income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

all resulting currency translation differences are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

REPBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

HE204F 12831 IEFE

HaEEEEAEEN ST
EHME®)

416 INEEH IR ()

o EELA

D EREINKREE NRMNME

SEER(EPTIIRBEERIK
KBERBRE®)MWERERITBIR
MBI HEBRE AT REE:

(i)

(i)

517 2 ¥ A B 75 AR 0L 3R R AY
BEEBBERZMBRAER
FEANBMERBZE

UH- /lm>3 #T

BheamiasR AR AR
SR g [ R 5 (FRIE 1t
BEIINERZXZBEHEAT
EXZATENAENE:
FERBERT » WA MR
RHZEHNERBRE) K&

PREMILEENEKELZE
BREMEEmEEER -

BAhEEBIRAF
3R 2024

229



230

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment include buildings, machinery
and equipment, office equipment and furniture, motor
vehicles and construction in progress and are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of

the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their

residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings 30 years
— Machinery and equipment 5-20 years
— Office equipment and furniture 5-10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is

greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 41.9).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

HagEEAEAEEN ST
EHME®)

ATE - BERRKE

W% CBERERBEREET  BWEK

CWARBRER  RERER
I& C IRIE L ARASR T E DI B o FE SR
KRABEKEZEHBE KBGO
&

HEKRARBEEZEBBEBRRK
%@ﬂﬁﬁT%ﬁ AEHE - MZAE
BRI ANBER T ER - Tt ABE
MEEEXERS - HBLEE (R
ERIEAME) - REERD B BRE B #
RIETER - TR RMAEBREREKAN
REENMBARES S ZEKER
SHH e

W% BEEREBIWERREMLA
ERFHABERTABRENEE
HREREEE AR

—BF 304F

S 5-20%F
— WAREREA 5-104F
— "= 54

BEMNFGEERTEBFRES R
THRETRY  TEBERAE -

EEENFEEESREMGTTKRE &
o ABREEmENEMBEAWE SR8
(Pt 3E419) °



4]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised

in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents properties and
equipment under construction and is stated at cost less
impairment. This includes cost of construction, plant
and equipment and other direct costs. Construction-in-
progress is not depreciated until such time as the assets are

completed and are ready for intended use.

41.8 Intangible assets
(a) Software

Acquired software is capitalised on the basis of
the cost incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over
the estimated useful life of | to 10 years. The Group
should assess whether there is any indication that

software is impaired at each financial year end.

Software is amortised over the estimated useful lives
of the individual software. The useful lives of individual
software were assessed with consideration of the
contractual term, the current functionality equipped
by the software, using plan and operation needs of the

software.
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RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.8 Intangible assets (Continued)
(b) Research and development expenditures

The Group incurs significant costs and efforts
on research and development activities, which
include expenditures on drug products. Research
expenditures are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as an expense in the period
the expenditures are incurred. Development costs are
recognised as assets if they can be directly attributable
to a newly developed drug products and all the

following can be demonstrated:

(i) the technical feasibility of completing the
development project so that it will be available

for use or sale;

(i) the Group's intention to complete the

development project to use or sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the development

project;

(iv) how the development project will generate
probable future economic benefits for the

Group;

(v) the Group’s availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the development

project; and

(vi) the ability to measure reliably the expenditures

attributable to the development project.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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41.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Research and development expenditures

(Continued)

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditures incurred from the date
the asset meets the recognition criteria above to the
date when it is available for use. The costs capitalised
in connection with the intangible asset include costs of
materials and services used or consumed, employee
costs incurred in the creation of the asset and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. The Group
generally considers capitalisation criteria for internally
generated intangible assets is met when obtaining

regulatory approval of new drug license.

Capitalised development expenditures are amortised
using the straight-line method over the life of the
related drug products. Amortisation shall begin when
the asset is available for use. Subsequent to initial
recognition, internally generated intangible assets are
reported as cost less accumulated amortisation and

accumulated impairment losses (if any).

Development expenditures not satisfying the
above criteria are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as incurred and development
expenditures previously recognised as an expense are

not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

419 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting

period.

41.10 Financial assets
(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

(i) those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income, or
through profit or loss), and

(i) those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business
model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other

comprehensive income.
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4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) EERIE

(b) Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are

expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which

the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.
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RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Recognition and measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income:
Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCl, except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in finance costs and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in

profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income as applicable.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4] HAgEEEERZEZN ST
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4 e@EERE

41.11 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant

increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of

the receivables.

41.12Inventories

Inventories including raw materials, work in progress and
finished good are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and
fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on
the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned
to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted
average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined
after deducting discounts. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated

costs necessary to make the sale.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current

assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. For impairment of trade

receivables, refer to Note 41.11.

41.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits held at
banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

41.15 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If

not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.16 B FF % BY

41.16 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached

conditions.

Government grants relating to past expenses are
recognised directly in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.

Government grants relating to future costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to match

them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to assets are included in non-
current liabilities as “Deferred income” and are credited
to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the

related assets.

The recognition period of government grants is reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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4]

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.
In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs.
To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and

amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

41.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the year comprises current
and deferred income tax, which is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the income tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

@

®)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
When it is not probable, the Group measures its
tax balances either based on the most likely amount
or the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the

uncertainty.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss is affected.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B EBRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
B E204F12831HIEFE

4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)
Inside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise those temporary differences and

tax losses.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal
of the temporary difference for associates and joint
ventures. Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future,
deferred income tax liability in relation to taxable
temporary differences arising from the associates’ and

joint ventures” undistributed profit is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which

the temporary difference can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 4 HAEEEEAREZN T
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES EME &)
(Continued)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
where the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis

The Group entities in Mainland China participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by relevant
government authorities for its employees in Mainland China
and contribute to these plans based on certain percentage
of the salaries of the employees on a monthly basis, up
to a maximum fixed monetary amount, as stipulated by
the relevant government authorities. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations payable to all existing and future retired

employees under these plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administrated fund. The Group's employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.
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B E204F12831HIEFE

4]

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

The Group has no further obligation for post-retirement

benefits beyond the contributions made.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit

expense when they are due.

41.20Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of

tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back
or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net
of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to
the Company’s equity holders as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the

Company’s equity holders.

Shares held by the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
trust are disclosed as treasury shares and deducted from

contributed equity.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 4 HAEEEEAREZN T
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES EME &)
(Continued)

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme.

Information relating to the scheme is set out in Note 32.

The fair value of awarded shares granted to employees
under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme less amount
paid by employees is recognised as an employee benefits
expense over the relevant service period, being the vesting
period of the shares, and the credit is recognised in equity
in the share-based compensation reserve. The fair value of
the shares is measured at the grant date. The number of
shares expected to vest is estimated based on the service
conditions. The estimates are revised at the end of each
reporting period and adjustments are recognised in profit
or loss and the share-based compensation reserve. Where
shares are forfeited due to a failure by the employee to
satisfy the service conditions, any expense previously
recognised in relation to such shares is reversed effective at
the date of the forfeiture.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.
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4] SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.23Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in

the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as

part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount

of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

41.24Leases and right-of-use assets

The Group leases properties and land use rights in the
PRC as lessee. The consideration paid for lease are
treated as right-of-use assets, which are stated at cost less
accumulative amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Land use right is amortised over the lease

period of 50 years using straight-line method.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is

greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 41.9).

Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 6
months to 5 years, but may have extension options. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain

various terms and conditions.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE204F 12831 IEFE

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

HaEEEEAEEN ST
EHME®)

AUBERFERAREEZ)

41.24Leases and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and the
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the respective
leased assets is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest

on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include

the net present value of the following lease payment:

(i) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(i) variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

(i) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under

residual value guarantees;

(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the

lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHmRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

B E204F12831HIEFE

4]

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

41.24Leases and right-of-use assets (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

*  the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

* any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease incentives received

* any initial direct costs, and

O restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the lease
term on a straight-line basis. Right-of-use assets are subject

to impairment (Note 41.9).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of less than 12 months. Low-value assets

comprise small items of machinery.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease

term on the same basis as lease income.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

For the year ended 31 December

HZENAIBLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20024 2021 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 R000) RMB'000
AR®TF R ARETT ARETT ARETFTT ARETFTT
Results £

Loss before income tax b F SR A B (155,274) (1,068.861) (953284) (842095) (508228)

Income tax credit/(expense) FEHER/ (&
) (18) 8,04 (1,085) — (73)

Loss and total comprehensive ~ RAREZFE A
loss for the year attributable FEFAERR
to the equity holders of the 2EHEREE

Compan 155,292 1,060,820 954,369 842,095 508,301
Raly

As at 31 December

RI12A318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 2023%F 20226 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Assets and liabilities BERER
Total assets BEBE 515,126 869,232 2,055,136 2,067,989 1851475
Total liabilities =gt 221,046 411,120 559948 412831 343,541
Total equity BEnBE 294,080 458,112 1 495,188 1,655,158 1507934
Equity attributable to the equity A B # &
holders of the Company FAEAEGER 294,080 458,112 1,495,188 1,655,158 1507934

WAEREERA
3R 2024 =
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRNFAR

2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme”

[20204F & & #X Bh 51 31 8
“ACE2"

[ACE2] 8
“AGA”

[AGAI Sk [ A £ | 15
“ALK-I”

[ALK-1] 15
“ALK-5”

[ALK-5] 18
AR

[AR] 15
“AR+"

[AR+] 5

“Audit Committee”

(BB 18
“BID"
[BIDJ 15
“BIW"
[BIwW] 15

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[E=xg ¥

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme of our Company approved and adopted by
our Board on 3| March 2020
B F g R20209F3H31 A #E 8 I 5 AR K AR R B12020%F (8 B 3 B 5t E

angiotensin converting enzyme-2, a protein on the surface of many cell types, which
has been identified as the receptor for the SARS-CoV-2 viral entry
MERRZE(CE  FZARBURENERE - 2H# 5 RSARS-CoV-2
mEEANEIKES

androgenetic alopecia

HREMERE

activin receptor-like kinase-1, an antagonistic mediator of lateral transforming
growth factor-beta/ALK-5 signaling, also known as GT9000I|

EERZBEME - —BAMB(CERRAFAENA ALKSESE - INiE
A GT9000

the transforming growth factor-beta type | receptor kinase, an attractive target for
intervention in transforming growth factor beta signaling due to its druggability as
well as its centrality and specificity in the pathway
BERETFLIBEX AN - B H KB DR ROE B R0 0 1 S B
M RBLEERETFLSERTNTANAERS NHER

androgen receptor
MRS

androgen receptro positive

HEHRZEBEE

the audit committee of the Board

EFEEENZBE

twice a day
BRMKX

twice weekly
BREMX

the board of directors of the Company
RRREES



“c-Myc”
[c-Myc]

“CG Code”
[ %% AT A]

“China” or "PRC"
[ B

“CMO(9)”

[CMO]

“Company”

AN

“Core Products”

“COVID-19"
[COVID-19]

“CRO(s)"

[CROJ

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERRMAR

MYC proto-oncogene, bHLH transcription factor, a protein that codes for

transcription factors

MYCIREAERA  bHIHESA T @ —ERBESETFNELD

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules

EHRAIMECIFEE R E S TR

The People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this report only, excluding Hong

Kong, Macao and Taiwan

hEARAAE  ERABEME - FRESE RPNEEAE

a company that offers manufacturing services, with volume capabilities ranging from
small amounts for preclinical R&D to larger volumes necessary for clinical trials
purposes and commercialisation

RHEEERBHOLAR  HEERNHARERKAMFAZEN/NEEREERK
ARMARECAENAEEM

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited, formerly known as KTKM Holdings Inc., an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 May 2018
whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
9939

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited * Bl 8 KTKM Holdings Inc. * —ZK 1201845H 16H
ERERBEMKINERRERAR @ ERMONBAAER LW (M
5% 9939)

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter I8A of the Listing Rules; for purposes of
this report, our Core Products consist of KX-826 and AR-PROTAC Compound
(GT20029)

ERAETRAUEFTNAEMBTFHORE  RAREMS - RANZOER
B 3EKX-826 % AR-PROTACIL & ¥ (GT20029)

coronavirus disease 2019
78U AR % B A&

contract research organisation(s), a company hired by another company or research
centre to take over certain parts of running a clinical trial. The company may design,
manage, and monitor the trial, and analyse the results

ABNMAKE A RAAIMETLER  AREKRARNHX LR
DEAR]  Z AR A ARG BEMEZEARIDTER

PRMEERRAF



DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRIMAR

“Detorsertib” or “GT0486"

[ ¥ & & | 2k [GT0486]

“Director(s)”
-

“Dr. TONG”

Rl

“Group”

[R&E ]

“GT20029”

[GT20029]

“HCC”

[HCCl

“Hiy

[HhJ

“HKD" or "HK$"

a7

“Hong Kong” or “HK"

(& 8]

“IFRS”

[0 % B 7 3

B

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signaling pathway and a second generation mTOR
inhibitor under development by our Group primarily for the treatment of metastatic
solid tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and liver cancer
—TEPBK/MTORIESRA I HIE - BANKEFHETE —KmTORMFIHE -
TERARNEBEIRE RJIRBEERTESERHLERR

director(s) of the Company
ARRE=R

Dr. Youzhi TONG, one of the co-founders, as executive Director, chairman and

chief executive officer of the Company

BERzEL ARBBAABAZ HTEF  TRRITHER

the Company and its subsidiaries (or our Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the context may require)

AR REMBAR(RMONEME  BARAREEA-RAZKHNME
NCID)

a topical AR-PROTAC compound developed by the Group's in-house PROTAC
platform, with the potential to become a new generation of treatment for AGA and
acne vulgaris

—AREAAKEANIPROTACF & H % K SNFAAR-PROTACIL &Y - BB K
REERERNH —OREY

hepatocellular carcinoma, a common type of liver cancer

FrdipE n—REERmERL

one of the anticancer targets, when hedgehog is not turned off during adulthood, it

promotes the growth of cancer cells

PUB AR 72— W A F B Bl hedgehog R FE R » Bl R A AER

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
EREEEBET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
TEE R THR

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board
REFHERIR B8 08 M ey BB B 1 S R



“IGA”
NGal

“INCI”
[INCI

“IND”
[INDJ

“IPF”
[1PF]

“KT-939"

[KT-939]

“KX-826"

[KX-826]

“Listing”

[

“Listing Rules”

[Em AR A

“LLOQ"
[EETR]

“mCRPC"
[mCRPC]

“Model Code”

Sl

Bl

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERRMAR

Investigator’s Global Assessment

e B

International Nomenclature Cosmetic Ingredient

R Ap 2L AL R K D

investigational new drug
R

idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

R 1E s (b

a tyrosinase inhibitor under development by our Group, inhibiting the melanin
production with anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory effects
AEERETN - BERAKBIDHE  OHRERNER BGREA
L ML A

formerly known as “Pyrilutamide”, an AR antagonist under development by our
Group as a topical drug for the treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris
iR E] AEERETH—BARERA - ERAERBERRMER
ERERENINAEY

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
RN ATER £

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended or

supplemented from time to time

BRPESEMAA . ETREFT T

lower limit of quantification

TETR

metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer

BB HEESERNIER SR E

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
ERBIMEBRCITE LM ETAZEFETESFRSINRESTE

PRMEERRAF



DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRIMAR

“mTOR”

[MmTOR|

“NDA”

[NDA]

“Nivolumab”

[Nivolumab]

“NMPA”

=
8
i
i
=

[PD]

“PD-1" or “PCD-1"

[PD-1]8% [PCD-1]

“PD-LI"

[PD-LIJ

“Pfizer”

[Pfizer]

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

mammalian target of rapamycin, a critical effector in cell-signaling pathways
commonly deregulated in human cancers

HIBMERMELED —BREZNARERBBIEDL T EAE
FEIER BT R N R ME

new drug application

FBEER G

a human immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) monoclonal antibody, which targets the
negative immunoregulatory human cell surface receptor programmed death-1 (PD-
[, PCD-I) with immune checkpoint inhibitory and antineoplastic activities

ABERRIREAGH (gCHERENRE - MARRREHR MBI RINIER
EE - HEAEREASAEARRAXEREFMERT-I (PD-1 - PCD-1)

the National Medical Products Administration of the PRC (BIZX %2 fn B2 B E 12 /),
successor to the China Food and Drug Administration according to the Institutional
Reform Plan of the State Council

THEEREREBEERER REEBEEBERENERATEERR M
EmEEERARMNMEMEEN

Pharmacodynamics

programmed cell death protein |, a protein in humans is encoded by the

programmed cell death | (PDCDI) gene
BrFHARXTCES - EARBANBHEZEF AR TI(PDCDN)EERFBH
=

programmed cell death-ligand |, part of an immune checkpoint system that is
essential for preventing autoimmunity and cancer

BEMARECER  2XREHESN D BEHEFLRNE
EERER

Pfizer, Inc, a corporation organised and existing under the laws of the State of
Delaware, U.S., and a research-based global biopharmaceutical company

¥ 3 R B (Pizer, Inc) » —HKBBEEBEFRENERERLFENDF NI
MESEINEREYHERF]



“PI3K"

[PI3K]

P
[PKJ

“PROTAC”

[PROTAC]

QD"
[QD]

“R&D"
[t 3 |

“Reporting Period”
(¥R & 2

“Restricted Share(s)”

[ IR I B 17 ]

“RMB”

AR

“RSU”

[ PR il B 7 B iz |

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERRMAR

the acronym of Phosphoinositide 3-kinase, a family of enzymes involved in cellular
functions such as cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, motility, survival, and
intracellular trafficking, which in turn are involved in cancer
BEAE-AENES  2EARDENARER BE - ot B
FEMARANER —A SLARNEXERIESR

Pharmacokinetics

ERPHE

proteolysis targeting chimera, a small molecule composed of (i) a recruiting element
for a protein of interest; (ii) an E3 ubiquitin ligase recruiting element; and (iii) a linker
bounding (i) and (ii)

EHKBERABZREE  A—EB T HAKSEOEESNELE ()E3
e REEIAREE K (i) A ) K (i) By E & 88

once a day
B—

research and development

BiF 95 e B 3

the year ended 31 December 2024
BZE204F12 3B ILFE

share(s) granted to a participant under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme that
are subject to such vesting and transfer requirements as the Board shall determine,
and such other conditions as set forth in the rules of the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme

BRIB200FEEHBFAERT2EENRN  AXEECETNAER
JB o 2R IA 20204 B BB AT B AR RUFT EL eV B B E AR IR HF P AR IR

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEEBARE

a restricted share unit award granted to a participant under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme that is subject to such terms and conditions as set forth in the
rules of the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme, and each restricted share unit
represents one underlying Share

1% FR20204F 12 8 BUBh =+ & A% R A 88 16 30 K 16k £F 17120204 18 B i Bh &t 8118
T2EERENIRHRNECRER NEHIBHIRMELRER K
1 B8 A 17

PRMEERRAF



DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BEREMAR

“SAE”

[SAE] ¥
“SARS-CoV-2"

[SARS-CoV-2] B
“SFO"

[ % & B & 1% 1] 18
“Share(s)”

(AR 5] 18
“Shareholder(s)”

[ R ¥
“SMO”

[sMOJ B

“Stock Exchange”
5 <2 P | B

“Suzhou Kintor”

[ &% N 7 A | 15
“TAHC”
[TAHC] 15
“TEAE"
[TEAE] 15
“TGF-B"
[TGF-BJ 15

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

serious adverse events

BRETREMN

severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
BESUMTRASGEESEDTRES2 8

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEPESTIE(EF R B ERIDETRIERT B AEM T X
%)

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, currently of nominal value
US$0.0001 each
N2 R R A H B Al A E {E0.0001 35 7T BY & 58 AR

holder(s) of the Shares
[ESUESEEUN

smoothened, a Class Frizzled G protein-coupled receptor that is a component of

the hedgehog signaling pathway
—BFENBHBECERMBE X © fhedgehoglE R R T/ —EHK LD

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EAMERXBAARAE

Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (% /1 5 ¥ 22 3 IR (0 B R A 7)), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

BMNAREZBRNBERAR  —HAARANEZENBAT

target area hair counts

BERREAFREHE

treatment-emergent adverse events

AERMEERNTIREN

a regulatory cytokine that has multifunctional properties that can enhance or inhibit
many cellular functions, including interfering with the production of other cytokines
and enhancing collagen deposition

—REAEAZYRFENFHSARRE T  AEa 0 FEARDEE 2
RTEHEMGARRE FREL MERBRINLE



“TMPRSS2”
[TMPRSS2]

“Top-up Placing 2022"

R022F L E R E]

“TRAE"
[TRAE]

“U.S." or “US"” or "“United
States”

e

“USD” or “US$"
ESy

“U.S. FDA"
[ 2= B FDA]

“VEGF”

[VEGF]

uwevv’ uusuy “Kintor”’ or “our”’

EEARNEARGEE -
[ &

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

transmembrane serine protease 2

SIRG AR EAE 2

the top-up placing conducted by the Company pursuant to a placing and

subscription agreement dated 9 December 2022. Please refer to the

announcements of the Company dated || December 2022 and |6 December 2022

for further information

AARREBHE20NFRABENEERRERZETHLERTRES -
FRAE—FPER  BREARFTBEHA202FRAIHK202FRA16HA

N

treatment related adverse events

BB TIREM

the United States of America

ENERERE

U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.

EXBOEEE®BET

Food and Drug Administration of the U.S.

XERMEMEEEER

vasoactive endothelial growth factor, a potent angiogenic factor and was first

described as an essential growth factor for vascular endothelial cells

MEEEARERAY  —EEXNNELAKE T SUKELSOE

ARARHNELEREF

the Company and, unless the context indicates otherwise, its subsidiaries

ARA R (BRXERAMBEINEHB AR

PRMEERRAF



I EXBRLA

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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